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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk
profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market
more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of the companies listed on GEM and
the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Shi Shi
Services Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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GROUP STRUCTURE
P

As at 31 March 2023: 74202343 A 31 A -

0% ] 100%

Shi Shi Wealth Limited
HHHEARAT

Note:
Btat -

Name:

=L

Place of
Incorporations:

ERiyo v f

Nature of Services:

REHE :

Shi Shi Services Limited
Ry s AR 7S B PR A A

Kong Shum Property Management Group Limited
BABEMEEREEBRAR

Shi Shi Health Limited

AR A A

Shi Shi Living Limited

KK EEBERAR

Shi Shi Wealth Limited

EHEERAT

Kong Shum Union Property Management Company Limited
BRBAMEERARAF

Q & V Security Company Limited

BEEFERRAR

K-King Cleaning Services Limited

HYF2RB AR AR

Yorkshire Property Management Company Limited

DR EMEEERBERAR

Fortune Trend Investment Limited

THEKREBERRAR

Shi Shi Services Limited
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Cayman Islands

MERE

British Virgin Islands
RERELES

British Virgin Islands
EEELES

British Virgin Islands
ERELES

British Virgin Islands
EBREAAHS

Hong Kong
o

Hong Kong
S

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
e

Hong Kong
6

Investment holding

BB

Investment holding

BB

Investment holding
REZER

Investment holding

BEER

Investment holding
REER

Provision of property management services

REMEEERE

Provision of security services

RERZRE

Provision of cleaning services by subcontracting
B EIRME RRE

Provision of property management services

R EEERT

Property investment
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GROUP STRUCTURE
512075

Place of

Name: Incorporations: Nature of Services:

=L o B AL i B RAEMHE :
More Rise Investment Limited Hong Kong Property investment
AAKEBRATA HE MERE
Lucky Stone Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding
EBRAES "B
Kong Shum Union Property Management (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding
BRBEMEER (AEEBARHES)ERAF EBRAES "EER
Shi Shi Network Technology Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding
R ABA M BER AR ERELES wEER
Shi Shi Network Technology (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
By B4R 0l (BB) AR AR B REER
Lucky Stone Property Investment Limited Hong Kong Provision of property agency services
B REMERERSE
Lucky Stone Finance Limited Hong Kong Money lending business
o eSS
One Direction Property Management Company Limited Hong Kong Dormant
REYEEIRER AT B ez

MR AEMEERAT

Dakin Holding Inc.

Sky Asia Construction Engineering Limited
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ERBRREEREARAG

IERERDERBER QA

Shishi Health Management (Zibo) Co., Ltd.
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People’s Republic of China
REE AR A
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EERERES

Hong Kong
aBE

People’s Republic of China
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People’s Republic of China
REARER

People’s Republic of China
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People’s Republic of China
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Cayman Islands

MElS

Provision of property management and
consultancy services

REYEEIERERARS

Provision of financial services in Hong Kong
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Construction & engineering services
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consulting services
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Shi Shi
Services Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s principal
activities were provision of property management services,
properties investment and money lending business.

During the year under review, the Group continued its
development efforts to stay competitive in the property
management market. Under our property management portfolio,
we have been awarded 13 Hong Kong management contracts in
residential and non-residential projects mainly including Wah Ming
Estate with 10,680 units, Ching Fu Court with 2,875 units, Dip
Tsui Court with 830 units and The Capital with 712 units.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue of the Group
was approximately HK$547.4 million (2022: HK$525.0 million),
representing an increase of approximately 4.3% as compared
with last year. The gross profit of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 was approximately HK$94.5 million (2022:
HK$100.3 million), representing a decrease of approximately
5.8% as compared with last year. The gross profit margin
decreased by approximately 1.8% from approximately 19.1% for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately 17.3% for year
ended 31 March 2023.

The loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
HK$0.026 (2022: loss per share HK$0.025).

The Group would like to share more details of the Group’s
performance, financial position and operation in the year
2022/2023 with shareholders in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE

BURRE :

RABRERERRBEARAR (AR
Exg((Exg ) REAQFALENBA
Al (it [A&E]) &8 £202343 A31H
IEFERFER -

3 E)

BE2023F3A31HIEFE  AEEN T
EXEBREHMEEERE MERER
e

REBEE  ASBEBFERNERE &Y
E¥EEMBSPHERE D - REMANDE
FIRAET  BRMEERIBHDEBEER
IEEBEEMNERAGYN  ERETEREE
BAH (10,680 M@ %E1z) ~ =4 (2,875 1E
i) ~ #2725 (8301EEAL) KB &S (712
EIBEf) o

B E2023FE3A31BILFEE  AEBK
T4 B5.474E B T (20224 : 5.25018 7%
TT) o BEFE FFH4.3% B E 202343
A31BILFE  AEBEEF4LA94508
BT (20224 : 1.003BABTT)  BWEF [
pE4)5.8% o #m FIEAE ZE 2022 F 3 A 31
HIEFEL19.1% B #1.8% 2EZE 2023
F3A3BHIEFEML17.3% o

HZE2023F3A31BILFE 5REBA
0.026 87T (2022 4F : FIRETE 0.02587T) ©

AEBEREEEBmAoN] —& - &
I D = 8B % REE R 2022/2023 F E H)
RIB BB R EEFE -

Annual Report 2022/23
2022/23F &



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The number of property in Hong Kong market is expanding.
Public opinion voices concern over housing stock production
and the speeding up of the issue of housing completion in the
near future is expected to solve the issue of heavy demand on
housing. It is envisaged that the property management business
will expand simultaneously. Meanwhile, we will continue to
expand our management portfolio by capturing the continuing
outsourcing activities implemented by private residential owners,
corporations and government institutions. Since we started
property management business in 1984, giving our customers the
best service has always been our goal. Over the years, we have
grown into one of the largest property management companies in
Hong Kong. Leveraging on our experience and scale of business,
we will continue to seek for opportunities to expand the current
property management business through self-development
and/or investment(s) in suitable targets/assets, and/or through
co-operation by way of joint venture(s) with other parties. In order
to increase the profitability of this segment, we consider the cost
control is as important as expanding the management portfolio.
We are reviewing the operating performance of the property
management business and appropriate cost controls will be
implemented in the forthcoming financial year, if necessary.

The Group has recorded growth in its revenue since its listing on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange which mainly attributable to its
property management services in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) markets during the year under
review and recorded revenue of approximately HK$545.9 million
(2022: HK$519.8 million) from this segment.
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Looking into the future, Shishi Service adheres to the core
concept of “services, making life better”, and is committed to the
development of big consumption sector. By leveraging Shi Shi
Network Technology’s business capabilities in cloud computing
and artificial intelligence, we will give full play to and build Shi
Shi Property, Shi Shi Life and other digital foundation, to achieve
localization and three-dimensional digitization of whole life
services, so as to enable millions of households in hundreds of
cities to enjoy the convenience brought by one-stop living services.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my warmest
gratitude to the management and our staff for their significant
contributions. | would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders and investors for their endless support. With the solid
business base and the effort of all our staff, the Group will endeavor
to open a new chapter in the future.

Huang Liming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

OVERVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property
management services primarily targeting residential properties,
properties investment and money lending business. The Group
operates under the brand name of “Kong Shum” in Hong Kong
and provides a range of management services in Hong Kong and
the PRC including security, repair and maintenance, cleaning,
financial management, administrative and legal support. Under
an established functional structure with various departments,
the Group has dedicated teams to carry out the aforementioned
management services. The Group also employs a team of security
staff to provide security services as part of the services provided
under property management contracts or under stand-alone
security services contracts. For the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group provided property security services for 13 properties
under stand-alone security services contracts in Hong Kong.
The operating arm of the Group’s security services is mainly Q &
V Security Company Limited (“Q&V”). The Group hires its own
security staff to provide property security services. The Group
also employs registered technicians to provide basic repair and
maintenance services to its customers if required. In relation to the
cleaning services, the Group subcontracts substantially all of its
cleaning services to third-party contractors.

In relation to the provision of money lending business, the Group
recorded loan interest income of approximately HK$0.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$3.8 million).

The maturity date of the loan receivable of approximately HK$24
million was 20 April 2022, and was subsequently renewed to
approximately HK$21 million on 3 May 2022 at an interest rate of
10% per annum. The renewed loan will be matured on 20 April
2023.

The borrower has settled the principal and accrued interest of
approximately HK$21 million on 13 June 2022. The Group has no
loan receivable as at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022: HK$24.0
million). Principal terms of the loan receivable are as follows:

G
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HE2023F3A31HILFE  AEERSE
BIRIEB L RERIGE A 13 B EIRH
MERLTR - AEBRTIRBOLE D
AEEABEREHEERAR ([FE]) - K
CSEEFEASNRTETIREVERE
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TE)RBEAEERRERY - UBER
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Principal
Borrower Drawdown date amount Interest rate Terms Notes
BERA XA AEEE = HABR B &
A 21 April 2021 HK$24 million 10% per annum 1 year (i)
A 20214 B 21 H 2,400 &8 T BF10% 14 (i)
Note: Bt -

AL ERNFBRNARR B A2021F
2H25H8 202143 A12H 202143 H26
H 202148168 - 202245 A3H -~ 2022
F5A23AK2022E6 A9EBI A ©

(i) Details of the above are set out in the Company’s announcements dated (i)
25 February 2021, 12 March 2021, 26 March 2021, 16 April 2021,3 May
2022, 23 May 2022 and 9 June 2022.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the properties investment business, the Group recorded rental
income from an investment property of approximately HK$1.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$1.4 million).

BEEFNWR DM

REE2023F3 A31 HILFE @ s %R
BEXBms  AREREREKRENEN
e WAL 14088 T (2022 F : 140878

JC) °©
FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% [B]
Summary Financial Performance MBRRBE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 Change
FExT FAT EH)
Revenue Y &5 547,375 524,951 4.3%
Cost of services PR 75 A A< (452,864) (424,665) 6.6%
Gross profit EAH 94,511 100,286 -5.8%
Gross profit margin ERZE 17.3% 19.1% n/a TEA
Interest revenue A B = 1,429 458 212.0%
Other income and expenses, net  EfbUg A K 52 H %8 10,858 3,280 231.0%
Share of loss of associates JE(LEE & R RSB (5,094) (8,133) -37.4%
Administrative expenses 1T 52 (79,243) (70,377) 12.6%
Other operating expenses HmgEmz (41,201) (32,437) 27.0%
Impairment of investment in REtE QAR 2 IRERIE
associates (1,721) (4,428) -61.1%
Impairment of property, plantand #1% - W= & & ERE
equipment (814) (7,049) -88.5%
Impairment of goodwill EERE - (2,132) n/a TiEH
Impairment of trade receivables ‘& 5 & Uk s IE R (E (4,747) (2,197) 116.1%
Listing expenses EmHX - (941) n/a TiEA
Finance costs B & K AN (595) (664) -10.4%
Loss before tax BRI AT E B (26,617) (24,334) 9.4%
Income tax expense Frig i X (2,147) (1,615) 32.9%
Loss attributable to owners AKAREBAELEE
of the Company (28,764) (25,949) 10.8%
Net loss margin HE B R -5.3% -49%  n/a Ti@EMA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

REVENUE

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s revenue was
derived from its operations in Hong Kong and the PRC of
approximately HK$514.7 million (2022: HK$487.6 million) and
HK$32.7 million (2022: HK$37.4 million), respectively.

The Group derived revenue of approximately HK$31.0 million
and HK$37.6 million respectively from stand-alone security
services contracts for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2023
respectively, representing approximately 5.9% and 6.9% of its
total revenue.

The following table sets out the Group’s revenue by contract type
for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 respectively:

W =

HZE202343A31BIL5E  AEEKH
HEBBRFPBENEKSKREDFINE
5.14718 % 7T (20224 : 48768 T) &
3,270 &8 7T (20224 : 3,740 & T) °

HZE2022F K 20233 A31 HIFFE &
EEREBLIREZREE LR BILY
A3,1008 8T M3, 7608 BT HRlEE
U EE4I5.9% K 6.9% o

TREGHEBEREIAEESHINEBE
2023 % 20223 A31 B ILFE 2 H5 -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$ million  Percentage HK$ million  Percentage

BEBT FEEIH

BEET FMIGEDL

Property management services

contracts 508.3 92.7% 488.8 93.1%

Stand-alone security services BIREZREEH
contracts 37.6 6.9% 31.0 5.9%
Rental services contracts MERKAELH 1.4 0.3% 14 0.3%
Money lending services HUE R 0.1 0.1% 38 0.7%
5474 100.0% 5250  100.0%

The Group’s revenue improved by approximately 4.3% from
approximately HK$525.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2022 to approximately HK$547.4 million for the year ended
31 March 2023. The increase was primarily attributable to the
growth of its property management service in Hong Kong for
the year ended 31 March 2023. During the year, the number of
management service contracts obtained by Hong Kong decreased
by 3 from 448 during the year ended 31 March 2022 to 445
for the year ended 31 March 2023. Revenue generated from
property management services contracts recorded an increase of
approximately 4.0% to approximately HK$508.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVENUE (continued)

The following graph sets out the revenue for the years ended 31
March 2021, 2022 and 2023.

Revenue ez
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COST OF SERVICES

The total cost of services amounted to approximately HK$424.7
million and HK$452.9 million for the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2023 respectively, representing approximately 80.9% and
82.7% respectively of the Group’s revenue. Increase in cost of
services during the year of approximately 6.6% was mainly due to
the increase in the wages of the front line staff of the Group.

GROSS PROFIT

The gross profit of the Group slightly decreased by approximately
5.8% from approximately HK$100.3 million for the year ended
31 March 2022 to approximately HK$94.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The gross profit margin was approximately
19.1% and 17.3% for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2023
respectively.

The following graph sets out the gross profit for the years ended 31
March 2021, 2022 and 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was increased
by approximately 10.8% from loss of approximately HK$25.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to loss of approximately
HK$28.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The net loss
margin are approximately -4.9% and -5.3% for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2023 respectively.

The Group recorded net loss during the year ended 31 March
2023 mainly due to:

(i) Increase in administrative expenses of approximately HK$8.9
million as a result of increase in staff cost and premises
expenses; and

(i) Increase in other operating expenses of approximately
HK$8.8 million due to increase in (a) share-based payment
expenses; and (b) travelling and entertainment expenses;
and partly offset by

(iii) Increase in other income arising from the net government
subsidies of approximately HK$5.6 million regarding the
Employment Support Scheme under the Government’s Anti-
epidemic Fund (2022: Nil);

(iv) Increase in other income arising from gain on bargain
purchase of approximately HK$4.8 million (2022: Nil); and

(v) Decrease in impairment loss of approximately HK$8.5
million.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2023 were approximately HK$79.2 million (2022: HK$70.4
million), representing an increase of approximately 12.5% as
compared to the corresponding year in 2022 as a result of increase
in staff salaries and bonus incurred for the year ended 31 March
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The Group’s other operating expenses for the year ended 31
March 2023 were approximately HK$41.2 million (2022: HK$32.4
million), representing an increase of approximately 27.2% as
compared to the corresponding year in 2022 as a result of increase
in travelling and entertainment expenses and share-based
payment expenses during the year.

The following table sets out other operating expenses by nature for
the years indicated.

BEEFNWR DM

Hit &R

HZE2023F3A31BILFE  AEEHH
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For the years ended 31 March
BEZ3A31HLEE

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Auditors’ remuneration 2 SRR B & 1,300 750
Consultancy fee B 813 886
Depreciation and amortisation & N 5 7,221 10,675
Exchange difference PE N ZER 169 (89)
Insurance fee Rz & 4,462 4,994
Legal and professional fee FREREEE 4,097 2,945
Office expenses NN 3,704 3,642
Share based payment expenses AR BER 2 R X 8,976 2,519
Registration, licence and subscription fee i BRBLREE 186 170
Travelling and entertainment expenses EZREBERAX 10,273 5,945
41,201 32,437
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

MBERRESREE

For the year ended/
as at 31 March
BE3ANALEE S

M3A31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial position B # AR R
Current assets MENEE 201,053 236,109
Current liabilities mEaE 78,085 91,808
Net current assets MEEEFE 122,968 144,301
Total assets BEBE 365,994 397,785
Bank and other loan and lease liabilities RITEEMERALBESE 18,156 19,111
Bank balances and cash RITEHEBRNIRE 79,139 67,696
Total equity 4B 278,306 298,389
Key ratios FERER
Return on equity (1) REAS B3R & (1) -10.0% -8.4%
Return on assets (2) BERFREK(2) -8.0% -6.3%
Current ratio (3) MENEL 2 (3) 2.57 timesf&  2.57 times &
Gearing ratio (4) BEEAGBELRERAG) 6.5% 6.4%
Net Debt to equity ratio (5) BEFEYEREE(B) 0% 0%
Debtors turnover day (6) JE YRR SR E 2 H 2(6) 63.5daysH  65.5days A
Creditors turnover day (7) FERTBR A HE(7) 33.2daysH  34.8days H

Notes:

(1)

(2)

Return on equity is calculated as the loss for the year divided by average total
equity.

Return on assets is calculated as the loss for the year divided by average total
assets.

(3)  Current ratio is calculated as the current assets divided by current liabilities.

(4)  Gearing ratio is calculated as the total debt divided by total equity. For
the avoidance of doubt, total debt represents bank borrowings, and lease
liabilities.

(5)  Net debt to equity ratio is calculated as the total debt net of cash and bank
balances and divided by total equity. For the avoidance of doubt, total debt
represents bank and other loan, and lease liabilities.

(6)  Debtors’ turnover day is calculated as average trade receivables divided by

(7)

revenue times number of days in the period.

Creditors’ turnover day is calculated as average trade payables divided by
cost of services times number of days in the period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

The Group maintained sufficient working capital as at 31 March
2023 with bank balances and cash of approximately HK$79.1
million (2022: HK$67.7 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank and other
loan, obligations under finance lease and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$18.2 million (2022: HK$19.1 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s net current assets amounted to
approximately HK$123.0 million (2022: HK$144.3 million). The
Group’s operations are financed principally by revenue generated
from its business operations, available cash and bank balances.

RETURN ON EQUITY

The return on equity decreased from approximately -8.4% for the
year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately -10.0% for the year
ended 31 March 2023, mainly due to the increase in expenses for
the year.

RETURN ON ASSETS

The return on assets decreased from approximately -6.3% for the
year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately -8.0% for the year
ended 31 March 2023, mainly due to the increase in expenses for
the year.

CURRENT RATIO

The Group’s current ratio is approximately 2.57 times as at 31
March 2022 and 2023.

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio, defined as the total debt (i.e. bank and
other loan and lease liabilities) divided by total equity, as at 31
March 2023 is approximately 6.5% (2022: 6.4%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

DEBTORS’ TURNOVER DAY

The debtors’ turnover day decreased from approximately 65.5
days for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately 63.5
days for the year ended 31 March 2023 due to decreased
collecting time on trade debtors.

CREDITORS’ TURNOVER DAY

The creditors’ turnover day decreased by 1.6 days from
approximately 34.8 days for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
approximately 33.2 days for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
decrease was due to the early settlement of some creditors.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and payment of
dividends shall be determined by the Board and subject to all
the applicable requirements under, including but not limited to,
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the articles of
association of the Company.

The Company do not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining an appropriate basis for dividend distribution, the
Board will take into account, inter alia, results of operations,
financial condition, the payment by the Group’s subsidiaries of
cash dividends to the Company, future prospects, legal and tax
considerations and other factors the Board deems appropriate.
Our Directors will consider that if there is material adverse impact
on our Group’s financial and liquidity position arising out of the
dividend payments. Dividends may be paid out by way of cash or
by other means that our Group considers appropriate.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy from
time to time. There is no guarantee that any particular amount of
dividends will be distributed for any specific periods.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW
Outlook

The property market in Hong Kong is expanding. Public opinion
voices concern over the housing stock production and the
speeding up of the completion of construction of properties in the
near future is expected to solve the heavy demand on housing.
It is envisaged that the property management business will
expand simultaneously. On the other hand, even though strong
competition and soaring cost resulting from statutory minimum
wage revision and inflation are unavoidable, the Directors are
confident that the Group is now on an appropriate stage to increase
its market share.

During the year, the Group has recorded revenue of approximately
HK$547.4 million (2022: HK$525.0 million) from its property
management services in Hong Kong and the PRC. Looking
forward, the provision of property management services in Hong
Kong and the PRC will continue to be the core business of the
Group while the management will continue to explore other
investment opportunities in order to increase the Group’s income
source and will therefore be in the interest of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 1,692 employees
(2022: 1,801 employees). The Group’s staff costs for the year
ended 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately HK$475.6
million (2022: HK$432.4 million). To ensure that the Group is able
to attract and retain staff capable of attaining the best performance
levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular basis. In
addition, discretionary bonus is offered to eligible employees by
reference to the Group’s results and individual performance.

Services Contracts

Due to well-established team and project planning, 13 property
management contracts were awarded to the Group in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, there were in total 445 service
contracts (covering around 84,370 households) comprising 419
property management service contracts, 13 stand-alone security
service contracts and 13 facility management service contracts in
Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Contract Renewal Complying with Procedural Requirements

A service contract which does not comply with the procedural
requirements for contract renewal as stipulated in section 20A of
the Building Management Ordinance (Chapter 344 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) may be cancelled by the owners’ corporation.
Included in 445 contracts in force as at 31 March 2023, 196
service contracts are not in strict compliance with the said contract
renewal requirements, hence, termination notices were served
on clients involving in these contracts. All of the remaining 249
valid contracts as at 31 March 2023 are in compliance with the
said procedural requirements or not applicable under the Building
Management Ordinance. Senior management adopts a tight
control system to monitor the full compliance of the procedural
requirements. All newly signed contracts during the year ended 31
March 2023 included the mandatory term requiring the client to
follow the said procedural requirements, if applicable.

Client Accounts

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held 68 (31 March 2022: 63)
client accounts amounting to approximately HK$59.1 million
(31 March 2022: HK$50.8 million) on trust for and on behalf of
customers. These client accounts are opened in the names of the
Group and the relevant properties. The management fees received
from the tenants or owners of the properties were deposited into
these client accounts and the expenditure of these customers was
paid from these client accounts.

Performance Bond

As at 31 March 2023, a bank and an insurance company
issued 13 (31 March 2022: 11) bond certificates amounting to
approximately HK$27.4 million (31 March 2022: HK$16.4 million)
on behalf of the Group to the clients as required in the service
contracts.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting
to approximately HK$16.71 million (approximately HK$10.87
million for direct additions and approximately HK$5.84 million
for construction in progress) for the year ended 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$65.5 million).

Capital Commitments
Details of capital commitments of the Group are set out in note 40

to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Contingent Liabilities

Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
the Group’s deposits placed for life insurance policies are
denominated in United States dollar (“US$”).

The Group considers the risk exposure to foreign currency
fluctuation is limited as long as the HK$ remains pegged to the
USS$.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint Ventures and
Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Asset

Acaquisition of an associate

On 15 March 2022, Lucky Stone Investments Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent
third party for acquisition of 33% issued share capital of
Sky Asia Construction Engineering Limited (“Sky Asia”) at a
total consideration of HK$4.5 million, payable by cash (the
“Acquisition”).

The conditions precedent set out in the Agreement have been
fulfilled and completion (“Completion”) took place on 28 April
2022 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Agreement.

Upon Completion, the Company holds 33% issued share capital
of Sky Asia and it has become an associate of the Company and
classified as investment in an associate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint Ventures and
Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Asset
(continued)

Disclosable and Connected Transaction in relation to the
provision of the loan

On 25 February 2021 and 12 March 2021, Lucky Stone Finance
Limited (“Lucky Stone”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the loan agreement and the supplemental
agreement, respectively with Mr. Ho Ying Choi (“Mr. Ho"),
pursuant to which Lucky Stone has conditionally agreed to provide
the loan in the principal amount of not more than HK$24 million
to Mr. Ho, as borrower, for a period of one year commencing from
the date of drawdown of the loan at an interest rate of 10% per
annum.

Lucky Stone is principally engaged in money lending business as
licensed under the MLO. Therefore, the provision of the Loan is
part of the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group.

As at 12 March 2021, Mr. Ho is an executive Director and
therefore is a connected person of the Company as defined under
the Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the entering into
of the loan agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company.

The Loan was approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 16 April 2021 and the HK$24 million loan has
been drawn by Mr. Ho on 21 April 2021.

Details of this transaction are disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 25 February 2021, 12 March 2021, 26
March 2021 and 16 April 2021.

On 3 May 2022, Lucky Stone has conditionally agreed to provide
the loan in the principal amount of not more than HK$21 million to
Mr. Ho for a period of one year commencing from the drawdown
date of the loan at the interest rate of 10% per annum.

The loan was approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 9 June 2022 and the HK$21 million loan has
been drawn by Mr. Ho.

Mr. Ho has settled the principal and accrued interest of
approximately HK$21 million on 13 June 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint Ventures and
Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Asset
(continued)

Disclosable and Connected Transaction in relation to an
Provision of the loan (continued)

Details of this transaction are disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 3 May 2022, 23 May 2022 and 9 June
2022.

Impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be implemented across the
world. It has brought about additional uncertainties in the Group’s
operating environment and may impact the Group’s operations
and financial position. The Group has been closely monitoring
the impact from COVID-19 on the Group’s businesses and has
commenced to put in place various measures. Based on the
information currently available, the directors confirm that there has
been no material adverse change in the financial and operating
position of the Group up to the date of this report.

The Group will pay close attention to the development of the
COVID-19 outbreak and perform further assessment of its impact
and take relevant measures.

Charges over Assets of the Group

As at 31 March 2023, the deposits placed for life insurance
policies of approximately HK$9.3 million (2022: deposits placed
for life insurance policies of HK$9.2 million and certain bank
deposits of approximately HK$0.6 million) were pledged to a bank
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. In addition, the
Group’s investment properties with carrying value of approximately
HK$40,400,000 were pledged to secured bank facilities granted to
the Group. Besides, the Group had certain motor vehicles acquired
under lease. Carrying values of the right-of-use assets (motor
vehicles)amounted to approximately HK$1.0 million and HK$1.0
million were under lease liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2022 respectively.

The deposits placed for life insurance policies are denominated
in United States dollars, a currency other than the functional
currency of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Use of Proceeds from the Listing

The actual net proceeds from the issue of new shares of the
Company under the Placing as set out in the Prospectus were
approximately HK$17.5 million, which was different from the
estimated net proceeds of approximately HK$24.4 million
(estimated on the assumption that the placing price would be the
mid-point of the stated range as stated in the Prospectus). For the
period from 20 September 2013 until 31 March 2023, the Group
has applied the net proceeds as follows:

RE o ()
EHZAEREARR

BEBREEZMBEERNRRZFITHRG
MNERAEHIEFELNALTOEET A
BIRAMEETFT S FIB FRE4 2,440 BB T (1%
BREMEEBABRERZMIEZEZHEN
A8 Er) c M2013FE9A20HEER
2023F 3 A31 B ILEAE  AEBEZTOT
FAERATSRIAFEE

Net proceeds (HK$ million)
FEREFHR(BEET)

Available Utilised Unutilised

Al A 2E8A = R B B

Repayment of bank loans EEIRITER 7.5 7.5 -
Implementation of old district ERERYEEETE

property management scheme 43 - 4.3

Expansion of the property MEMEEEES
management portfolio 5.7 5.7 -
17.5 13.2 4.3

The unutilised balance of the net proceeds will be applied in the
manner consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus.

The Group expect the remaining proceed of HK$4.3 million will be
fully utilised by the year ending 31 March 2026.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Fund raising activity
The company has no fund raising activities during the year ended

31 March 2023 and fund raising activities in the prior years were
fully utilised of intended as detailed below:
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HZE2023F3 A31BILFE » AR A&
ETEMEETHENBEFE2EEE
FMEECESCHRBREREREHH
ES U (NS

Date of initial Actual use of proceeds as
announcement Fund raising activities Net proceeds Intended use of proceeds at the date of this report
DB 3=k SEEH FERERE FIsnERERZ RABRERBFETEERAR
31 October 2018 Placing of 171,000,000 new  Approximately HK$40.4 Intended to be used (i) Approximately HK$40.4 million has
(completed on 20 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 million (net proceeds raised ~ approximately HK$32.3 been utilised as intended of which
November 2018) each under general per Share was approximately — million for expansion approximately HK$32.3 million
2018%10A31H mandate at the placing price ~ HK$0.236 per Share) of the Group’s property was utilised for expansion of the
(BR2018%F 11 of HK$0.24 per Share tonot #74,0408 BT (EXKBMAR  management business in Group’s property management
A20B5%K) less than six places whoare — FREVFTETIEFEAAE  the PRCand provision of business in the PRC and provision
independent professional, ik 170.2367% L) living value-added services  of living value-added services in
institutional or other in community; and (ii) community; and approximately
investors (closing price of approximately HK$8.1 HK$8.1 million was utilised for
the Share as quoted on the million for the general working capital of the Group.

Stock Exchange on the date
of the placing agreement is
HK$0.28)
BE-REERTIRR
EBEUER KBIE
ik EE AEARE
171,000,000 R SR EE
001BTMAERR K&
EATRRH0.24%T (R
RECERE B RERR
FEERTER0.8%TT)

working capital of the Group  #14,040 BB TE KiEREER -

REMETAFRND3230  HBH3B0BATRERRAS

ERALARARARER  ERREZNFERRBIEM
PEZMFERERRRE  HRETEERY: RO810E
HHEREERRERE R ETREARECEERS
(i) HIBI0BETLIFAAE

Be-HReEEe

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS
BUSINESS

The Group faces intense competition which may adversely affect
its market share and profitability. The property management
industry in Hong Kong is competitive and the competition may
exert some pressure on the service fees of property management
companies. The Group may therefore be required to reduce its
fees or maintain low service fees in view of the market pressure so
as to retain customers or pursue new business opportunities. The
Group’s revenue stream and profitability may also be adversely
affected if the customers terminate the service contracts with
the Group, whether by serving written notice or for the reason of
breach or material breach of the terms or conditions thereunder,
prior to the expiry date.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Liming (“Mr. Huang”) is an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board.

Mr. Huang, aged 47, is an entrepreneur with over 20 years of
experience in property development and property management
business in the PRC. He is currently the chairman of Heng Sheng
Real Estate Co., Ltd, a company that is principally engaged in
property development and residential property management
business in the PRC.

Mr. Huang, the ultimate beneficial owner of Heng Sheng Capital
Limited (“Heng Sheng”), which is the controlling shareholder of
the Company. Mr. Huang, through Heng Sheng, is interested in
626,071,950 share of the Company (the “Shares”) (representing
approximately 55.45% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the date of this report).

Mr. Ho Ying Choi (“Mr. Ho"), aged 63, is an executive Director. He
is responsible for business operation, finance management and
sales and marketing. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor’'s degree of science from the Memorial
University of Newfoundland, Canada.

Mr. Ho is the brother of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, member of the
Group’s senior management. Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, a member
of the Group’s senior management, is the spouse of Mr. Ho's
cousin. Save as disclosed, Mr. Ho is not connected with any
other Directors, member of the senior management, Substantial
Shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix (“Mr. Lee”) has been appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 20 December 2016.

Mr. Lee, aged 38, holds a Bachelor’s degree in business
administration from Washington State University in the United
States of America. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the real
estate investments, acquisition, valuation and assets management.
Prior to his appointment as an executive Director, Mr. Lee had
been a business consultant of the Company since 1 May 2016.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lin Dongming (“Mr. Lin”) has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director, a member of each of the
audit committee and the remuneration committee of the Company
and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
with effect from 1 June 2021.

Mr. Lin, aged 51, has extensive experience in corporate
management and has been working in the PRC government
departments and sizable state-owned enterprise for 20 years
before joining us as an Independent Non-executive director. From
2004 to 2018, Mr. Lin served as the managing director of Sinotruk
(Hong Kong) International Investment Limited, responsible for
its international business and investment and corporate finance
activities. Mr. Lin obtained an executive master degree in business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business.

Mr. Lin currently also serves as the chairman of the Jinan
Association of Hong Kong; the vice chairman of the supervisory
board of the Shandong CPPCC Members Association in Hong
Kong; the honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Shandong
Chamber of Commerce and the natives general associations of
Qingdao, Weihai, Yantai and Linyi; the vice president of overseas
friendship associations of Jinan and Yantai; and the honorary
president of Jinan Chamber of Commerce in Guangdong Province
etc.

Mr. Lin was an executive director and a non-executive director
of Finet Group Limited (stock code: 8317) for the period from
August 2020 to October 2021 and October 2021 to October 2022,
respectively, the securities of this company are listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (“Mr. Lam”) has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director, chairman of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company, and
a member of the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Lam, aged 53, is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lam obtained a bachelor
degree in accounting from the Xiamen University in July 1990
and a master degree in business administration from the Oxford
Brookes University in the United Kingdom in July 2010. Mr. Lam
is a licensed person for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.

Mr. Lam is currently an executive director and chief executive
officer of Hang Pin Living Technology Company Limited (“Hang
Pin”) (stock code: 1682), an independent non-executive director
of A Metaverse Company (formerly known as Starrise Media
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1616) and Kin Shing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1630). The securities of these companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive director of Hang Pin
from August 2014 to May 2017. Mr. Lam was an independent
non-executive director of Holly Futures Co., Ltd (stock code: 3678)
from June 2015 to December 2021. Mr. Lam was a director of
Sunway International Holdings Limited (“Sunway”) (stock code:
58) from May 2015 to June 2019 and an executive director
of Sunway from August 2021 to January 2022. The securities
of these companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lam was also an independent non-executive
director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8018) from June 2015 to June 2020 whose securities are
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard (“Mr. Lo”) has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director, a member of each of
the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Lo, aged 55, has over 30 years of experience in the investment
and real estate industry. He is currently the chief executive
officer of Fulldiamond Limited, an investment and consulting
company specializing in real estate, finance, securities, project and
fundraising.

Mr. Lo is the vice president and chairman of commercial liaison of
The Hong Kong Real Property Federation. He is also a committee
member of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference —
Jiangxi.

Mr. Lo obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from the
University of California, Los Angeles in the United States, Master
of Business Administration (Investment and Finance) degree from
Hull University in the United Kingdom and an executive program
certificate from Stanford University in the United States.

Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive director of
Chinney Investments, Limited (stock code: 216) whose securities
are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, aged 70, one of the founders of the Group.
He was appointed as a director of Kong Shum Union Property
Management Company Limited (The “KSU”) since August 1984.
He had been appointed as an Executive Director from 15 August
2012 to February 2015 and was responsible for the Group’s overall
business development.

Mr. Ho Ying Cheung is the brother of Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an
Executive Director. Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, a member of the Group’s
senior management, is the spouse of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung’s
cousin. Save as disclosed, Mr. Ho Ying Cheung is not connected
with any other Directors or member of senior management,
Substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholders of the
Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Lau Ping Kwai (“Mr. Lau”), aged 72, is a director of KSU
and also a director of Yorkshire Property Management Company
Limited (“YSL”). He has been working in KSU for more than
26 years. He joined KSU as a property management officer in
September 1996 and was promoted to an associate director of
KSU in April 2008. He was further appointed as a director of KSU
and YSL in August 2022. He is responsible for supervising property
managers and advising on the improvement of the Group’s overall
standard. He is also responsible for marketing in the private sector.

Mr. Lau obtained a Certificate in Housing Practice at the School of
Professional and Continuing Education of The University of Hong
Kong (“HKUSPACE”) in August 2000 and was awarded a Diploma
in Housing Management by the same institute in September 2002.
He was elected a corporate member of the Chartered Institute
of Housing (“CIH") in October 2002 and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Housing in November 2002. In April 2003, he
registered as a Professional Housing Manager at the Housing
Managers Registration Board.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of the cousin of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung,
a director of KSU, and Mr. Ho, an executive Director. Save as
disclosed, Mr. Lau is not connected with any other Directors,
member of the senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Fong Shek Hung (“Mr. Fong”), aged 64, is an associate director
of KSU (note). He is mainly responsible for supervision of property
management, customer relations and administration.

Mr. Fong worked for the Hong Kong Government from 1978 to
2001. He joined the Housing Department in October 1987 and
was promoted to the position of housing officer in October 1989.
He resigned in August 2001 and subsequently served as property
manager in Synergis Management Services Limited. He was the
district general manager before he left the company in February
2011 and joined KSU in May 2011 as senior property manager. He
was promoted to the position of associate director of KSU (note) in
February 2012.

Mr. Fong has awarded a Diploma in Housing Management by
HKUSPACE in September 1997. He was elected as a corporate
member of the CIH in June 1999 and a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Housing in June 2001. In May 2001, he registered
as a Professional Housing Manager at the Housing Managers
Registration Board.

Note: The position “associate director” is a corporate title only and not a “director”
within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.
An associate director named herein is principally responsible for (i) the
supervision of property management of the Group or its staff; (i) supervision
of the Group’s administration or overall standard; and (iii) the Group’s
customer relations.

Mr. Lai Chun Ho (“Mr. Lai”), aged 51, is senior property manager
of KSU. He has already worked in KSU more than 15 years. He is
mainly assigned to supervise the general operation of the buildings
in New Territories.

From December 1990 to February 1995, Mr. Lai worked in JLW
Management Limited. For the period from June 1997 to May
2006, he worked in Urban Property Management Limited. He
joined KSU as assistant property manager in August 2006.

He was awarded a Certification in Estate Management of Hong
Kong Management Association in 1992, and was awarded a
Diploma in Property Management of City University of Hong Kong
in 2002.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Chan Ka Kit Kanly (“Mr. Chan”), aged 45, is a senior accounting
manager of KSU. He has been working in KSU for about 17
years and was promoted to the current position in April 2018. He
is responsible for management of accounting department and
financial management of the clients.

Mr. Chan was appointed as the head of accounting department
of the New Impact Printing Company Limited in 2002. He was
responsible for financial management of mainland and Hong
Kong. Since August 2004, he joined KSU and was responsibilities
for financial management of comparative estates. He hereafter
promoted to the position of senior accounting manager.

Mr. Fu Wai Yick (“Mr. Fu”), aged 66, is senior property manager
of KSU. He has already worked in KSU more than 9 years. He is
mainly assigned to supervise the site in charge of Public Housing
and private sector such as Healthy Garden, Yue Tin Court and Tak
Bo Garden for daily property management and assist the business
development for Government projects.

Mr. Fu worked for the Hong Kong Government from 1980-2001
and he was assistant housing manager before he left the Housing
Department in Feb 2001. For the period from March 2001 to
March 2003, he worked in Eastpoint Property Management
Company as property manager and subsequently served as
property manager in Synergis Management Services Limited from
April 2003 to September 2010.

Mr. Fu joined KSU as area property manager in May 2013 and
further promoted to senior property manager in March 2018.

Mr. Fu obtained a bachelor of science degree in statistics from
the University of Calgary in September 1978 and he has awarded
a Certificate in Housing Management by University of Hong Kong
in August 1987. He was elected as a member of the Institute of
Housing in April 1989.

Ms. So Ka Man (“Ms. So”), aged 39, joined the Group as the
finance manager in 2021 and is responsible for accounting and
financial management. She holds a bachelor degree of accounting
from Curtin University, Australia. She has more than 10 years’
experience in finance and accounting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present this corporate governance report for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Group are committed to
upholding high standards of corporate governance. The Board
considers that enhanced public accountability and corporate
governance are beneficial for the healthy growth of the Group,
improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding the
interests of shareholders of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
The principles adopted by the Company emphasise a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to
all shareholders of the Company. The Company engaged a third-
party professional firm to conduct an internal control review for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has
complied with all CG Code except for the following deviation:

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

The Company did not officially have a chief executive officer
since 8 September 2015. Daily operation and management of the
Company is monitored by the executive Directors as well as the
senior management. The Board is of the view that although there
is no chief executive officer of the Company, the balance of power
and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board, which
comprises experienced individuals who meet from time to time
to discuss issues affecting the operations of the Company. The
Board believes that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure
an effective management and control of the Company’s business
operations. The Board will continue to review the effectiveness
of the Company’s structure as business continues to grow and
develop in order to assess whether any changes, including the
appointment of a chief executive officer, if necessary.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code requires that the chairman of
the Board shall at least annually hold meetings with non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) without
the executive Directors present.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

As Mr. Huang Liming serves as the Chairman and executive
Director concurrently, the code provision does not apply and the
Company deviates from such code provision. In addition, the
Chairman of the Board is of the view that, the independent non-
executive Directors can express their opinions to all executive
Directors more directly and effectively at the Board meetings,
hence the Board is of the view that the deviation from the code
provision does not have material impact on the operation of the
Board.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions in securities of
the Company. The Company also had made specific enquiry of all
Directors and the Company was not aware of any non-compliance
with the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors during the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 11
October 2013. The policy sets out the approach to achieve
diversity in the Board that should have a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with
policies. The composition and diversity policies of the Board are
reviewed annually and regularly. The Board should ensure that its
changes in composition will not result in any undue interference.
The Board members should possess appropriate professionalism,
experience and trustworthiness in performing duties and
functions. The Board would diversify its members according
to the Company’s situations and needs. While participating in
nomination and recommendation of director candidates during the
year, each member of the Board may consider a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience in achieving
diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various business
development and management. The Board is to review the policy
concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose the policy
or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance report,
including any quantitative targets and standards and its progress
with policy implementation.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board had reviewed
the diversity of the Board and considered the Board composition
and diversity policy appropriate.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Group to the management. The delegated
functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure they
remain appropriate to the needs of the Group. The Board gives
clear directions to the management as to the matters that must
be approved by the Board before discussions are made on behalf
of the Group by the management. All the Directors carry out their
duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition

The Board currently comprises 6 Directors, including 3 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Liming (Chairman)
Mr. Ho Ying Choi
Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Dongming
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung
Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of all Directors
are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report. All Directors have
given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.
Each executive Director has sufficient experience, knowledge and
execution ability to hold the position so as to carry out his duties
effectively and efficiently.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board has assumed the responsibility to consider the
appointment, re-election and removal of the directors of the
Company. The Board has set up a Nomination Committee to
recommend the appointment, re-election and removal of the
Directors.

All executive Directors, namely, Mr. Huang Liming, Mr. Ho Ying
Choi and Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix, have respectively entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of 1 to 3 years
unless terminated by not less than 1 to 3 months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other. Executive Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting (“AGM”) in accordance with articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
(continued)

All the independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam
Kai Yeung, Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard and Mr. Lin Dongming, have
respectively entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of 1 to 3 years unless terminated by not less than 1 to 2
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. The
independent non-executive Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the
Articles.

At each following AGM, one-third of the Directors are required to
retire from office. Each Director shall retire from office once every 3
years. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those appointed
by the Board during the year and those who have been longest
in office since their last election or re-election. New Directors
appointed by the Board during the year shall retire and may submit
themselves for re-election at the AGM immediately following their
appointments.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation in writing of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors were independent
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chairman, the executive Directors
and senior management (the “Management”). The delegated
functions and assignments are periodically reviewed. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the above mentioned officers.

The overall responsibilities of the Management include considering
and making decisions on implementing the Group’s policy and
strategies as set by the Board; strategic planning of different
business and functions; closely monitoring operational and
financial results in accordance with plans and budgets; putting
adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and managing the Group’s day-to-day business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board fulfilled the requirement of appointing at least three
independent non-executive Directors and they represented at least
one-third of the Board as stipulated by the GEM Listing Rules. It
met requirement of having at least one of the independent non-
executive Directors with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors have appropriate and
sufficient experience and qualification to carry out their duties
so as to fully represent the interests of the shareholders of the
Company.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7

EEE

ARAMAFEE THREEEERTE
FoATESEASAEEB(EEED -
BR DB R TEEMETRE - Lt
SRBERTLENEARSHIARSE
=gHtE -

EEENEERERRERIATETE
FEHENAREBEBERMEKRE  REITR
BV R BRE  IMRFT S RFEERER
LENMBRE EUBENLE KRB
MPBEGNHE : RERAKENBEE

75 °

BAFHTES

SRETGEM ETRAMNBERER
ZBEUFATES  RFEHEFER
Y=z — WHEAERL —REREE
BEXERA ST REBEYBEEFTENR
MBI IFATESORTE - BIUIFFATE
ZREERTRNER N ERBITRA
A2EARRANR ARz -

%
9\

*



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES

Directors’ attendance record of the Board, Committee and General

EEERRE
EZE2E2 REAERBEERF

HZE2023F3A31BILFE E2HFEE

Meetings during the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows: £ ZEERBRRERG2EHEAT -
Meetings attended/eligible to attend
HE/ RERLEER
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit ~ Remuneration Nomination General General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
Directors: Ex:. EEe ENZREE FMZEE REZEE RFREFAE REBHAE
Executive Directors: BTEE:
Huang Liming 3R 717 n/a n/a n/a 1 11
TEA TER TEA
Ho Ying Choi fa] e Bt o/7 n/a 11 11 1/1 11
TR
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix TERE 17 n/a nla n/a 1/1 11
TEA TER TEA
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTEES
Directors:
Lin Dongming R 17 414 171 17 11 11
Lam Kai Yeung R 17 444 11 11 1/1 11
Lo Chi Ho, Richard EEx 717 414 11 11 1/1 11
Board members were provided with complete, adequate and EZEEESNEERETE - HEMEEHNE
timely information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. B AERER EIGEE?E THEE -
Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to all Directors in BEFEEHNEEVRE ?E%LX 2
advance. Notice of at least fourteen days is given for a regular ZEF - EE® %%E/ETS%,E‘J >-+10 H Bl

Board meeting. For other Board and committees meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. Board papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are dispatched to
all Directors at least three days before each regular Board meeting
to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review the
related documents and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The company secretary of the Company is responsible to keep
minutes of all Board meetings and committees meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to all Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final versions
are opened for Director’s inspection.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERRE
DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL EERESERRSE
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent & EE £ (BHEIFNITEE LBV IEHRITE
non-executive Directors, should keep abreast of their collective =) EERFESEAESHRRBE - A
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and activities of NMAREEMER N EH) -

the Group.

All Directors confirmed that they had complied with code provision ZEE EERARENEZ202343 A31H
C.1.4 of the Code during the year ended 31 March 2023, that all  IFFE 2 E~F~FRIMSFREXE C.1.415
Directors had participated in continuous professional development #EE 2 HEIFEH X R - NURHERIGE
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. 1% B N8 K R RE o

A summary of training received by the Directors for the year ended  #RIE& E E124 7 5048 - ESNE E 2023
31 March 2023 according to the records provided by the Directors 43 A 31 HItFEFES 2 EZ3I8E T

as follows:

Reading newspapers,

to obtain update Reading materials

Attending seminars, relating to economy, relevant to

conferences or accounting, rules, directors’ duties

forums  law or regulation, etc. and responsibilities

BERE  DERE- MEEESN

SMmHE - it KEl - 2 BERELER

Directors: Ex: EEARE SERSEHER Rt

Executive Directors: HTES:

Huang Liming =W 4 v/ v

Ho Ying Choi fa] B v/ v/ v

Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix FRE v/ / v/
Independent Non-executive Directors: BV FHITEE :

Lin Dongming MR A v/ v/ v/

Lam Kai Yeung WG v/ v v

Lo Chi Ho, Richard EEx v/ v/ v/
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference, available on the
Company’s website, in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee is currently composed of all the independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (chairman),
Mr. Lin Dongming and Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31
March 2023 and reviewed the Company’s audited annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the unaudited quarterly
and interim results during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The function of the Audit Committee includes the following:
(i)  Relationship with the Company’s auditors:

(@) to be primarily responsible for make recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectively and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The Audit Committee should discuss with
the auditors the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences; and

(c) to develop and implement policy on engaging and
external auditor to supply non-audit services. For this
purpose, “external auditor” includes any entity that is
under common control, ownership or management
with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and
informed third party knowing all relevant information
would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally. The Audit Committee
should report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(i) Review of the Company'’s financial information:

(a) to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and/or quarterly reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them before
submission to the Board, focusing particularly on:

- any changes in accounting policies and practices;

—  major judgmental areas;
— significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

— the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications;

—  compliance with accounting standards; and

- compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures:

(a) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditors for the year ended 31 March 2023. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year and recommended approval to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference,
available on the Company’s website, in compliance with GEM
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee is currently
composed of 1 executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ho Ying Choi
and 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Kai
Yeung (chairman), Mr. Lin Dongming and Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held to review the remuneration package
of the Directors and senior management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee’s principal duties are the
determination of specific remuneration packages of all
executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine
the policy for the remuneration of Directors and assess
the performance of executive Directors and certain senior
management of the Group.

Remuneration of Directors

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Directors’ fees and all other emoluments paid or payable to the
Directors during the year are set out on an individual and named
basis in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Remuneration of Senior Management

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 March
2023 is set out below:

FHNEEE (E)

B A ST B 1Y 5
RIECEERTRSTANEEELSE - &
Z2023%F3A31HILFE o EEBEY
HNEE RS T ¢

Number of individual

In the band of EiE A
Nil - HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7% 7T 5
Over HK$1,000,000 1,000,0007% 7T A £ 2

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company set up a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference, available on the
Company’s website, in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. At
the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee consists
of 4 members, of which the majority are Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lin Dongming (chairman), Mr.
Lam Kai Yeung, Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard and an Executive Director,
namely, Mr. Ho Ying Choi.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, one meeting of the
Nomination Committee was held.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually; making recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become the Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on selection of individuals nominated for directorships of
the Company; assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; reviewing and recommending the
appointment of new Directors; identifying the competences
required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities; and
reviewing the Board Diversity Policy established for implementing
diversity on the Board periodically.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Company set up a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) which is a committee under the Company’s Audit
Committee and is chaired by Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an executive
Director, and comprises Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, the associate director
(note) of the Company, Mr. Fong Shek Hung, the associate director
(note) of the Company. The Group’s legal adviser, Y.C. Lee, Pang,
Kwok & Ip Solicitors, is procured to provide legal advices and to
attend the committee meeting on a needed basis. For the year
ended 31 March 2023, 12 meetings were held and the Group’s
legal adviser had participated in 1 meeting. The minutes of the
meetings were distributed to the Group’s legal adviser, Y.C. Lee,
Pang, Kwok & Ip Solicitors, and the Audit Committee members
for scrutiny and comment. The Compliance Committee addresses
the matters concerning the compliance of law and regulations,
contract terms and litigation cases of the Group.

Note: The position “associate director” is a corporate title only and not a “director”
within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules. An associate director named herein
is principally responsible for (i) the supervision of property management of
the Group or its staff; (i) supervision of the Group’s administration or overall
standard; and (iii) the Group’s customer relations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the remuneration for audit
and non-audit services are summarised below:

EEERRE
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R =

HE2023F3A31HILFE  EXNIEE
ZARFSEF BB T

2023
2023 F
HK$000
FHET
Audit services BEZR 1,300
Non-audit services FEBZ RS
Fee for performing review on the interim and REFARARPHRETETEKER
quarter financial information of the Company ZEBH 200
Agreed-upon procedures on agreement on AP EE NI EETT
preliminary result announcement HERF 20
1,520
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the
financial statements are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the
Group.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any matters uncertainly relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the Group’s
internal control system and its effectiveness to ensure that the
internal control measures are in place to safeguard the Group’s
assets and to comply with relevant regulations and best practices.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company improves its business and operational activities
by identifying the areas of significant business risks via a
regular review and taking appropriate measures to control and
mitigate these risks. The management of the Company reviews
all significant control policies and procedures and highlights all
significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (“Mr. Sheung”),
representative of JPG CPA Limited, as its company secretary. His
primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr. Lee Chin
Ching, Cyrix, an executive Director.

In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr.
Sheung has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever
it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM").
EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be
held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders and other stakeholders can make any enquiry in
respect of the Company in writing to our head office at Unit 903,
9th Floor, Haleson Building, 1 Jubilee Street, Central, Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, there is no significant change
in its constitutional documents.

CONTINUOUS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ENHANCEMENT

The Board is committed to continuous corporate governance
enhancement including giving closer attention to any regulatory
changes with a view to maintaining a corporate culture built on
ethics and integrity and increasing the Shareholders value as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRS

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements of Shi Shi Services Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance and its financial position
are provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year end 31 March 2023 and the
state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set out on
pages 119 to 214.

The state of affairs of the Company is set out in notes 37 and 43 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out on pages 215 and 216 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 and a review of its future development is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been
addressed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

In addition, various financial risks have been disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

AN ANALYSIS USING FINANCIAL KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to
the business of the Group are set out under the paragraphs
headed “Financial Review” in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify
and manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational
activities in order to minimise these impacts if possible. The Group
aims to maximise energy conservation in its offices by promoting
efficient use of resources and adopting green technologies. For
instance, the Group seeks to upgrade equipment such as lighting
and air-conditioning systems in order to increase overall operating
efficiency. To identify energy efficiency opportunities, the Group
measures and records the energy consumption intensity from
time to time. Information on the environmental policies and
performance of the Company is set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 64 to 112 of this Annual
Report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated and
regularly reviews the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts with the customers
and has regular review of requirements of customers and
complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of the performance
of suppliers on regular basis.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS
(continued)

The Board believes effective communication and accurate
and timely information disclosure builds the Shareholders’ and
investors’ confidence, and also facilities the flow of constructive
feedback and ideas that are beneficial for investor relations and
future corporate development. For details, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on page 49.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and risks of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group has on-going review the newly enacted
laws and regulations affecting the operations of the Group. The
Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the business of the
Group.

SHARES ISSUED FOR THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITY

The Company has no fund raising activity during the year ended
31 March 2023. Details of the fund raising activity of the Group
during the prior years are set out in the paragraphs under “Fund
raising activity” in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2023.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out on
page 208 and in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2023,
calculated under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, amounted
to HK$130,453,175 (2022: HK$143,459,284) including
share premium of HK$190,443,842, accumulated losses of
HK$64,740,775, and contributed surplus of HK$4,750,108.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share options
No share options were granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and

there is no outstanding share option under Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2023 and up to date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Liming (Chairman)

Mr. Ho Ying Choi

Mr. Lee Chin Ching Cyrix

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lin Dongming

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung
Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors will retire and being eligible offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM. Accordingly, Mr. Huang Liming
and Mr. Lin Dongming shall hold office until the next following
AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 28 to 34 of the
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, a permitted indemnity
provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and
was in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2023. The
Company has purchased the Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance to provide protection against claims arising from the
lawful discharge of duties by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed
for an initial term of one to three years commencing from their
respective dates of appointment and shall continue thereafter
from year to year until terminated by two month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other party.

The non-executive Director is appointed for a term of one year
commencing from the date of his appointment. Such appointment
can be terminated by one month’s notice in writing served by either
party on the other party.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT AND
CONTRACTS

Save for the respective director service contracts with each of the
executive Directors, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company'’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party in which a Director of the Company and the Director’s
connected party had a material interest whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 March 2023 under review.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group as well as the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee. Further details of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee are set out in the corporate governance
report on page 45 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of the employees of the Group is determined
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees employed.
The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
the Group and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF scheme vest immediately.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in fund under the control of trustees. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, total contributions paid or payable to the
MPF scheme by the Group amounted to approximately HK$12.1
million (2022: HK$12.1 million) which had been recognised as
expenses and included in staff costs in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRS

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions in
securities of the Company. The Company also had made specific
enquiry of all Directors and the Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard of dealings and its
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at date of this annual report, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing
Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company

EERHERS

AEBERMGEM LR BIZE 5482567
RFTE B ER TR  ERAREESET
RAREHRRSHHITAESTH - RARIE
MEREEERETEN 82202343
A31BItFE  ARB W FNBEEEME
REZHETEHFRINE B R TERMIT
ASFRIRIER

EERRSTRAERAQTRE
AAEEZERG - HERO R EE
HHERORE

RAFHREAH EFREBEAREIRA
REMEBEEEMNRD - HERND IEEE
o BEEAEEREARRIREES KH
EIEPIEI2IEFEMNZELMA  HIRIE
GEM E#RAIE 54618 STB AR E &
BT ER RABT ¢

RAEDFZREEON BT ZEER L
B

Approximate
percentage of

interests in
the issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity and nature of interest Number of shares share capital
HERTREAZ
RERM A SORERME BRHAHBE EEBNBEITHL
Huang Liming (note 1) Founder and one of the beneficiaries of 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
a discretionary trust (note 2)
=R (Hat 1) PREETHRLARZEHZAZ— 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(K1at2)
Notes: HeE -

(1) Mr. Huang Liming is interested in the said shares through his wholly owned
company, Heng Sheng Capital Limited, which is the beneficial owner of
626,071,950 shares of the Company.

(2)  The Letter “L” Denotes long position in the shares.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company (continued)

Mr. Huang Liming is the founder and one of the beneficiaries of
H Trust, a discretionary trust of the entire issued share capital
of H Family Company Limited. Heng Sheng Capital Limited is a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands whose entire
issued share capital is owned by H Family Company Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Accordingly,
Mr. Huang Liming is deemed to be interested in the Shares owned
by Heng Sheng Capital Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their associates
had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as at date of this annual report.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2023 was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executive of the
Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years
of age) to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its
specified undertakings or other associated corporation.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at date of this annual report, the following persons/entities
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests and short positions in the
Shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register of interests and short positions of substantial shareholders
(the “Register of Substantial Shareholders”) required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company

FERREHEMALTRERTRG
REBEROTERZEBERKXR

RZRE R HH - IRIRE S S B S 151155 336
FARBIATHFE T BRI ED MAR
Frof (TE2REZEM]) Fraesk - T
AL/ BB (RRFEEFLAHZSTHAER
SN O BRI R AR R RR 1D FR BB SR AR
RREFRRARD SRR

RAABDEREE BT Z2ERBR I
B

Approximate
percentage of

interests in

the issued

Name of Shareholders Capacity and nature of interest  Number of shares share capital

HEBRITREAZ

BRRERHH SORERME ROBE #RBHEIE

HSBC International Trustee Limited Trustee 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(note 1) (note 2)

HSBC International Trustee Limited ZFEA 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(K1at 1) (K1at2)

H Family Company Limited (note 1) Interest in a controlled 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
corporation (note 2)

H Family Company Limited (#/7£ 1) AR R 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(Kiit2)

Heng Sheng Capital Limited (note 1) Beneficial owner 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(note 2)

BEERBRAT (HaE1) ERlEAA 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(HtzE2)

Li Mengya (note 1) Interest of spouse 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(note 2)

B (M) g 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(Biat2)

Shi Shi Services Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Long Positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company (continued)

Notes:

(1) Heng Sheng Capital Limited is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands whose entire issued share capital is owned by H Family Company
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. HSBC
International Trustee is the trustee of H Trust, a discretionary trust of the
entire issued share capital of H Family Company Limited, of which Mr. Huang
Liming is the founder and one of the beneficiaries. Ms. Li Mengya is the
spouse of Mr. Huang Liming and, accordingly under the SFO, she is deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Huang Liming is
interested.

(2)  The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at date of this report, the Directors
were not aware of any persons/entities (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) who/which had or were deemed
or taken to have any other interests or short positions in Shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the Register
of Substantial Shareholders required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 September 2013, the Company has adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) under which the Board
is authorised to grant share options to any employee, adviser,
consultant, service provider, agent, customer, partner or joint-
venture partner of the Company or any subsidiary (including any
director of the Company or any subsidiary) who is in fulltime or
part-time employment with or otherwise engaged by the Company
or any subsidiary at the time when an option is granted to such
employee, adviser, consultant, service provider, agent, customer,
partner or joint-venture partner or any person who, in the absolute
discretion of the board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group as incentive or reward for their contribution to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective commencing
from the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme (i.e. 19
September 2013) until the termination date as provided therein
which being the close of business of the Company on the date
which falls ten years from the date of the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme (i.e. 18 September 2023). The principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme are summarised in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus of the
Company dated 30 September 2013.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, no share option was granted,
exercised, expired or lapsed and there is no outstanding share
option under the Share Option Scheme.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

On 6 August 2021, the Company has adopted the share aware
plan (the “Plan”) to recognise and reward the contribution
of selected participant (the “Selected Participant(s)”) to the
growth and development of the Group and to give incentives
thereto in order to motivate them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group. The Plan is a discretionary
share plan of the Company and does not constitute a share option
scheme within the meaning of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Movements in the number of awarded shares during the
year ended 31 March 2023 are set out below:

FERREHEMALTRERTRG
REBEROTERZEBERKXR
(&)

HE2023F3A31BHILFE @ HEERE
BRE ETFE -BREMEIBELAR BE
A& RETEITE N IR 1 R 1T AO B IR -

B A0 R BT &

R2021F8 A6 H ' ANARE HAAR 1D HEED
T8I ([FZET8))  UEFRERHAEE
MEERERENERNRTESEE ([
F2HEF])  RABTFL2EEL TEEI
HERSEERAESENBESENER
M WAREBE—FERRSIEHED
AT o ZErE AR QRN — BB
2| BW TR GEM FRAIE 23 Z MR
FERBERERE - HE2023F3 A31H1E
FE - BERONEEEFEIIWOT

Number of Number of
awarded awarded shares
shares at Granted Vested during at 31 March
Grantee 1 April 2022 Date of Vesting during the Year the Year 2023
R2022 %
481H R2023 F
RBROH 3A31H
3 JN 2E HBEBAH FrRERYE FRERE RBROMNHE
The Selected 102,635,150 11 January 2023 - 102,635,150 102,635,150
Participants (Note i)
BELEE (Bia£i) 2023%F1A11H
Note: gz

(i) 10,263,515 awarded shares were granted to each of ten Selected
Participant under the Plan on 11 January 2022.

Details of the Plan are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 6 August 2021 and 11 January 2022 and note 35 of
consolidated financial statements.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

So far as the Directors and chief executive are aware, no non-
exempt connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions were entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2023.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023
respectively is contained in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements. The related party transactions disclosed in note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements are connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions that were fully exempt
from reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and/or annual review pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the applicable disclosure
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in
respect of such connected transactions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the year are as follows:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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BEXS

BEZEMGZSTTHRABME  NEERE
F2023F3 A3l HIFFEN E|AETTER

REE D RIREZE 2022 3 A 31 A & 2023
FIANALFEETHNREB RS 25
ZHEHNGE AP BRI T2 - ZEMBR
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MERRBER, HEFEERRENEER
SRFFEMER S - RAFEETGEM £
MHRAFE20EARLFHERZEMAR
BRRE ©

TEFEFRHEBR

AEENEERR REEED BRGNS
BRaMRBENERNT

Purchases

and cleaning

Revenue subcontracting

Wz REBRBERER

HK$ HK$

BT BT

The largest customer RARFP 16,659,937 N/A 77~ 3@
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFP&R 69,913,579 N/A 73 FA
The largest supplier =AM ER N/A 7~ 10,022,452
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AREERE N/A T~ 3 FB 21,761,684

Annual Report 2022/23
2022/23F &



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate percentage
of purchase attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers is
approximately 47.9% of the total purchases of the Group and
the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
22.1%.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate percentage
of sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers is
approximately 12.8% of the total sales of the Group and the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 3.0%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March
2023.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the controlling Shareholders or Directors and their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) is
interested in any business apart from the business operated by the
Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with the Group’s business.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there
is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
annual report.
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B B AR A5 PR 2 7

TEFFRHEER (&)

HE2023F43A31BILFEE - KEFEHR
AHEEEGRESA LA RARER
BEBENLTI%  EFRmKEREED
22.1% o

HZE2023F3A31BHIEFE  AEERK
EEEGHEETD AR AREBRREE
#9128% @ ERHRABEFEHI3.0% °

EF WNEZEEBEALTRETMNRES
PRAEA AR R RIE BTN E 5% < BRI
BERAEERAREPRERETESEM

i

M o

EEESH

MNEBE2023FE3A31BIEEER » KA F
WETY S FEERNN R 2K TMEKX
AOEBZEERERITRABZEY -

mERL

BELRREREEUARBESANES
B AL (F% 5 GEM LA REAE
B 5 75 i o P R R K o T RE A R R 40
AR (R AREZENEB AN F
AR -

RBREFRERRE

BREBEARETFARANLAHERMRES
A RAIBEARFERITNREERTITH
H EHAEBERELAZERE  HEDL
RAFIB BT 25% °



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on pages 35
to 49 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix
Executive Director

Hong Kong

28 June 2023
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

As a company based and operating in Hong Kong, the Shi
Shi Services Limited (thereafter [ Group, [We ] or [ Shi Shi
Services ]) is fully committed to environment protection,
and being socially responsible by equipping ourselves
with the strictest corporate governance. In pursuant to the
requirement of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting guide ([ Environmental, Social and Governance
Guide J) in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) from the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, we have prepared the 2022-2023
Environmental Social and Governance Report (thereafter
“ESG Report”), covering the Group’s various business
segments, including financial management, property
management services (including cleaning, repair and
maintenance), and property security service.

The scope of this report covers the Group’s initiatives on
introducing the ESG concept to key stakeholders of our
operations, including our employees and clients. The report
summarizes our experiences in putting our ESG strategy
into practice as part of our daily operations. The result of
our ESG performance is presented in this report as a year-
end summary. It is also the intention of our management to
provide an overview of our Group’s direction in managing
ESG related issues, driving for ESG initiatives throughout the
Group, and communicating our ESG performance with our
stakeholders.

1.1 About Shi Shi Services

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
property management services, primarily targeting
residential properties, property investment and money
lending business. The Group operates in Hong Kong
under the brand name of “Kong Shum”, providing
a range of property management services including
cleaning, security, repair & maintenance, administrative
and legal support, as well as financial management. A
total of 84,370 (2021/2022: 75,808) property units are
managed by the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HEREGHESE

1. ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)

1.2

1.3

Boundary and Reporting Period

The reporting boundary shall cover our operation
activities throughout the Group as listed above, and
the reporting period of this report shall cover the period
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023.

Reporting Principal

The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the
following principles:

Materiality — Materiality assessments have been
conducted to identify environmental and social issues
that have significant impacts on shareholders/investors
and other stakeholders. The engagement process
and results involving the relevant stakeholders are
presented in the “Stakeholder Engagement” section of
this Report. The Group also concerns ESG development
outside and within the industry, fulfilling local standards
as well as incorporating it into the strategic development
plan of the Group.

Quantitative — Key Performance Indicators (“KPI1”s)
have been established, and are measurable and
applicable to make valid comparisons under
appropriate conditions; information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools
used, and sources of conversion factors used, have
been disclosed when applicable.

Balance — The Group upholds this reporting principle
to compile the Report and highlights both achievement
and improvement areas of our ESG management to
unbiasedly disclose the environmental and social
performances in the Reporting Period with the support
of pictures, charts and presentation formats whenever
appropriate to present objective and transparent
information and data for readers to make sound
decisions and judgments.

Consistency — Consistent statistical methodologies
and presentation of KPIs have been used to provide
meaningful comparisons of related data to users of our
reports over time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

1. ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)
1.4 Content of this Report

This Report is released in both English and Chinese
versions. Should there be any discrepancies between
the English and Chine se versions, the English version
shall prevail.

2. ESG MANAGEMENT
2.1 Board Statement

As a company engaged in property management, we
recognize the importance of effective sustainability
practices and are committed to integrating ESG systems
into our key business decisions. The Board is ultimately
responsible for formulating and overseeing our ESG
strategy, reporting, and management approach to
monitor ESG issues. In line with this commitment, the
Board regularly evaluates and determines the ESG-
related risks associated with our business operations,
and ensures that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems are in place.
We engage in regular meetings and discussions to
assess the efficacy of these systems, and track our
progress towards achieving our ESG-related goals and
targets during the reporting year.

As part of our dedication to sustainability, we are taking
proactive steps to review and monitor our carbon
footprint, and set sustainability targets to ensure that
we operate our business in an environmentally and
socially responsible manner while delivering value to
our stakeholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE - HBRELRRES

2. ESG MANAGEMENT (continued) 2. ESGE®E (&)

2.2 Sustainability Governance 22 AIBFEER

To systematically consolidate our commitment to
sustainability, we have established governance
structure on sustainable development to promote
the implementation of ESG governance works in an
orderly and effective manner. The Board, as stewards
of ESG management, is ultimately accountable for the
performance of ESG-related issues, by establishing
goals and targets and reviewing our performance
on a regular basis. We provide oversight of the risk
management framework and sustainability strategy
to achieve long-term sustainability goals and promote
sustainable development culture at all levels of our
organization.

Our senior management team is responsible for
initiating, driving, and monitoring our sustainability
policies and practices. We strive to maintain effective
communication with the Board to provide constructive
recommendations regarding the emerging ESG trends
and industrial best practices, thereby improving our
resilience in addressing ESG issues.

Moreover, our management team ensures that
sustainability elements are considered when proposing,
designing, and implementing new protocols, and
oversees the implementation process by reviewing
policies and gathering feedback from stakeholders.
We are committed to engaging with our stakeholders
on ESG matters and to fostering sustainability culture
within our organization.

The Board has been consistently complied with the
Hong Kong Listing Rules, local regulations and codes,
and different industry standards and management
practices involved in the Group for conducting our daily
business. It is also necessary to take the interests of
various stakeholders (e.g. shareholders, employees,
customers, suppliers, partners, etc.) into account and
to consider social responsibility and the negative impact
on the environment.
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2. ESG MANAGEMENT (continued) 2. ESGE®E (&)

2.3 ESG Governance Structure 2.3 ESGERZERE

The Board Stewards of the Group’s ESG management
TEe 1EREBESGERMERE
Initiating, driving, and monitoring our sustainability

Management policies and practices
S E BERR - MR EN A FHEERECRA TR

Implement ESG tasks and regularly

Employee report on ESG information
=T A EBESG T r ST MERESGE 8
A
2.4 Stakeholder Engagement 24 BHHESH
We engage our stakeholders on an ongoing basis B EEFOEBR  UkE
to gather their views and expectations on our ESG HEHRMOERE g kER
performance and disclosures. In response to the FALKBEENERLEE - BE
interests and concerns of our stakeholders, we regularly EEHhE M MET  FM
review our ESG performance using the strictest KABRZENTEERRA - EH
corporate governance principles, with respect to R BARRRE  EEEERK
environmental protection, employee development and MHEREENRE 8 REEAE
community investment. I o
2.4.1 Communication with Key Stakeholders 241 BT EFHEHERE
The Group has consulted both its internal and REBEMEEBEEER
external stakeholders regarding its impact on the HIRBE R ENTELRE
environment and society as a result of its business NE RN FF D& - NEE
operations. The Group values its relationship with BEERAREFPREHES
its customers and local communities and thus BRI AL M ABBA LT
have included both parties as our consultation VERBMEERE - TREVR
targets. The table below presents key stakeholders SENEZERHEERKES
of the Group along with their main expectations ZEBHBUARREBRFA
as well as the various engagement channels the HFEERRANSES
Group employed during the year to communicate EHZEIE o
with them.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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2. ESG MANAGEMENT (continued)

2.4 Stakeholder Engagement (continued)

2. ESGE (&)

24 #HHESHEE)

2.4.1 Communication with Key Stakeholders 241 HEEHFHEHEE (E)
(continued)
Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Engagement Channels Group’s Response
K& HIEERY) BHERE FEBHDE
Investors/ o Corporate governance @ Annual general J Risk control
Shareholders TEER meeting management
&% /BRE e  Returnoninvestments BRRAFKE 2 B2 2 1) i 1
REEW e  Annualandinterim e  Enhancing operational
o Risk Management reports transparency
[ & 12 FRMpPERE ReEESEHE
o Operational o Press releases and
transparency announcements
BB TERMAE
o Financial performance
BRI
Customers o Quality of products and e After-sales services o Service quality
®P services E &R assurance

Suppliers and
Partners

£ & 75 A0
BIERH

EmREHNEE
Customer privacy and
security

EFELMZ 2
Customer rights
protection

B EmIRE

Honest cooperation
HIERE

Fair and open sourcing
RNEMA RO
Responsible supply
chain management
BEEMHEEER
Business ethics and
reputation

BEERMBE

Feedback collection
gl &
Community activities
HEEE

Owners Corporation
Meeting

EEY N
Customer
communication
hotline
BPARRG

Supplier initial and J
annual performance
assessments
HEENRNEELE o
G

Business conferences
ELaE:

Phone and emails o

THATT B

RISEERE
Customer privacy
protection

BRERLRE

Facilitate daily
communication
REBTEER
Building responsible
supply chain

BB EER

fit pe i

Continuous
improvement of
internal management

TEDBENREE
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2. ESG MANAGEMENT (continued) 2. ESGE®E (&)

2.4 Stakeholder Engagement (continued) 24 BFHESHE(E)

2.4.1 Communication with Key Stakeholders 241 HEEHFHEHEE (E)
(continued)
Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Engagement Channels Group’s Response
K& MY BHERE FEBHDE
Employees Staff salary and benefits o Training Health and safety
BT BETHEMERN bl management
Health and safety of o Performance review improvement
working environment and interviews EMZ2ERE
TERBHRENZ 2 ARG A E Bogi:3
Training and o Internal Employee
development announcements and communication and
BEIIMERE publications grievance mechanism
MR & M R BT /ABMEAF
e Suggestion boxes 1 1
ERM Providing competitive
salaries and benefits
REAEHRF N
B MAEF
Community Community o Community activities Implementing green
' involvement HEES management
HE2HE e Subsidies and ERGesn
Environmental charitable donations Supporting social
protection awareness B AMEEER welfare
RIRIRER B SR ERA
Community
coordinated
development
1t [ 1 8 B R

Shi Shi Services Limited
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2. ESG MANAGEMENT (continued) 2. ESGEM (&)
2.4 Stakeholder Engagement (continued) 24 BFHESHE(E)
2.4.2 Materiality Assessment 242 EEMFE

With the objective of identifying the key concerns REEANEE NI LINBR
and interests of the Group’s internal and external MENEEZBY LA &K
stakeholders, a materiality assessment was T T EE M RS
performed, covering a variety of topics related HEMtE  EEBEMIRER
to our social, operational and enviro nmental REENSERSE -
performance.

Identifying Potential Issues % Bl;&7E %28

The Group refers to environmental, social, and governance guidelines and industry-relevant major ESG issues to establish an issue library. We

have identified a total of 30 issues that may have potential impacts on the Group’ s operations and classified them according to their impact,
nvironmental-related, operational-related, and social

R AT = 45| ] 5 AIRIR

Stakeholder Engagement 353 & 2 82

We have established various channels for stakeholder engagement and invited both internal and external stakeholders to complete
questionnaires on the importance rating and provide feedback on the Group’ s ESG issues. This process enabled us to obtain the aver-
age score for each group based on stakeholder input.

BAPIRR L FF 2 8 WEGE N HRHERESES - A% ERBEMNERHTY RIREER - #W
R D EH 1 s

Verification 1% 3&

The Board has verified and confirmed the correlation between the identified material environmental, social, and governance issues and the key
performance indicators relevant to the corresponding environmental, social, and governance guidelines.

EFECRERERDHFIEANRE HEREAFARERRTEZERE - 1 & REAIES|MERARIERHORELE
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2. ESG MANAGEMENT (continued)
2.4 Stakeholder Engagement (continued)
2.4.2 Materiality Assessment (continued)

The results of the assessment have been
consolidated and presented in the form of a
materiality matrix, as shown below:

2. ESGERE ()
24 BHESHEE)
242 EE ML ()
TEERDAHEINES

MR R 25 - 10 AT
N

2022/2023 ESG Issue materiality matrix
2022/2023F EESGREEEMIEM

High

EERE

Level of importance to stakeholders
HEOE

04e

E4e

Low Level of importance

to the Group’s operations High

HEEZENEREE

2022/2023 List

2022/2023 ESG & &

of ESG issues
R=Sg-T)

BE

E1  Air Emission Management Ol  Anti-competitive Behaviour S1  Child Labour and Forced
TENER Management Labour Management
E2  Energy Management REFITRERE ETRAGIZSTERE
BERE R 02  Anti-corruption S2  Community Relations
E3  Greenhouse Gases RES it = B R
Management 03  Anti-discrimination S3  Diversity and Equal
BEREER RIS Opportunity
F4  Waste Management 04  Company profitability Zale Rk FEKS
EEYER NRIAFEE S S4  Employee Communication
05  Customer Satisfaction EEER
ERMEE S5 Human Right Protection
06 Data Security and Customer AERE
Privacy Management S6  Social and Economic
Bz RhEPILEERE Compliance
07 Occupational Safety and e RLEER
Health S7  Talent Management
BELe MR ATER
08 Supplier Management S8  Training and Development

HEmEE

Shi Shi Services Limited
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2. ESG MANAGEMENT (continued)

2.5 Stakeholder Feedback

We consider feedback from stakeholders to be
of high importance as it can guide us towards
making continuous improvements with respect to
environmental, social and governance aspects. If
you have any questions or comments regarding the
contents of this report or the Group’s ESG strategy,
please fill in your feedback at the questionnaire set out
at the section “FEEDBACK” at the end of the Report.

3. ENVIRONMENT

It has always been one of our guiding principles to make
contributions to the local environment and community
while providing the best service to our clients and
generate revenue for our shareholders. We recognize
the importance of adopting the highest standards in our
operations towards environmental protection, and to set
examples to demonstrate our care for the community and
its development. Our environmental management system is
certified to ISO 14001:2004 standards.

3.1

Our Consideration for Climate Change

The Group understands that the threat of climate
change may potentially have financial impact on our
operations, such as the gradual tightening of regulations
with respect to waste generation and greenhouse
gas emissions, which will increase operation costs.
The Group took effort in identifying its environmental
impacts attributable to its business activities and
carefully managed our operation in order to minimize
these impacts where possible. The intention is not only
to promote environment protection internally, but also
to encourage and motivate the same to our clients and
mutually improve in continuous manner.

Besides, the Group has compiled an Emergency
Response Procedures and specifically outlined the
response mechanisms for employees in the event of
common climate-related disasters in Hong Kong, such
as typhoons and floods. Not only to minimize the impact
of such disasters on the Group’s operations, but also
ensuring the safety of employees and residents, and
reducing damage to buildings.

2. ESGE (&)

25 BHERE

HPRAFNENREDEHEE
2 HRHEEESITHFINERE -
e RERBE LR ELE -
i ENEARENATRANE
BHIRE  HEREARIKAT
MRERER FEREREIR
EIFyNAER ST EREN
REER -

3. BE

AEPIREREE RS KSR RANE
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£ BRI - DA B L HAR
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s

B JE 88 X 2438 1S0 14001:2004 12
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3. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

3.1

3.2

Our Consideration for Climate Change (continued)

Due to the business nature of the Group’s operations,
some employees may need to work in office or clients’
site during black rainstorms and typhoons. In addition
to establishing response mechanisms and appropriate
work arrangements, we have also purchased sufficient
insurance coverage to cover the expenses of employees
who may be injured while on duty. The Group will
continue to work with our sustainability consultant in
order to identify, assess and manage the climate-related
risk that may impact our operations, so that we can
become climate resilience.

Use of Resources

As an environmentally-friendly company, the Group
promotes a “Smart Usage” culture, encouraging
our employees towards the cautious use of natural
resources, particularly for consumption of electricity,
operational materials, and water.

The Environmental Policy adopted by the Group puts
emphasis on energy conservation and efficiency, while
implementing green practices and green technologies
as much as possible in all of our premises. Our lighting
and air-conditioning systems are maintained with the
objective of further energy reduction, and our operation
team periodically analyses energy consumption records
in an attempt to identify opportunities for improving
energy efficiency.

In addition, the concept of “Smart Usage” has
been incorporated in different parts of our business
and various action plans have been proposed and
implemented. We have designed marketing campaigns,
taking into account of demand and supply estimates,
cost effectiveness, energy saving, and equipment.
The marketing campaigns are used as promotional
strategies to attract potential carpark clients.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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3. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

3.3 Electricity

Resource management is an important aspect in the
Group’s operation, especially in managing buildings and
properties.

The Group has been strived to promote electricity
saving by electronic publicity and electronic
communication and reduce the printing of documents
in order to reduce environmental pollution. Our Group
understands that even though electricity is generally
considered to be a “clean” energy source, generation
of electricity in our areas of operation still involves
the combustion of fossil fuels, which can lead to a
significant impact to the environment as a result of
associated emissions of air pollutants and greenhouse
gases. Thus, the Group reminds employees to be
cautious about our electricity consumption to minimize
our impacts.

The Group worked with its staff member by promoting
the “Smart Usage” culture, and reminded them to take
action throughout their daily operation to minimize
resource and energy usage. For example, notices are
posted at various locations around our offices to remind
our staff about turning off lights and photocopiers
after use. Staffs are also reminded to maintain good
power-saving practices when utilizing other electronics
devices, this includes:

o Maintaining average indoor temperatures at
25.5T for maintaining a comfortable working
environment

e  Switch off all electrical appliances when they are
not in use

° Use lighting with high energy efficiency, such as
LED lamps

e  Select electrical appliances with “Grade 1” energy
level
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3. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

3.3

3.4

3.5

Electricity (continued)

Initiatives such as adopting to an Energy Conservation
and Efficiency Policy and practices in offices, along with
the utilization of green technologies, were successfully
implemented throughout the year. Devices associated
with significant overall energy consumption are
regularly checked and upgraded as necessary (ie:
lighting and air conditioning) to ensure they operate at
proper efficiency levels.

The Group has set a reduction target for electricity
consumption in daily operations, targeting to reduce
3% in 5 years (on an intensity basis, per square feet).

Water

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, consumption
of water from our operations is not very significant
and is of limited materiality. Nevertheless, our staff
are encouraged to adopt water conservation practices
during daily operations.

Other Resources

To reduce the consumption of paper, we encourage
our employees to print documents double-sided where
appropriate. This includes:

o Application of computer technology where
applicable to substitute the use of hard-copy
documents, such as communication by email and
use of computer for document handling

° Place recycling boxes near office photocopiers to
collect paper that can be reused (i.e. those printed
on only one side)

° Encourage staff to reuse stationary items (e.g.
used envelopes and document folders)

Shi Shi Services Limited
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3. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

3.5

3.6

Other Resources (continued)

The Group has set a target to reduce paper
consumption by 3% in 5 years.

We also encourage our staff to donate Waste Electrical
and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) to charitable
organisations when the equipment are removed from
service, or send them to recyclers for processing.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, no material
consumption of packaging materials was recorded
during the reporting period.

Our Group will continue monitoring and improving our
resource conservation performance as opportunities
arise.

Air Emission

The Group took the initiative to assess the level of
air emission associated with our operations. Due to
our business nature, the only main source of direct
atmospheric air emission from our operations is related
to the use of vehicles which use petrol as fuel source.
As a result of the Group’s fossil fuel consumption
during the reporting period, 19.8 kg of nitrogen oxides
(NOx), 0.19 kg of sulphur oxides (SOx) and 1.46 kg of
particulate matter (PM) (2021/2022: 15 kg NOx, 0.2
kg SOx and 1.11 kg PM) were generated and emitted
to the atmosphere. We will continue monitoring our
operation and ensuring our air emissions are minimized
where possible, and regularly report our progress.
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3. ENVIRONMENT (continued) 3. B (&)

BERBHER

3.7 Greenhouse Gas Emission 3.7

In addition to our efforts in minimizing air pollutant
emission, emissions of carbon dioxide and other
greenhouse gases of concern are also closely
monitored by the Group. Greenhouse gases are
gaseous substances which absorb and re-emit
infrared radiation when released into the atmosphere,
resulting in intensifying the greenhouse effect.
Examples of greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide,
methane, nitrous oxide, hydrochlorofluorocarbons
(HCFCs), perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.
Greenhouse gas emissions, also referred to as carbon
footprints, are commonly evaluated in the form of metric
tons of equivalent carbon dioxide (CO,e), which takes
into account aggregate contribution from the emissions
of the various greenhouse gases.

We have estimated our greenhouse gas emissions
based on our consumption of energy sources,
including petrol and electricity (identified to be the
most significant indirect carbon dioxide emitting
source). Based on the energy consumption data,
emission factors associated with each form of energy
consumption, obtained from reliable sources such
as literature and sustainability reports published by
electricity providers, were used to determine our overall
carbon footprint during the reporting period.

Where applicable, the management has proposed
mitigation measures for implementation by our
operations team to limit our overall carbon footprint. As
a summary, the Carbon Footprint for our Group in this
reporting year was 156 tCO,e. (2021/2022: 170 tCO,e).

With this information available to us, we intend to
further investigate and work with our employees, along
with external stakeholders, on enhancing our overall
performance and minimizing our carbon footprint.
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3. ENVIRONMENT (continued) 3. B (&)

3.8 BRUER

3.8 Waste Management

After careful investigation of the types of waste
generated by our operations, it was concluded that no
significant amount of hazardous waste was generated
by the Group’s operation during the reporting period.

For non-hazardous waste, the Group has been
promoting waste reduction internally, and adopted
the same principle while working with our partners
and communities that we served. We spend most of
our waste reduction efforts on the recycling of paper,
metal and plastic, which worked in parallel with the
promotional campaign of the government. Appropriate
use of recycled paper is encouraged in our workplaces,
and our employees are reminded to dispose waste
in respective collection bins. In addition, the Group
adopts paperless working culture, which encourage
the communication through emails and e-format
documents instead of hard copies. The effort was well
received and was supported by our staff.

During the reporting period, the amount of non-
hazardous waste generated from our operations was
estimated to be 11.7 tonnes (2021/2022: 15.9 tonnes).

The Group aims to reduce non-hazardous waste
generation intensity (per square feet) by 3% in 5 years.
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3. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

3.9 Environmental Compliance

During the reporting period, the Group did not note
any cases of material non-compliance relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharge into water
and land, and the generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste as required by the applicable laws
and regulations. See below for a list of environmental
laws and regulations of the respective regions the Group
operate in.

Hong Kong e  Air Pollution Control Ordinance

(Cap. 311)

o Waste Disposal Ordinance
(Cap. 354)

° Water Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 358)

° Noise Control Ordinance
(Cap. 400)

J Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty)
Ordinance (Cap. 611)

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The Group’s business spreads across several industry
sectors and our staff consists of a large number of talented
individuals. Offering competitive compensation to our staff,
while treating them equally and fairly, and complying to laws
and regulations have always been one of the Group’s guiding
principles. Our Group will monitor and improve in areas as
needed, and continue to grow sustainably and in a socially
responsible manner.

41

Employment

Employees are our internal stakeholders and are pivotal
to our success. As a socially responsible company, our
Group understands that success depends largely on
the people that works with us. The Group recognizes
the contribution from our people and the success
that they bring, and considers them as the greatest
asset. Our Group believe works of excellence must
be well compensated, and thus offer a competitive
remuneration and benefits scheme to retain and attract
qualified employees. The remuneration and benefits
includes year-end bonuses, medical insurance,
compensatory leave, wind shift compensation, meal
allowances for meetings, and reimbursement of car and
entertainment expenses.
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
(continued)

41

Employment (continued)

The Group has complied strictly with the relevant laws
and regulations to ensure employees’ interests are
protected. See below for a list of employment laws and
regulations of the respective regions the Group operate
in.

Hong Kong e Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57)
° Inland Revenue Ordinance
(Cap. 112)
° Sex Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 480)

° Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485)

° Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486)

° Disability Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 487)

° Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 527)

o Race Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 602)

° Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Cap. 608)

We value talent and employ those who are the best fit
for each position, regardless of their genders. Public
recruitment is conducted annually with priority on equal
opportunity.

At the year ended in 31 March 2023, the majority of
our staff were employed under a full-time arrangement.
Total number of staff members employed by the
Group is 1,651 (2021/2022: 1,765), including 316
management & general staff and 1,335 security guard
staff (2021/2022: 297 and 1,468). The annual turnover
rate of Management & General Staff of our operations
in Hong Kong and Security Guards were 51% (Male:
53%, Female: 49%) and 57% (<65 y/o: 53%, 65 y/oor
above: 61%) respectively.
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
(continued)

4.1 Employment (continued)
4.1.1Internal Policies

The Group has policies in place to cover employee
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfares.

A comprehensive staff handbook, which serves as
the basis for our human resources management
approach, is issued to all of our employees upon
employment, which details:

Conduct and discipline

TRk’

Leave and rest days

I
I
FREKRER :
i

Welfare and benefits ,
BF R ’

Employee Policy
BEBRE ---- - O

Our staffs are well informed whenever there are
updates and revisions to the employee handbook
and the latest version of the handbook is readily
available to them for easy reference.
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
(continued)

4.2

4.3

Employee Emolument

The emolument of the employees of our Group is also
determined by the remuneration Committee, assessed
based on merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors of the Company are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Employee salaries are reviewed and adjusted regularly
based on performance appraisals, and according to
the guidelines defined under our remuneration and
incentive system. At the end of the term, rewards are
given to those who made significant contributions
in daily work, based on the reward & punishment
measures for employees. Outstanding employees are
given priority on potential promotion or development
opportunities during annual employee appraisals.

Remuneration Committee

To ensure our remuneration scheme remains
competitive, the Group has established a Remuneration
Committee, with the principal duties of determining
specific remuneration packages of all Executive
Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee also incorporates factors
such as salaries paid by peers, time commitment and
responsibilities into the decision process.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to
determine policies for Directors’ remuneration, and
assess the performance of Executive Directors and
certain senior management of the Group.
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
(continued)

4.4 Retirement Benefit Scheme

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all qualifying employees employed. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of independent
trustees. Both the Group and the employees contribute
to the MPF Scheme based on a fixed percentage of the
staffs’ monthly salary in accordance with government

regulations.

During the reporting period, total contributions paid or
payable to the MPF scheme by the Group amounted
to approximately HK$12.1 million (2021/2022:
approximately HK$12.1 million), which had been
recognized as expenses and included in staff costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

4.5 Occupational Health and Safety

The Group considers the topic of occupational
health and safety as one of its top priorities, and
enforces highest standards on maintaining a safe
and comfortable working environment for employees.
Therefore, we have established the Occupational
Health and Safety Policy in which all the management
and employees are required to follow. The Group’s
occupational health and safety management system
has also achieved ISO 45001:2018 certification.

The Group provides employees with a spacious working
place and with abundant ancillary resources, including
a dining room, resting area, and basic household
appliances. All equipment, such as drinking facilities,
air-conditioning system and associated wiring, are
under regular inspection to maintain availability. Safety
and emergency equipment such as fire extinguishers,
fire escape masks and safety helmets at construction
sites, are placed in prominent locations in offices, and
are made easily accessible to all employees. In addition,
safety guidance documents on aspects such as fire
drills or safety tips are constantly circulated to remind

our staff to pay extra attention to public safety.
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
(continued)

4.5
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Occupational Health and Safety (continued)

Security guards hired by the Group are trained on the
proper usage of emergency response equipment such
as fire extinguishers and hoses, as well as being familiar
with evacuation routes and muster points to provide
assistance to tenants in case of emergency.

In summary, the following measures were adopted
during the reporting period to strengthen our staff's
awareness on Health and Safety issues:

RIE - HBRELRRES
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Health and safety trainings was conducted for new employees to strengthen their overall health and

safety awareness

RIMABE TRITRERZ 2 AR EERER L2 EH

Monthly work safety and health meeting to fulfil employees’ daily health and first-aid needs

BRAERITELRERERER  EEREBRREERIHHEX

Regular workshop was conducted on enhancing our security staff knowledge on emergency scenario

management (ie: gas leak, riot and etc).

EMSRTIEY - MEARZETAMESEHERE (PIMRERRRF - RilE) WA= -

During the reporting period, our Group had no material
non-compliance breach with relevant standards,
rules and regulations, and no major accidents were
encountered during operation. Our Group did not have
any work related fatalities in past three years, including
the reporting year. Also, a total of 33 (2021/2022: 24
cases) loss-time injuries incidents were recorded for our
staff (including security guards) during the reporting
period, resulting 1,720 working days lost.
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RiIR  HERERBRES

4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
(continued)

4.6 COVID-19 Response

The COVID-19 continued during the reporting period,
and we adopted a set of contingency procedures,
whereby our staff and contractors shall take all
practicable steps to maintain a hygienic environment
in properties under our management, in the interest
of all personnel who may be present at our managed
properties, including owners, tenants, visitors, as well
as our staff. Our staff are instructed to perform the
following operations as part of their daily routine:

° Regular hand sanitizing

o Regular disinfection of common areas

° Request staff and visitors to wear surgical face

mask

4.7 Equal Opportunities, Workforce Diversity and

Anti-Discrimination

The Group emphasizes on equal opportunity, as our
employment and training and promotion practices do
allow any sort of discrimination on grounds of gender,
disability, pregnancy, family status, race, colour,
religion, age, sexual orientation, national origin, trade
union membership or other conditions recognized in

law.

Our Corporate Policy includes provisions on handling
discrimination, harassment is not tolerated job duty
assignment or career advancement and victimization
in the workplace. In addition, the Group examines the
identification documents of applicants as well as their
QAS certificates and security personnel permits, in
accordance with the Security and Guarding Services
Ordinance (Chapter 460), in order to verify the identity
and qualification of our security guard applicant.

To the Group’s best knowledge, the Group was not
aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and

regulations during the reporting period.
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
(continued)

4.8

4.9

Employee Retirement Arrangement

It is mandatory that all security guards retire upon
reaching the age of 65, and the Security Personnel
Department is entrusted with the responsibility of
ensuring that pension payments are duly processed,
if required. Similarly, it is required that all clerical
staff retire upon reaching the age of 60, and the
Administration Personnel Department is responsible for
following up on pension payments, if necessary.

It is worth noting that the aforementioned employees
may be re-employed after retirement, if deemed
necessary. Nevertheless, the retirement age policy for
each category of employees must be strictly adhered to,
as it is in the best interest of the organization to ensure
that all employees are treated fairly and equitably.

Development and Training

To encourage and motivate career development,
the Group provides different training programs,
including training programmes for security guards
related to working attitude and security knowledge.
Our management and staff were also provided with
case studies, based on incidents that have occurred
in the past, to enhance their management skills and
risk management knowledge. In addition, effect
and updates on relevant regulations, customer
feedback, and new company policy in operations and
accounting were regularly debriefed to our staff to
maintain transparency and consistency throughout our
operation.

The Group has developed a comprehensive set
of training policies for its employees to ensure
their sustainable development, performance, and
continuous acquisition of new industry knowledge and
skills, as well as to match the Group’s new facilities’
technological advancements. In response to the
characteristics of different departments, we have also
established up to 81 training topics to ensure that
employees can apply their knowledge to their work and
continuously improve their efficiency.
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 4, ANERERE(H)

(continued)

4.9 BERZEI ()
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Providing inductions to new hires in Each department is required to Employees in relevant professional
various departments with professional conduct routine professional training field receive regular updates on new
training such as Group’s strategies, to maintain service quality. The industry information and professional
crisis  management, conflicts of security team of large housing estates course materials. Staff working hours
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4.9 Development and Training (continued)

/7 /7
1 ﬂq New facilities Course [ @ Awareness of The Listing Rule
VKA FRERE N AR

Training related to new facilities
that the Group purchases are
received by employees, which
covers issues that may arise during
actual usage and occupational
safety-related matters, among others,

The Group’s lawyers or representatives
regularly provide explanations to
directors and key staff to avoid
breaches of The Listing Rule.
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to prepare in advance for failures
and restoration of operational
efficiency.
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During the reporting period, our Management & Staff
and Security Guards received 1,296 hours and 9,528
hours of training respectively. The Group’s routine
training program provides coverage to all of our
employees during the year. The average training hours
for Management & Staff and Security Guards are 4.1
and 13.0 hours respectively.
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
(continued)

4.10 Labour Standards

4.11

The Group’s operations comply with all applicable
regulations, laws and standards in Hong Kong
associated with labour, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

We are strongly against the use of child and forced
labour. Our management works closely with our Human
Resources department to ensure suitable working
environments are provided to our employees and
prevent the hiring of underage personnel. In the remote
scenario of child labour/forced labour, the employment
with the concerned personnel will be terminated
immediately.

Employees, Customers, And Other Stakeholders

Our Group values positive relationships with our
customers and suppliers, and consider it to be an
important aspect of our business. An open engagement
channel with our customers is maintained through
customer feedback revision meetings, which brings
valuable insights to our operation performance and it
was proven to be effective in allowing us to understand
latest industry trends and to better our services.

Our effective communication strategy features a timely
and accurate disclosure of information, which not only
brings confidence to our shareholders’ and investors’
and being beneficial for investor relations, it also invited
constructive feedback for perfecting our operation.

We will continue the success of our open
communication, and the interactions will be sustained
for a successful working relationship with our
stakeholders in the future.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The main customers of the Group are property developers,
property owners, and tenants. As a property management
related services provider, we understand that maintaining
high-quality service and ensuring the safety of residents
is our top priority. We have established a comprehensive
Quality Policy that requires all employees to provide
customers with the best quality service based on the
principles of “Professional Management and Continuous
Improvement.”

As a responsible property management company, we are
committed to continuously improving service quality and
efficiency, providing employees with adequate and high-
quality training to enhance their knowledge of quality
management. In addition, to ensure the effective operation
of the Group’s quality system, we authorize management
representatives to regularly communicate with the frontline
employees, develop detailed plans, and conduct rigorous
supervision. Management representatives will report directly
to the Board on the implementation of Quality Policy. Our
property management services have been certified by ISO
9001:2015 Quality Management System, I1ISO 14001:2015
Environmental Management System, and ISO 45001:2018
Occupational Health and Safety Management System, which
further confirms the quality of our services.
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Meeting the requirements agreed
upon with customers to ensure
that we are their preferred

Continuously improving service
quality and enhancing efficiency

Providing adequate and high quality
training to enhance employees’
knowledge of quality management
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

Furthermore, our property management team actively
participates in regular meetings with Owners’ Corporation
and residents of managed properties to understand their
satisfaction levels with the services provided and continue
to optimize and improve our service quality. As some of our
services are outsourced to other service providers, these
providers’ service quality is also closely monitored as part of
our Quality Policy. For example, the Security Supervisor is
responsible for monitoring the work of outsourced cleaning
staff to ensure that they have provided services according
to the cleaning terms stated in the contract. If a contractor
is complained about by the same Owners’ Corporation three
times or more, we will send a property manager to work with
the service provider to look for a solution. If the provider
repeatedly fails to improve, we will terminate the contract.

We have developed Emergency Response Procedures to
ensure the safety of residents. These procedures clearly
outline the response mechanisms to various safety incidents
that may occur inside and outside the building, such as
gas leakage, elevator malfunctions, unauthorized building
works, fights/deaths/robberies, etc. Security must follow
the established procedures and take action, report to the
management department, and notify relevant government
departments to ensure that incidents are mitigated and
resolved.

During the reporting period, our subsidiary, Kong Shum
Property Management, received letters of commendation
and appreciation from multiple owners’ corporations,
residents, and the Hong Kong Housing Authority for the
quality of service provided and the professionalism of our
staff. These letters recognized the Group’s ongoing efforts to
maintain service quality and train our staff to a high level of
professionalism. We will continue to maintain this excellent
level of service and strive for continuous improvement.

RIE - HBRELRRES

EmEE (&)

SN MEEREZ RS ERET
REBREF2EEEMENTERE
& 7RISR RIS H W B AR
B - RmFEENEREEE -MH
REBE O RBINHZEMEER
SMHENIRBEETESB(EER
BYPREEREENTEZ— - Bl
REMNRZETEAREERINIBER
THIE UREBSZEIRRAEKE
BIFHRERBEE - A BEKE
—EXEVURZEBRFZRNIIAL - 3
1P 8 I 12 1 2 45 38 B M 1 R B 5 R R
FEWNHEEE A BRILES
#) e

HAIBIE T BN B EHIR 7 ARE
EPNZE  HERBRIHIEED
XA ERENLEEWRRH K
w Bl RESR - BEENIE - HIRE
Z2F/ T BRBESENER
REZABLEBRERIERNITE - L
WEEIEMPI L BAMB BB -
FELR S RIS DA R MR

RIEHA - AL E KB QBB R
EMEERRIZERELRELE
ER;EEFEEZBGMEFMEHM
BERFLRETINEXMEME LN
ATELRCE K B E RSB —E Y EHRS
EREBIJIEIEXEMEENS
N BABEERTEERNORBE

Annual Report 2022/23
2022/23F &
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5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

5.1

5.2

Customer Complaints

The Group has established a set of procedures to review
complaints received associated with our services to
ensure the delivery of top quality service is maintained.
We have established a Complaint Register that records
detailed information, including the reason, date, time,
complainant, follow-up on the incident and responsible
staffs associated with each complaint. To ensure timely
resolution, we have set a requirement to investigate and
address each complaint within five to ten days. Our
property managers proactively monitor the progress
of complaints and identify areas for improvement
on our service quality, while also seeking feedback
from complainants to ensure their satisfaction with
the handling methods and progress. Our property
managers also conduct surprise inspections of
properties under management to monitor whether on-
site and security personnel are fulfilling their duties.

During the reporting period, the Group received 240
(2021/2022: 241 cases) complaints associated with
our services, for which internal reviews have been
performed and appropriate actions have been taken
where required.

Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, procurement
activities associated with the Group’s business
operations is generally limited to purchases of day-to-
day office supplies. In any case, the Group is committed
to limit the environmental impacts associated with its
day-to-day resource consumption, through raising
employee awareness regarding resource consumption
incorporating this awareness to procurement decisions.
When feasible, our staffs are encouraged to prioritize
the purchase of products that have less environmental
impacts.
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5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

5.2 Supply Chain Management (continued)

For service providers, such as cleaning services,
who contracted the Group’s outsourced services, we
have established the policy of Outsourcing Contract
Management to monitor the quality of services provided
by contractors. During the monitoring process, if we
find that the contractor has withheld employee wages
or that the company’s responsible person has violated
criminal law, we will immediately terminate the cleaning
contract to protect the rights of workers in the Group’s
supply chain. Besides, the Occupational Safety,
Health, and Environmental Policy clearly states that in
addition to the Group’s daily operations, contractors and
suppliers must also strive to reduce their impact on the
environment and provide a safe working environment.
When feasible, various environmental protection and
occupational safety and health measures must be
implemented to comply with the Group’s environmental,
occupational health, and safety management system
in order to establish a responsible supply chain for
the environment and employees. The Board of the
Group reviews the Policy every two years, and relevant
management is responsible for reporting on the
implementation status and loopholes to review and draft
the content of the Policy, ensuring that all targets and
measures in the Policy are effectively implemented and
sufficiently supported.

During the reporting period, the Group maintained
partnerships with 21 suppliers and subcontractors from
Hong Kong. To the Group’s best knowledge, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations at our supply chain during the reporting
period.
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5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

5.3

5.4

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group’s business activities in property
management have limited relevance to issues related
to intellectual property rights. However, the Group will
remain alert of situations which may have potential
concerns over intellectual property rights and is
committed to ensure that no violations will take place.

Privacy Protection

The Group’s daily operations involve access to
some personal information of residents, visitors and
employees, and it is possible to collect various personal
information, such as information on visitors’ ID cards,
images recorded by closed-circuit televisions in public
areas of the building etc.

As a responsible property management service
provider, we understand that earning the trust and
support of our residents will also help us better fulfill our
property management responsibilities. We strictly abide
by the Cap.486 Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
and refer to the Protection of Personal Data Privacy —
Guidelines for the Property Management Sector issued
by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal
Data to collect, store and handle the collected personal
data, and only collect personal data that is sufficient but
not excessive while protecting the safety of residents
at the same time; provide a Personal Information
Collection Statement, and post a notice to clearly inform
passers-by that the CCTV is in operation, and setting a
retention period for personal information collected.

In addition to residents, non-residents may enter and
exit the property more frequently due to organizing
activities inside the building or outsourcing cleaning
services during our operations. Therefore, we have
formulated confidentiality measures for personal
information and clear guidelines to ensure all personal
information collected during operation cannot be
obtained or read except the Group’s employees.
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5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

5.4 Privacy Protection (continued)

The Group will continue to assess its activities that
may involve the processing of personal information in
the daily operations, and improve the Group’s internal
control process in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations.

During the reporting period, the Group has operated in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, and
did not identify any violation cases.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

Our Group is strictly complying to all law requirements and
is fully committed in restricting all illegal activities, including
corruption, without exception. The Group requested our
staff to understand and work with us to safeguard our
Group throughout the daily operation to prohibit any form of
corruption, and also prevent money laundering activities.

The Group is also committed to providing quality services to
the properties under its management with reference to the
guidance and best practices provided by the Hong Kong
Construction Management Toolkit. The Group is particularly
mindful of the to the anti-corruption section therein and have
therefore a whistleblowing channel has been established for
reporting inappropriate conduct and other any suspicious
activities which may be conflict with our relevant policies
and guidelines. In order to strengthen our employee’s
understanding on the topic, regular internal trainings were
organized during the reporting period, featuring real-life
cases and recommended countermeasures to avoid non-
compliance activity. A working guideline on “Anti-Corruption
Measures on Account, Security, Construction, Property
Management” is issued to our staff for reference and is
publicly available and fully accessible to all our employees.

RIE - HBRELRRES

5. EmEE (&)

54 FERE(E)

AEBSHENEERTEZEES
RE RS KRR IE B A E R HE
8 WEREBAE IR TES
[ ) A BRI R AR

EREHA  AEE-HETH
BUZRERMRE - WARKBRIME
I EMREED -

R&ES

AREBEIEBTHAERRELES
RIEFARAES  BRES - A%
BMERETTHRIBFESELNEBR
AEEERREAEED HEAMER
MBS RIEEAEEES -

AEBTEN2ERERTERER
EERENEIRREEER  REE
MY ERRREBLRS - NEERHE
BEBRORESE D - By 78
WIRIE - LB AT LB PR E R X
RAMEAEERNTETAMEMT
Al RE A B - AR ERN R E MR ETT
T EHARERE I A pLR B B $ kO |
Z TR WRHEH IHERTERED
MEERMIREZERIERTAO - A
SEpLIgs R ITiEEMEERE
ZRERERIRTTIERSIESE
R BETIFESIHEEBREE AR
EHNMEE -

Annual Report 2022/23
2022/23F &



ANTI-CORRUPTION (continued)

The Group has developed a set of guidelines pertaining to the
staff reporting mechanism. The guidelines aim to facilitate
the employees in reporting any grievances, concerns, or
feedback related to the internal or external affairs of the
organization to their supervisors or senior staff members.
In situations where an employee feels the need to maintain
confidentiality, the employee may choose to report the matter
to the department head or administration manager via written
correspondence or by phone. It is emphasized that all reports
submitted by the employees will be treated as confidential.

The Group has also strictly complied with Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance. It is incumbent upon every employee to
adhere to the guidelines stipulated therein. Specifically, any
employee who intends to accept a benefit, whether in the
form of a monetary reward, red packet, or gift, exceeding
the monetary threshold of HKD500, must notify the human
resources department in advance and secure the necessary
approval from directors or deputy directors.

Moreover, it is imperative that employees exercise caution
and discretion in accepting such benefits. If the acceptance
of a benefit is deemed to impede the objective conduct
of the employee, result in damage to the interests of the
organization, or give rise to any form of bias or misconduct,
it is incumbent upon the employee to decline the benefit in
question.

During the period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023, our
Group was unaware of any action that non-compliance to
legal regulation, and related to corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
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COMMUNITY

Our Group understands that it is important for our business
to both generate profit to our shareholders, and being socially
responsible to care, serve and give back to our community
wherever is needed.

Since 2005, our Group has been receiving the recognition
as a “Caring Company”, awarded annually under the
Caring Company Scheme by The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service (HKCSS). We, and together with our staff,
were dedicated and committed to fully support local charity
organizations, NGOs and their volunteering activities by
allocating a portion of our revenue to build a better local
community.

During the reporting period, the group received a letter of
commendation from the Hong Kong Police regarding our
participation in the “Sky Net Program” organized by the
Sha Tin Police District. The program aims to disseminate
crime and missing person information to security and
property management personnel in the area through
social media platforms, in order to assist law enforcement
officers in quickly eliminating crimes and locating missing
persons. In addition to the “Sky Net Program”, we also
actively participated in promoting the “Caring Communities
for Dementia” Campaign organized by the Jockey Club
Centre for Positive Ageing. The program hopes to promote
information about dementia to caregivers and the public
by combining community networks and expertise in the
technology field. At the same time, the “Caring Communities
for Dementia” mobile application was launched to provide
another way to prevent wandering for dementia patients
and caregivers, helping the Jockey Club Centre for Positive
Ageing expand the community protection network and
providing assistance to patients and their families.
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8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY PERFORMANCE 8. ESGHARBRENISIERE
INDICATORS
ESG Indicators Unit 2022/2023¢ 2021/2022¢
ESGi54E B 2022/2023 ¢ 2021/2022 F-

A.  Environmental Indicators
RERERE
Al Emission
B
Al.1 Type of emissions and respective emissions data
Ry EEREEHERER
Air emissions
FERPENE
Nitrogen oxides Kg 19.80 15
REY Tr
Sulphur oxides Kg 0.19 0.20
ety Tr
Particulate matter Kg 1.46 1.11
BRLY) Tr
Al1.2 Direct (Scope 1), energy indirect (Scope 2) and other
indirect (Scope 3) greenhouse gas emissions and
intensity?
E#E(SEE1) - EREZE (sEE2) RAMEE
(BEI)REREHHEREE?

Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonne 156 170
mEREBHENEE U
GHG emissions intensity Tonne/Per 0.006 0.012
square feet

mERBENAE Wa,/ ¥ HR
GHG emissions (Scope 1) Tonne 34 36
B E RN (EHE—) A
GHG emissions (Scope 2) Tonne 94 89
EREHFN(BE) 7
GHG emissions (Scope 3) Tonne 28 44
mERBHR(HBE= 17

A13 Total hazardous waste produced
FELXEERERNEE
Total hazardous waste produced Tonne 0 0
FEXAEREEYEE 17

Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity”
FELEEREYEEREE"
Total non-hazardous waste produced Tonne 11.7 15.9
EXREEREYEE 07
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RIE - HBRERRES

8. ESGHEENEERE (&)

INDICATORS (continued)
ESG Indicators Unit 2022/2023°  2021/2022°
ESGI5#E By 2022/2023 ¢ 2021/2022 &+
Total non-hazardous waste intensity? Tonne/Per 0.44 0.74
BREBREVNETELES thousand
square feet
W,/
FTEHR
A2 Use of resource
BERER
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in
total and intensity
RERESNEER DHEERERAKERTE
Total energy consumption kWh 362,105 349,482
BERERE TRE
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/Per 13.72 12.07
RRERERE square feet
TRE,/
FEHR
Direct energy consumption kWh 122,964 117,778
ERGEFEERE TRE
Indirect energy consumption kWh 239,141 231,704
BEZEREEREE T LB
Gasoline consumption Liter 12,688 12,263
HE 7
Electricity consumption kWh 239,141 231,704
REE TR
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
BEKEREBE
Water consumption m?3 718 607
FKE SR
Water consumption intensity m3/Per 0.03 0.03
FKERE square feet
NFAKS
SETR
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8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS (continued)

ESG Indicators

ESGHE &

8. ESGHEENEERE (&)

Unit
B

2022/2023¢

2021/2022¢

2022/2023 ¢ 2021/2022 F*

B. Social Indicators
HEEE

B1

B1.1

Gender
sl

Age group
Fhera Rl

Region
b &

Gender

14 5l

Age group
Fherd Rl

Region
i &
B1.2

Employment

E1E

Total workforce by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region

R BRER  FRANREEESH
EEAH

Total number of employees

BT#AZ

Management & General Staff

EER-RET

Male

S

Female

gk

Under 30 y/o

30 AT

30to 40 y/o

30540 7%

41 to 50 y/o

41 5% -507%

51 to 60 y/o

51 5% -60 5%

Over 61 y/o

61 5% IA £

Hong Kong

BB

Security Staff

ZRET

Male

Eol

Female

g

Under 65 y/o

B5FRIA T

Over 65 y/o

655 A £

Hong Kong

BB

Employee turnover rate by gender and age group

EMBIRFRARNESNEERALLE

Management & General Staff

EER-RET

Total employee turnover rate

EERRKLX

Shi Shi Services Limited
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Percentage

B

1651

140
176
34
58
81
87
56

316

893
442
687
648

1,335

51%

1,765

122
175
56
83
80
39
39

297

1024
444
768
700

1,468

46%
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SUMMARY OF ESG KEY PERFORMANCE 8. ESCGHARENIEERE (&)
INDICATORS (continued)
ESG Indicators Unit 2022/2023°  2021/2022°
ESG 152 By 2022/2023 ¢ 2021/2022 &+
Gender Male Percentage 53% 58%
1l S A7
Female Percentage 49% 38%
e AT
Security Staff
ZRET
Total employee turnover rate Percentage 57% 76%
EEBRALLE Ao
Age group  Under 65 y/o Percentage 53% 68%
Fie#HRl 65T Ao
Over 65 y/o Percentage 61% 85%
65 A A7
B2 Health and safety
REHEZ2
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities
AIEREMETHABRLER
Number of work-related fatalities Case 0 0
ETEMEME T H A =
Rate of work-related fatalities Percentage 0 0
H T ERR LT /) A B R Btk
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury Day 1,720 N/A
EIGEAIFEEH A A iE A
B3 Development and training
BRERE
B3.1 Percentage of employees trained by gender and N/A N/A
employee category®
EMARESEREINZIEET L. N3 A N 3E A
B3.2 Average training hours completed per employee by

gender and employee category
EHRIREEERE S  BEREXTAZIIN

T RE
Management & General Staff
EER-RET
Total training hours of employees Hour 1,296 N/A
EEXIERK /N i FA
Average training hours of employees Hour 4.1 N/A
BB FHXIFR /N TE A
Security Staff
ZRET
Total training hours of employees Hour 9,528 N/A
EEXIBRK /INBF TEA
Average training hours of employees Hour 13.0 N/A
BB FHZIRER AN i F
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RiIR  HERERBRES
8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY PERFORMANCE

INDICATORS (continued)

ESG Indicators
ESGi54E

Unit
B

2022/2023¢

8. ESGHEENEERE (&)

2021/2022¢

2022/2023 ¢ 2021/2022 F*

B5 Supply chain management
HEgEEE
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region
R BE S NHEREE
Hong Kong
i
B6 Product responsibility
EmER
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons
EENCEXERBETRART T EEEIZAMA
Bl =R
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints
received
BREMAREmKREHIRFEE
B7 Anti-corruption
RES
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practises brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period
REBPAHBTAREEERHICELEN
BEEHRARENEE
Number of corruption lawsuits
B RARETNER
B8 Community investment
HERE
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area
EEIERMBRAEIR
Donation to underprivileged
Al 5984 BE R R
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B B AR A5 PR 2 7

Suppliers
HIER

Percentage

Bk

Case

=
N

Case

=
ZN

HK$
B

21

240

22
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SUMMARY OF ESG KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(d)

Indicator A1.2 greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) include direct
GHG emissions generated from gasoline vehicles; greenhouse gas
emissions (Scope 2) include indirect GHG emissions from purchased
electricity; greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3) include methane
emissions from landfilled waste paper, GHG emissions due to
electricity used for fresh water processing by the Water Services
Departmen, and gGHG emissions due to electricity used for sewage
processing by the Drainage Services Department.

The total amount of non-hazardous waste is mainly estimated based
on the "Hong Kong Solid Waste Monitoring Report: 2021 Waste
Statistics" published by the Environmental Protection Department.

The calculation of the intensity of each environmental indicator is
based on the office floor area that used by the Group's main business
operations as of the end of the financial year.

Part of the data for the previous year are restated for comparison
pUrposes;

The Group has not divided and analyzed training data by gender and
employee type categories.

R -

EE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

HERERBRES

8. ESGHEENEERE (&)

EIRALREZREBHNE (BE—) B
AT EREENERRER aJiFEﬁZ
B ER EJJFESZE(%@":)’T%M\E%
EEMEEREREHN BAERE TJF
Eﬁlg(%ﬁﬁ:)ﬁ”@ BE AR AR R
PREERF LT - KIEEEE RKE R
BENMBAAEREBHMIERBERLE
KRR E N EREEREEBEN

BEEEREMEEIZZEARFRER
PrEgth 2 (BB EIBBEME S WS « 2021
FREMA L.ﬁ%(%ﬁﬁfﬂ“ﬁé o

BERVEETENFEOERBENK
FEEEIZEBEETHEABLE
RERFATE

LFEREHDBEFEINERLLEAE;

SERZMSIRIEES RS D ROWE

BlE-¢:
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9. ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX 9. ESG# &5
Key Performance Indicators Reporting Section
AEENER HEEEH

Environmental BB 1%
A1: Emissions 3t 4

General Disclosure 3.6 Air Emission
—PRIRER RES BERY
(a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and 37 refnfigse Qas Emission
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating s
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and 3.8 Waste Management
' REEYEIR

land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. ) )

BRI RR ERBHN - FUKRLEHS  AEREER O ronmental Compliance
EYREESH () KE D) BT HRTALBEALE0ERE o
ERBHIER -

Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
HER R R AR BERUE K PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESGRRENIEIEHE
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) 8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
greenhouse gas emissions and intensity. PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
BEE(#HE]L) kepkHEE (SHE2) AZERBHRERTE - ESGAARAERIEIZME
A1l.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. 8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
MELEEREEMEENRTE - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESGARAERIEIZME
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
PELBREEEVEENRTE - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESGARAEBIEIZHME
A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken Greenhouse gas emissions are not the
to achieve them. most important issues for the Group’s
W PRI Y MBEME B R R AERELEE R current operations, so this indicator is
FREREXH) B8 © not applicable.

B R A R B TR R T
SUFRAETHE - HULEEL T
A -

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 3.8 Waste Management
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps REZEYE IR
taken to achieve them.
REEBEERESEEMN L - REMATE] L RE
BEERAEIELEB MR LR -

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) 9.

Key Performance Indicators
BREAENES

RIE - HBRELRRES

ESG# & 51 &5l ()

Reporting Section
HEEEH

A2: Use of Resources & R 1§ F

General Disclosure

—MR R

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials. Resources may be used in production, in
storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, etc.

EREAER(BRERIR - KEREMERME) BB - BRI A
REE - #FfF B BF STRE-

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total and intensity.
RENESNEE R JHEEER(WNE - Ron) BFE=
REE -

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity.
BFEKERTE °

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
A PRET B BE IR R AR ER B 1R R R B35 L B iR AT ERER
B 2B o

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
it SR EGE A KR Er] B ERIERE - AR AKEE B R R
REDE L B R ERERE) 225K o

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
X mMATABEMENEE () REEEEMGEE -

3.2 Use of Resources

BIREH

8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESGRARGEIIERRE

8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESGRARE IR R M E

3.3 Electricity
B

The Group uses water supplied by the
government, thus there is no issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
Due to the nature of the Group’s
business, consumption of water from
our operations is not very significant and
is of limited materiality.

A& B2 A BT H B KR - I &
SRERGE A7KR EE R B - AR AE
EEBLE  KLEHELNKE
REEFEY TENEEESEAR ©

Due to the nature of the Group’s
business, packaging materials are

not used in daily business activities
and services, so this indicator is not
applicable. AR ANEBE R XK MEE -
ASKEEHRRBELTSEABE
W LIRS N EA -

Annual Report 2022/23
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiR  HERERBRES

9. ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) 9. ESG 3% #5353 (&)

Key Performance Indicators Reporting Section
AEENER HEEEH

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources I35 & X R &R

General Disclosure 3.2 Use of Resources
— MR &RER
3.6 Air Emission

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the 88 B 1
environment and natural resources. R

RIRTT A LIRS R XA REREAYENERE - S SO Ses Fmissien
/m £ Kl H=2

3.8 Waste Management

BEEMER
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 3.2 Use of Resources
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to ERER
manage them. 3.6 Air Emission
R EREHHRBERRAERNEAZERERKNERE RESHEN
BT ENITE - 3.7 Greenhouse Gas Emission

= RS BE
3.8 Waste Management

FEEYER
A4: Climate Change & 1& %1t
General Disclosure 3.1 Our Consideration for Climate
— MR Change

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related BMBEBERIEELZERE
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the

issuer.
BRI REHERERAIREEHETAEEATENERARIZHEBSE
BEHRIBE o
A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 3.1 Our Consideration for Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the Change
actions taken to manage them. BMEBEREELZERE

WA RN REEHETAELERENERRKRRSE
" MEHTTH -

Shi Shi Services Limited
O) BEBRBERAT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) 9.

Key Performance Indicators
BREAENES

RIE - HBRELRRES

ESG# & 51 &5l ()

Reporting Section
HEEEH

Social #t &
B1: Employment {& &

General Disclosure

—R R

(a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ERAFMEMEE BEREN ITERE RE - TEHEg %
TeAb ~ SUBRAR DA e Ho A 455 38 K AR A HY (@) BUR (b) BT ¥ 37T A
BERTENHEBEERBOINER -

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

RIER - EBERE  FRAKKNES HHES AR -

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

TR - FRRARRIESDHEERKLLE -
B2: Health and Safety 2R Z =

General Disclosure

— PRI EE

(a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

FARBRLZE2TIEFRERRERERECBENSELEEN (@)K
ROVEFHETATEAZENHBERZLRANER

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting year.
BE=F (BREERFE) A TIEBEMILTHABNEEE -

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
EATEEEATELH -

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
MM ERERLEEE - ARABRITRER
FE e

4.1 Employment
=

4.2 Employee Emolument
1 & %7 o

4.3 Remuneration Committee
FMEES

4.4 Retirement Benefit Scheme
RIKAE A ETE

4.7 Equal Opportunities, Workforce
Diversity and Anti-Discrimination
TERE BB NET I RRER

4.8 Employee Retirement Arrangement
B ITRRZHE

8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESGRARGIIERRE

8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESGRARGEBIERME

4.5 Occupational Health and Safety
BEREERZR

4.6 COVID-19 Response
Jf& ¥ COVID-19

4.5 Occupational Health and Safety
BEREERZR

4.5 Occupational Health and Safety
BERREZE

4.5 Occupational Health and Safety
BEERERZS

4.6 COVID-19 Response
Jf& ¥t COVID-19

Annual Report 2022/23
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9. ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) 9.

Key Performance Indicators
BREANES

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiIR  HERERBRES

ESG# & 51 &5l ()

Reporting Section
HEEEH

B3: Development and Training 3% /& & 3% 3l

General Disclosure

— PRI FE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

ERRARERITLIEBENMHE R EENBUER - HEIE
F o

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category.
RHRIREBEMESNZIEEET DL -

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

BHERINEERERE Y  BREESTHIINMFHEE -
B4: Lahour Standards %% T %£ 8

General Disclosure

— PRI EE

(a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

BEAP IEE Tk %% TH) (@) BER (D) BTHEITABEAR
SHHEEERAOINER

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.
fltg s BB AR R ET KR HIZ T -

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
T B IR RIS B R B BB ST ERER A 28R o

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7

4.9 Development and Training
R LA

The Group has not divided and analyzed
training data by gender and employee
type categories
SEARZERNREESRERE S
=g

8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESG B R RUIE R M2

IS &R

4.10 Labour Standards
25 TAEA

4.10 Labour Standards
& T 2R

4.10 Labour Standards
4 THA



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued)

Key Performance Indicators
BREAENES

9.

RIE - HBRELRRES

ESG# & 51 &5l ()

Reporting Section
HEEEH

B5: Supply Chain Management {£ F& 85 & 1%

General Disclosure
— MR

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply

chain.
EEMEENIREREERBBUR

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

it e D M ERHEA -

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and

how they are implemented and monitored.

it A RERAEENNED  MERITEEENHER

HE UAREFEBHNOMITRESR
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental

and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

it A R R e B B EER B IR At 2 R B D -

AR ABRABMIT RERTA

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally

JIVE e

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,

and how they are implemented and monitored.
A SRR H B (2 2 MIRIRE m RIS RIE B - A

KABRBEFNMITRERTTE -

5.2 Supply Chain Management
e IR

8. SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESG RS AR UE IR M 2

5.2 Supply Chain Management
HrEEEe

5.2 Supply Chain Management
HEHEE R

5.2 Supply Chain Management
e

Annual Report 2022/23
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiR  HERERBRES

9. ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) 9. ESG 3% #5353 (&)

Key Performance Indicators Reporting Section
BAEENER HEEEH

B6 : Product Responsibility = & = 1T

General Disclosure 5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
— R EmafT

(a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

BUAFRHERNMRENREERZE  BES  SRE8ELAELEE
NARTER (@) BUR (b) ETHEITABEATENEAEE
KIRBIB)E#L -

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls  This indicator is not applicable as the

for safety and health reasons. Group’s operations do not manufacture
EENEREXEMEHPRAZEEZFREAMBRKAE products.
paNs A MR AEENEBER T BEEE

o BULRIRE ER -

B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received 5.1 Customer Complaints
and how they are dealt with. PR
BFEBREMRRGHIZFEE UAREH 7 A -

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 5.3 Intellectual Property Rights

intellectual property rights. M ER
B R RFE M EEB EMIEH -

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
procedures. EmEE

Wl mERTEAENMERDBIERF -

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 5.4 Privacy Protection

and how they are implemented and monitored. TLEIRE
HAUEBESBRERLEBEEE - UREERITRERA
V% o

Shi Shi Services Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued)

Key Performance Indicators

RIE - HBRELRRES

ESG# & 51 &5l ()

Reporting Section

BRENEE WEZE
B7 : Anti-corruption R &35
General Disclosure 6. ANTI-CORRUPTION

— MR EE

(a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRAM LIRS - B3 MGEFRONERER @ BUR ¢ M (b) @~ 8%

TABERFZENHEBEENBEOINER

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

RERPAHETAREBERLIEELENE

VB RFRER -

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.
b EE e R B MR - AR BRI TRERGE -

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors

and staff.
HAmEERE I RENREFE -
B8 : Community Investment i &% &

General Disclosure
— R

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities

take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BN R2ERERETASEMELREZMBRELRS

ABEERLRMEOBER

B&.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

HIEREE (HE REFE SIHK @F e

B85 -

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIBRBAHAER (M EHFFRE) o

8.

6.

7.

7.

8.

k&S

SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESG BAREBIEERE

. ANTI-CORRUPTION

RES

ANTI-CORRUPTION
k&R

COMMUNITY
el

COMMUNITY
o

SUMMARY OF ESG KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
ESGRARGEBIERM R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiIR  HERERBRES

10. FEEDBACK 10. &8

We appreciate you taking the time to read our 2022/2023 TRk At A e R P B R 3k (P9 RY 2022/2023
ESG Report. In order to successfully implement the Group’s ESGHE - BT E R AEERA]
sustainable development vision and meet the expectations BEERES  WHEAHZHEBEEN
of our stakeholders, we place great value on your HE BMETERENER B
opinions, which play a critical role in shaping our business BERMOEFRBEREBPEEZEZH
development strategies. FEEMER-

Below questionnaire can enable us to understand the TENESAAERMTRHREEEE
changes in your expectations and concerns to the Group FBHEEMEENE (L - WA R
business and evaluate our sustainable performance, you're MR ERE - ANECITIES R
warmly welcomed to offer your suggestions by filling out the B WIH RGN - AR R -

guestionnaire and send back to us.

1.

Which stakeholder group do you belong to?

EERER G ERE?

O Government and Regulatory O Customers/Tenants O Media/NGO
Bodies BR/HP B8 IERAT AR B
BT MDA RR s

O Shareholders and Investors O Suppliers/Sub-contractors O Others (Please specify)
RERMIEEE HER,HBH Hh (GFAEHA)

O Employees O Community
BT ol

Do you think whether this report adequately addresses your expectations and concerns?
BRREBRERERDMETENHENBE?
O Yes & O Basically —#% ONo&”

Do you helieve that the quantitative information presented in this report is impartial, accurate, and reliable?
BREARBFTBEFERNELFEERALE ERMAEMN?
O Yes =& O Basically —f& ONo &

Do you find the content in this report to be well-structured and comprehensible?
BREARETBENABEBEN - ZREMR?
O Yes =& O Basically —#& ONo#&

Do you have any other opinions and suggestions on our ESG performance and disclosure?
CHEMPVESGRANBERSFHMSRNER?

Ans &2

Please return your feedback through following ways:

Mail: Unit 903, 9 Floor, Haleson Building, 1 Jubilee Street, Central, Hong Kong
Email: ir@shishiservices.com.hk

Fax: (852) 21554114

mEBAN T IR IEREHRE -

HEMmu - FEPRBEENEIREAANEIEI03=

BT E 4 : ir@shishiservices.com.hk

558 :(852) 21554114

Shi Shi Services Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

th

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SHI SHI SERVICES LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shi Shi
Services Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 119 to 214, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

B ZBERE

I

ZHONGHUI

BEEBRERRAT ZKRR
(RAEEHETMALLFRZI )

=z
=

BEEEERHIINFELI9OE214 B B R
BERRR ([EAR) REKEB QR (5
BIEKE)WESYHRE EFEE
M2023 43 A31 BN A MBHRRE - #
EZHLEFENGRER KEMEHE WS
ROEERAREPHRLGAATRER
AR R B mERME (BREZSBER
BE) -

EE.%%?J)%

EERE  REVERREBREEE ST
MAg([BFae]) BHENEEHN
HIREER ([BEYBREER ] EEM
FERM®T BE5£BEMN2023F3A31H
MG ETBERRAREEZB LFENLGA
PFHEERRMGEARERE Y EBRES
RNAVED R R T B o

EROER

BEEERBEEESTMASEMNEER
AR ((EBENENDETET -BF
ERFEA TAENEICEESNRE
[ZBEN BT R A W MR ATEN BT
MoPEE— PR - REFEB SR
SRMHNEX G BESTRAI(TFA) -
BEEBYRN EEE YEETTRITH
Hih BXBEEEE - TZEE TEME
BHEFREERARLEEHRESFTNE
RIRHER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and
equipment for impairment. This impairment test is significant
to our audit because the balance of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$92,945,000 as at 31 March
2023 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

— Assessing the identification of the related cash
generating units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations;

—  Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal
growth rate and discount rates);

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence;

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by the Company;

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7

BRRETER

ARBFFHIREESNEEHE - R
RSB ARHERE ﬁﬂ‘“iﬁi@ﬁ’]ﬁﬁrﬁ—ﬁixm
%IE&’%E%%IEEE”T? BV BmRERE

TEALTRERNE R TETRIEN -

BESETHELSHRREAEBNER

i) W% BERRE
IRt A M mR MR 18 o

SEEME  BEMRESEET
ﬁ@%ﬁ HRYE  BERERER
20234 3 A 31 B4 #r4792,945,000

THGEETEREAMSBEKR W
REAREEENETME BE
Rosh - EEERRENSS KE
FB# I R Z 1B AR K ET o

EENEEFEE(HPaE)
- E\‘—HE 5\7&. E’]/DME n‘Hﬁ

— SRHEBRSELERABIT
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— FEERAEBEENEHSER
M

— BEBReREHIRERETEA
EITH L

- AEEIERR (BRKSER
AP R %%Jﬁﬁi'ﬁiﬁﬂﬂifﬁ?—)
BWEEM

- BREXFEENBABE:

—  FHhE ERRMAEREBINEfEER
E’Jéﬁ% BN D RS



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

@

(ii)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

—  Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model; and

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidences.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property,
plant and equipment is supported by the available evidence.

Investment properties
Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investment properties at fair value
with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss. This fair value measurement is significant to
our audit because the balance of investment properties of
HK$40,400,000 as at 31 March 2023 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
fair value measurement involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by the Company;

—  Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement
in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property,
plant and equipment is supported by the available evidence.

B ZBERE

BEETEE ()

(i

(ii)

Y3 - BER&E (&)

—  HSINERAERS KEINEAE
Efﬁ HIAN G ERRF - A7
EAERRZFHHEEARE
RAVER R BRR AT 5 E R E 5
At EIE R

- BREHERATBVEZNEAXN
{EJ RSB AR -

51:'7"—1—?3 E\m.ﬁLmi ﬁ%&ﬂi

BB RIS TS DA P (S ) SRR S8 o
REWE
IR R A M HmRMEL -

EEE%Z /AME?EEI&E%%@E
REGFEEETPHERALEES - AR
?Qiéf%%ﬁ’\\2023$3ﬂ3153@%ﬁ$
40,400,000/ TT £ 457 & ﬁﬁkiﬁi\%ﬁﬁ:
BEKX #HUtAREF = LM
ST EBEK o - ;\%lm@fﬁ
B2 RERHABITERZHERR
MA&Ef o

ENETREFER/R(EPER)

— FHE ERRMAREBINEfLER
E B S ) MBEIE

—  EBUSINEREERE KEIMNEEE
A& m AR A B - TR
EARAR I FHERAMBE
RAEN R BB T 5 E B E &
bt EE

- RE[MERAFAREENEKX
AR K A BUE

- BREHEEANEMERE &

— FMEGAFBHmREAR
BB 55 o

EEHE

EEus BEEAMVE BER
SRR T L AR B
5 o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

(iii) Trade receivables
Refer to Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of trade receivables of approximately
HK$87,813,000 as at 31 March 2023 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is
based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit
limits and credit periods to customers;

—  Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction
history with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
—  Assessing ageing of the debts;
—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the customers;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade
receivables is supported by the available evidence.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7

FRRETEE ()

B 5 BYWHRE
LIRS R TE27
BEEEANDE S EKFTENRES
B AN B ZEIGIAR 20233 A
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REE e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s

website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number PO6353

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023

Shi Shi Services Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REeBERkAEtMEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FETT

Revenue Y &= 7 547,375 524 951
Cost of services Bk 75 A A (452,864) (424,665)
Gross profit EH 94,511 100,286
Interest revenue A B U = 8 1,429 458
Other income and expenses, net N N B 9 10,858 3,280
Share of loss of associates DL E QARS8 (5,094) (8,133)
Administrative expenses THAX (79,243) (70,377)
Other operating expenses HiZERE (41,201) (32,437)
Impairment of investments in associates Bt A &) 2 IR ERIE (1,721) (4,428)
Impairment of property, plant and W% - BB RERERE

equipment (814) (7,049)
Impairment of goodwill EESERE - (2,132)
Impairment of trade receivables g 5 EWFIERE (4,747) (2,197)
Listing expenses Eaiil 53 - (941)
Finance costs B & R R 11 (595) (664)
Loss before tax BRBi AT B 18 (26,617) (24,334)
Income tax expense Fri8 i X 14 (2,147) (1,615)
Loss for the year FREE 12 (28,764) (25,949)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income, HtZm (BIxx), "W -

net of tax NKRBE
Items that will not be reclassified to profit — #-1 8 E# 748 2 18 25 /Y

or loss: EH -
Gain on property revaluation Y E G 2 W= 2,426 -
Items that may be reclassified to profitor A BEE #7748 2 18 25 7 TH

loss: A :
Exchange differences on translation of BMEBINEBREAZ

foreign operation bE H ERE (5,379) 2,848
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FRAHEMEE (X))

for the year U &= (2,953) 2,848
Total comprehensive expense for the year FR2EF X% (31,717) (23,101)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REEEREMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FTER FHETT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: THEHEEFR (BE)
A
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIE F DN (28,802) (25,949)
Non-controlling interests IR S 38 -
(28,764) (25,949)
Total comprehensive expense/(income) THEAEEFEFRZEBY
for the year attributable to: (Was) 4858
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEF =N (31,755) (23,101)
Non-controlling interests IR S 38 -
(31,717) (23,101)
Loss per share BREE
Basic (HK$) EARGET) 15 (0.026) (0.025)
Diluted (HK$) s (B7T) 15 (0.026) (0.025)

Shi Shi Services Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R

As at 31 March 2023 202343531 H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FHETT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - BN 18 92,945 97,510
Investment properties "EYE 19 40,400 30,300
Intangible assets mEEE 20 162 215
Right-of-use assets TREEE 21 9,907 9,915
Goodwill BES 23 1,100 1,100
Deposits placed for life insurance HASREBREFAN
policies Be 24 9,340 9,155
Deferred tax assets FRETRIBE & 25 2,379 2,744
Investments in associates REEE RRIRIRE 26 8,708 6,237
Prepayments, trade and other FENEIE - E5 REM
receivables J& U SR8 27 - 4,500
164,941 161,676
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, trade and other FENEIE - 5 REM
receivables & U SR8 27 120,300 165,002
Pledged bank deposits BEEMIRITER 28 - 574
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIAELEEY 29 79,139 67,696
Current tax assets BNEAFH IR & B 1,614 2,837
201,053 236,109
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables g5 kEAMENFRIA 30 63,974 71,127
Contract liabilities AHEE 31 2,418 6,227
Bank and other loans RITREMERK 32 5,925 9,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 4,084 3,094
Current tax liabilities BNEAf IR B (& 1,684 2,360
78,085 91,808
Net current assets REEEFE 122,968 144,301
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR &

As at 31 March 2023  1R2023%#3 /31 H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ok FExT FHETT
Total assets less current liahilities WEERRBARS 287,909 305,977
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 33 6,010 7,017
Bank and other loans RIT R HEMER 32 2,137 -
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 25 1,456 571
9,603 7,588
NET ASSETS BEEFE 278,306 298,389
Equity R
Share capital L@ 34 11,290 11,290
Reserves ] 37 262,527 287,099
Equity attributable to owners of the KATEE ARMLER
Company 273,817 298,389
Non-controlling interests FEFRE AL B = 4,489 -
TOTAL EQUITY B 278,306 298,389

The consolidated financial statements on pages 119 to 214 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix

Shi Shi Services Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202343531 H1-F/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

AARBREAEL
Foreign
Share Share-based Property currency Non-
Share premium Merger payment Other  revaluation  translation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve resere resene resene Teserve profits Total interests equity
WA I e
ks REEER  AHEE  RERE  EMEE  EMBE  BERE  REEN At FBRER  ERAE
HK$000 HK$000 HKS 000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T T T T ThEn Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin
At 1 Apri 2021 RA21E4A1R 10,204 179975 4790 - - - 1,405 1225771 318971 - 318971
Awrd shares granted under TR R R
share award plan Bl - - - 2519 - - - - 2519 - 2519
Issuance of award shares HIRARHA 1,026 - - - (1,026) - - - - - -
Total comprehensive (expense)income  EARE (%) /88
for the year - - - - - - 2818 (25949) (23,100) - (23100
At 31 March 2022 RANE3A31AE 11,29 179975 4750 2519 (1,026) - 4253 9%,628 293,389 - 293,389
At 1 April 2022 RANELALA 11,20 179,975 4750 2519 (1,026) - 4253 96,628 298,389 - 298,389
Award shares granted under TR R B
share award plan £ - - - 8,976 - - - - 8,076 - 8,976
Award shares vested ERENZERD - 10,469 - (11499 1,026 - - - - - -
Change in ownership inerests in BEEHE
subsiciaries without change of control -~ EEITHHBARBEED - - - - - - - (1,793) (1,793) 4451 2,65
Total comprehensive (expenselfincome ~ EA2E (B) /88
for the year - - - - - 2,426 (5,379) (28,802) (31,755) k] (31,717)
At 31 March 2023 HABE3A31A 11,290 190,444 4,750 - - 2426 (1,126) 66,033 13817 4489 278,306
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETEFERESRE
Loss before tax (G300 Ei=! (26,617) (24,334)
Adjustments for: MTYSIBIELAE :
Finance costs B & B AR 595 664
Interest revenue F B W= (1,429) (458)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% « H/E LR ETE 7,235 10,600
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEERE 3,788 4,648
Premium charged on life insurance policies ASRBIREMKERE 115 105
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - RELRENER
equipment - 135
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERE 36 157
Share-based payment expenses LARR D AT B sRIB A X2 8,976 2,519
Share of loss of associates DL E QR EE 5,094 8,133
Gain on bargain purchase of an associate —fEE AR EZEBEE WEa (4,786) -
Impairment of investments in associates KRBt R R ERRE 1,721 4,428
Impairment on property, plant and equipment ¥1% - B /E & & ERE 814 7,049
Impairment on trade receivables g 5 R FIERE 4,747 2,197
Impairment on goodwill R E - 2,132
Fair value loss on investment property KEMENRAEEE 100 -
389 17,975
Change in prepayments, trade and other FEMRIE - B 5 REMER
receivables TXIE B B 41,521 (18,454)
Change in trade and other payables g5 N H MR FRIEE (7,821) (8,768)
Change in contract liabilities BRHBEEH (4,104) 3,193
Cash generated from operations KEEE RS 29,985 (6,054)
Interest paid 2 HE (60) (74)
Lease interest paid EHEERNE (535) (590)
Income tax paid EATTEH (350) (1,807)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating ReESEE TS (FTA)
activities ReFH 29,040 (8,525)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEHFERSRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BELZE (16,707) (25,606)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits EEMRITER B 574 -
Interest received 2 F B 1,129 160
Deposit paid for acquisition of an associate WE—RBE A R cEMZe - (4,500)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFTAREFE (15,004) (29,946)

Shi Shi Services Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ﬂﬁfﬁiﬁﬁﬁ?@iﬁﬁﬁi
Repayment of bank and other loans fEESRTT REAMEF (9,000) (5,354)
Bank and other loans raised FTEEMIRIT REMER 2,137 9,000
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE \ (3,797) (4,474)
Proceeds from disposal of interest in RAETKRE Hrﬁ'HET Eofnkc=
subsidiaries without loss of control BB~ A HE = M PT IS 3R0E 2,658 -
Net cash used in financing activities METETARS R (8,002) (828)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReERBEESEYE M
CASH EQUIVALENTS (RA) F5 6,034 (39,299)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEBTERE ) » & (516) 1,667
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F¥38 & MRS EFEEY 67,696 105,328
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRASKRBEEEEY 73,214 67,696
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERBSE/U BRI
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTH 8 79,139 67,696
Bank overdrafts RITEX (5,925) -
73,214 67,696
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

GENERAL INFORMATION

Shi Shi Services Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. Its shares are
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The address of its registered office is at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is Unit 903, 9 Floor, Haleson Building, 1 Jubilee
Street, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), and all values are rounded to
thousand (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2022. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to
state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of investment properties which is carried at its fair
value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@)

Consolidation (continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties, to determine whether it has
control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling interests and owners of the
Company.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7

3. EXREFEXEGE

(@)

RERE (&)

REHEIEHER - AREEEE
HEERERAREMEFRHE
VEEREE  URHEAE LTS
- -BERERENBBEARS
BERENITEZENE S TIAE
& o

B AR E A EERGEEE
AR —ERAAR EEXAD
HIER B AL -

RRERIENM B AR HER S
BB ETEA TR ZEE ¢ (i)
HEREBEALEMMERRMR
BOVEEIRE N QB M () AR
GIER A = PNCIE - V=95 S =S
ZHIE AR A BT ESREE
RAEARINE R E F AR
HEE

ESEEARRIERS - EHKk

BRaEMNEHE - RIERS
hA BRI R A E LB
B BRIKRERERTEHH -
HEARNEABRRENERER
B DARR R B R 52 (B P ER A R ER
B2

RS P E KA RE
MARE 2B R RS - FFE
Peigas ) 2R &R A MBI &
MR EaESBR 2 EmP - IF
RS IE R IR R E AR
AR A2 DA F i
BiELEEREREZIINGEE
BEMEMEEmWERLE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@)

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-
date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Company’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the
Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
method of measuring impairment losses of goodwill
is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are
not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of
impairment testing.

(@)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

()

Business combination and goodwill (continued)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint
control over those policies. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by
other entities, are considered when assessing whether
the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to
exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at
the end of each reporting period when there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(d)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, and its share of the post- acquisition movements in
reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the
associate subsequently reports profits, the Group
resumes recognising its share of those profits only after
its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

3. EXREFEXEGE

(©

(d)

B nE) ()

all

AEBRAEE QR 2 WBRE
M BENEFEBEATER - M
FE(E BB 1R [ 2 B RIMNAR
BREERAER - R 2 WBER
HHNRERMETHE - f[A
SEEEBE AR ZBEENK
BBEEZBE AR 2Em - B
FEAL AR B At 8 4R R W R 0R - K
SETSERE—FTEE KRIF
AEBDREBERREES TN
TEHTAR Bt s R R &S
mA o AEREEEREIGENF
RARTEREE BB T @ k1B i

REBEZST DA -

AEBEHBENAR G2 KE
B K H 2 AR BRI 2 A A
2 - BRIFR BB EBRBER
BREELTME KREREBR
e RE - BEnmZ a5t
RETFHE) (WM E) AR A
SERMBER 2

HEEBE
() WERZHEK

AEEREERYBERRAN
HE  GURBERREEME
TREERIZNER (1788
B E -HEPBHRE
ABTES BT RARE
MIEEER M 258 -

Annual Report 2022/23
2022/23F &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency translation (continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recoghised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives are as
follows:

Land and building Over the lease term

Leasehold improvement 20%
Furniture and fixture 10%
Motor vehicles 30%
Office equipment 25%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An
investment property is measured initially at its cost
including all direct costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is
stated at its fair value based on valuation by an external
independent valuer. Gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value of the investment property are
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in
profit or loss.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property because its usage has changed,
any difference between the carrying amount and the fair
value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised as
a revaluation of property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

Leases
The Group as leasee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of- use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land use rights 2%-5%
Motor vehicles 30%
Equipment 20%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs
and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below US$5,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9) Leases (continued)
The Group as lessor

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis

over the term of the relevant lease.
(h) Intangible assets

Customer contracts

Customer contracts with finite useful lives that are
acquired through business combination are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5
years. The estimate useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted

for on a prospective basis.

Computer software

Computer software are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated

useful lives of 4 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(i)

0

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

0)

(k)

Financial assets (continued)
(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if
they satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost.
Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument
at an amount equal to the expected credit losses that
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected
credit losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

U]

(m)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to
adjust the loss allowance at the end of the reporting
period to the required amount is recognised in profit or
loss as an impairment gain or 10ss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting

period.

(o) Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be

received.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

(p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

() Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7

3. EXREFEXEGE

(n)

(0)

(P)

(a)

BE

EENTRAENGRIELSN
RPRATER - BIRABRRF =
R BIERAGTE -

BRIEARNER B A A E RIS
BENGEEREEREHRRD
fA SAEERERRBAE

S m

o

BT 5 BY

BFHBNEERENEEE T
P PR 755 1R A7 LA % S JEE R 5 B B
MR -

1EREELF X HEE 2 U
Esptis T RSB BN B 75 ik
B £ 1 48 K 2R AR B A AN 2 R 7
B AR EMGRIR AR B &
FERR o

B5 REAMENFRIE

B 5 MEMBENFIENFRAR
BEFIRR - Hig A ERA X ERE
HRAGTE - BRIFREIRMFEYL
PEX EER MERASIR -

EBmIA
ANRABIFTE TR T AL E WA

SRE (MBRERBEITAS) A
E\EO



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference
to the customary business practices and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised product or
service exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted
for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the
terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over
time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time,
revenue is recognised by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the
product or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s)

(t)

Other revenue

Revenue from the rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs and involves
the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(Y Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Bonus plan

v)

The expected bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus
plans are expected to be settled within 12 months
and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain employees, directors and
consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors
and employees are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group'’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non market-based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to
consultants are measured at the fair value of the
services rendered or if the fair value of the services
rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted. The fair
value is measured at the date the Group receives
the services and is recognised as an expense.

If the share options granted are not exercised after
the vesting period, the share option reserve is
transferred to the retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u)

(v)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to
the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during
the period, other than borrowings made specifically for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax
credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model of the Group whose business
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties
are measured based on the expected manner as to how
the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Company or of a parent of
the Company.

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity)
if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

3. EXREFEXEGE

(w) BEABET ()

(x)

(b) (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or to a
parent of the Company.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business in
different geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets except goodwill, investment property, deferred
tax assets, investments and receivables to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(2)

(aa)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of
the reporting period or those that indicate the going
concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

(@

(b)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties are not held under
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred tax
for investment properties, the directors have adopted
the presumption that investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered through sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(i)  Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional
valuer to assess the fair value of the investment
properties. In determining the fair value, the valuer
has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment loss for trade and other
receivables

The Directors periodically review its receivables to
assess whether impairment exists. In determining
whether impairment should be provided, the
directors of the Company evaluated individually
each account for impairment after taking into
account the value of each client account’s
underlying collateral and the latest financial
position of those clients in default of settlement.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
investments in associates

Investments in associates is reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Value-in-use calculations
are used for assessing the recoverable amount of
this investment. These calculations require use of
judgments and estimates.

Management judgment is required for assessing
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether
an event has occurred that may indicate that
the related carrying value of interests may not
be recoverable; and (ii) whether the carrying
value of the interests can be supported by the
recoverable amount. Changing the estimations
used by management in assessing impairment
could materially affect the recoverable amount
used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s consolidated financial position and
consolidated results of operations. At the end
of the reporting period, the carrying value of
investments in associates was HK$8,708,000
(2022: HK$6,237,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges
for the Group’s property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values
of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and
residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference
to the present value of estimated future cash
flows. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected or there are unfavourable events and
change in facts and circumstance which result in
revision of future estimate cash flows, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Recoverability of intangible assets

During the year, the Group reconsidered the
recoverability of its intangible assets arising from
the Group’s development, which is included in
its consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 March 2023 at HK$162,000 (2022:
HK$215,000).Detailed sensitivity analysis has
been carried out and the Group is confident that
the carrying amount of the assets will be recovered
in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation
will be closely monitored, and adjustments made
in future periods, if future market activity indicates
that such adjustments are appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(vii) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

During the reporting period, the capital structure of the Group
consist of debt which includes interest-bearing loans and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. The Directors review the
capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review,
the Directors consider the cost of capital and the associated
risks, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s
capital structure. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior periods.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk
The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk

as the Group’s deposits placed for life insurance policies
are denominated in United States dollar (“US$").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(@

(b)

()

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group considers the risk exposure to foreign
currency fluctuation is limited as long as the HK$
remains pegged to the US$. This analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2023.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s lease liabilities bear interests at fixed
interest rates and therefore are subject to fair value
interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its pledged bank deposits and bank borrowings. These
deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable rates
varied with the then prevailing market condition.

The Group does not consider that it has any significant
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
from its bank deposits and borrowings as a reasonably
possible change of 50 basis points in the interest
rates would have no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated profit or loss for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
pledged bank deposits and trade and other receivables
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. It has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Credit risk (continued)

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to
director’s approval. Receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis to ensure that the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

Details of the credit quality of the trade receivables
were set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances and pledged
bank deposits is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following information is used:

internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same borrower;

—  significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

—  significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including changes
in the payment status of borrowers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Credit risk (continued)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 180 days of when they fall due.

The customers of the Group in property and
management related services are mainly owners’
corporation, owners’ committee and sole owners of
properties concerned. The Directors are of the view
that it is unlikely that payment of accounts receivable
will be defaulted for property management and related
services rendered. In addition, the Group can always
take necessary legal actions to recover any amount
not settled by any of these customers. In respect of
customers on the money lending business, sufficient
security collateral are obtained to ensure full recovery
of loan amount in event of default payments. In respect
of rental services, normally two months rental deposits
were received and therefore the risk of default payment
is low. During the year, the Group has no history of any
default payment or bad debts in respect of it business
income.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 365 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loan loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.

6.

M EREE (R)
(€ FEERRE

AEEFERAMERRNIEE SR
Wk - AR BREE B R R a0
A BRI EE B R B R -
AERHEEEERE  A5H
ERERNEEERE AR
AT BE 1 BUE -

Category Definition Loss provision

5l EE BERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong 12 month expected losses
& 49 capacity to pay 1218 A TE A& 18

EE R K6

Non-performing

B A 0

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial
liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based on the
contracted undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime expected losses
FHITEEAE R

(d)

REE S @R

AEBERRAEHETARINE
HNRBESHFHK - NHEREAE
RARATHEB  UENREH

RBEHR - A AR B &R
B KR BE IR R B B 5 A A
T~

More than Total

1 year hut contractual
Less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 5 years cash flow amounts

BRI  AHAKR
REX SME BONSE REREAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2023 piireE:3 TAR AR TER TER TER
Trade and other payables BHREMERFE - 63,974 - 63,974 63,974
Bank and other loans BOREMER 5,925 - 2,131 8,062 8,062
5,925 63,974 2,131 72,036 72,036
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HISEBEE (&)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d #REBELRER (&)
More than Total
lyearbut  contractual
Less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 5 years cash flow amounts

BRI ANAMR
e SRIF  BIRSE RERERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

2022 20225 FiET AL FET THT THET
Trade and other payables 5 REMEMNFE - 71,127 - 71,127 71,127
Bank and other loans BIREMER 9,000 - - 9,000 9,000
9000 71127 - 8017 80127
(e) Categories of financial instruments e) €MITAEHR
At 31 March
M3A31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFA&T
Financial assets: EWMEE -
Financial assets at amortised 12 5 K AR 51 BR A
costs (including cash and cash TREE(BRAS R
equivalents) ReEEY) 205,987 236,245
Financial liabilities: eWMEas:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ Z# X AV RN SR B E 72,036 80,127
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(f)

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The following disclosures of fair
value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that
categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices

included within level 1 that are

observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Level 3 inputs:

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. B EMER (&)
()  Fair value (continued) n B2R{EGE
(i) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 (i) F2023F3A31BMA R
March 2023: BEERBE
Fair value
measurements
using: Total
FEATE
AREFE: et
Level 2 2023
EZR 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Description f FHET FET
Recurring fair value measurements: EEM QA AREE
Investment properties KEY3
Commercial — Hong Kong [EE Sk 40,400 40,400
Total recurring fair value KEMRAABEFTEBRE
measurements 40,400 40,400
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 R2022F3H31BH AR
March 2022: BEELMNEE
Fair value
measurements
using: Total
EA T
NAEGE : et
Level 2 2022
E-H 2022 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Description it FAET FHETT
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMEAREE :
Investment properties REYZE
Commercial — Hong Kong HE-TF 30,300 30,300
Total recurring fair value KEMEANBEFERE
measurements 30,300 30,300
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(f)

Fair value (continued)

(i)

(i)

(continued)

During the year, there was no asset transferred
from level 3 to other two levels of fair value
hierarchy.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 March:

The Directors are responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3
fair value measurements. The accountant reports
to the Board of Directors for these fair value
measurements.

The Group engages external valuation experts
with the recognised professional qualifications and
recent experience to perform the valuations at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(f)

Fair value (continued)

(i)

(continued)

Level 2 fair value measurements

6. MEKEKBERE(E)
M 2DREGE
(i (&)

FRIAAMEGE

Fair value Fair value
DRE NE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Description Valuation technique Inputs HK$’000 HK$'000
it R ER M WABE THET FET
Investment properties
Commercial investment ~ Market comparable Price per square
properties — Hong Kong  approach feet
BEWF
HMEREM¥-FE  WHIBLEE BEHTRER 40,400 30,300
The valuation for investment properties as at 31 R 2023 F 20224 3 A31
March 2023 and 2022 was performed by Jones HEREMEREE T HE

Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, an independent professional valuer.

The valuation of the Group’s investment properties
was performed using the market comparable
approach. The key input is the sales price per
square feet for similar properties in similar
locations, which is an observable input. The
valuation also included inputs other than quoted
prices included within level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Therefore, the Group’s investment properties were
classified within level 2 of fair value hierarchy.

VHEEMGEMFERITEE
At A AR A RELT -

AEEREMENGETIR
A5 A &L BURETT - B
R BB SR EREEL
MENTFHRBEBR
HERRBRG ARE - HE
IEFEE — BT BIEREN
SNEBABIE R RBEN
BEZERKAREAER
ABUE - At - AEBRR
BMEEDERE_RAR
BREMR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

7.

REVENUE

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property
management and related services, properties investment and
money lending business during the year. An analysis of the
Group’s revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

iy =

AEERFRAETBUSRHDEEE
KABRIRT - MERE RNEFRT
FAREBNCERRESHTAOT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Provision of property management and related ¥ % & 182 RIHERS
services 545,857 519,778
Revenue from contracts with customers XEEAH W= 545,857 519,778
Rental income from investment properties HEYEMRS WA 1,380 1,377
Loan interest income from money lending WEZERFEWA 138 3,796
Total revenue W 4asa 547,375 524,951
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BEPEHRm s -
Provision of property management and related services RHYEEE K AERERK
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Geographical markets EMS
Hong Kong B 513,143 482,448
The PRC H 32,714 37,330
545,857 519,778
Major services FTER®K
Property management services V) I8 RS 508,263 488,801
Stand-alone security services B R RS 37,594 30,977
545,857 519,778
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

REVENUE (continued) 7. Uz (48)
For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, all revenue B E2023F K2022F3 A31H IEF
from provision of property management services, stand-alone B EEMEETERYE  BIRTR
security services and property management consultancy BRYMEEBBERREHAA WE
services are recognised over time. SRER MR o
Property management services fees, stand-alone security MEEERRBE BALRTIRE LD
services and property management consultancy services *ERERRGERNERRGRZA
fees are recognized on a monthly basis when the services MR o X e REEE P e AT A R AT BE IR
are rendered. The amount for which can be reliably BUA - WX EEREERMEERE
estimated and it is probable that the income will be received. BERRGENS ARER -
The property management services fees and property
management consultancy services fees are due on the end of
each month.
There was no performance obligations that are unsatisfied REZE2023%F k202243 A31H
pursuant to HKFRS 15.120 during the years ended 31 FE BREESVBREERE
March 2023 and 2022. 15.1205% - B ERIARBITZEBLE
(B
INTEREST REVENUE 8. MEWzH
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Bank interest income RITA B WA 609 134
Interest income from bond receivable  FEUWEZHF A S HA 520 26
Interest income from deposits placed A FREF ABFERA
for life insurance policies M EHA 300 298
1,429 458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

9. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET

10.

9. Hblr ARBAIX - FHE

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAETT

Gain on bargain purchase of an associate —fE Bt & ARl 2 BB E &= 4,786 -
Fair value loss of investment properties &Y EH QA EEE (100) -
Commission income HaelA - 30
Others (note 1) H At (ffat 1) 6,172 3,250
10,858 3,280

Note:

(1)

The Group recognised government subsidies of approximately
HK$5.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 from the
Employment Support Scheme launched by the HKSAR Government.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

(@

Reportable segments

The Group has three (2022: three) reportable
segments. The Group’s reportable segments are
strategic business units that offer different products and
services. They are managed separately because each
business requires different technology and marketing
strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

(i)  Provision of property management and related
services;

(i) Properties investment; and

(i)  Money lending business.

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as those described in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements. Segment profits or
losses do not include dividend income and gains or
losses from investments. Segment assets do not include
investments. Segment non-current assets do not
include deferred tax assets and financial instruments.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and
transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties,
i.e. at current market prices.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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(1)
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R R U 0 (R 3L ST 81 FERR IR
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10. D EPER

(GY)

CES: o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. 2 EER (E)
(a) Reportable segments (continued) (2 W2#H 5 (E)
(i)  Business segments () XEHZE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZ202353A3NBLEE

Provision of
property
management Money
and related Properties lending
E'set[vices investment business Total
F99 \
18 B8 AR % NERE HEER @
HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TERr
Reportable segment revenue:  B] 257 # M
Revenue from external REIAZFH)
customers Wz 545,857 1,380 138 541,375
Reportable segment (loss)/profit AT 27 8 (B18) /
il (3,118) 1,002 (228) (2,344)
Depreciation of property, plant %1% HERREITE
and equipment 6,993 240 - 1,233
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ ERAEEENE
assets 3,606 - 182 3,788
Amortisation of intangible assets & E# i 36 - - 36
Fair value loss on investment ~ BRENEHDAE
properties BB - 100 - 100
Income tax expense FrEHAY 1,958 189 - 2,147
Interest revenue il Bz 909 - 520 1,429
Interest expense FERE 584 - 8 592
Additions to property, plantand REWE K= Rk
equipment 16,287 420 - 16,707
At 31 March 2023
H2023%3A31H
Provision
of property
management Money
and related Properties lending
services investment business Total
REEME
EEEK ) -
| e MERE BEEE @
HK$'00_0 HK$’00_0 HK$f00_0 HK$'000
TER TERT TERT TER
Reportable segmentassets ~ AJ 2|7 & E 295,329 41,503 5,921 342,753
Reportable segment liabilities 7] £ #7 Z& (& 83,202 360 159 83,721
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Reportable segments (continued)

(i)  Business segments (continued)

10. 7 WEFR (&)
(@) TEFH7 (&)
() XRHDE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

HZE202F3A31BLEFE
Provision
of property
management Money
and related Properties lending
servicgs investment business Total
S ES
EEN o o \
TR MERE MEZEH @t
HK$000  HK$OO0 — HK$000  HK$O00
TET TET THBT TET
Reportable segment revenue: 7] 2 57 2PUE ¢
Revenue from external REIRKFH
customers Wz 519,778 1,377 3,796 524,951
Reportable segment (loss)/profit ] £ %7 &8 (E518)
il (6,876) 1,201 3,412 (2,263)
Depreciation of property, plant  ¥1% BE LRETE
and equipment 10,044 4 - 10,048
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EAEEENE
assets 4476 - 172 4,648
Amortisation of intangible assets £ & & # §5 145 - - 145
Income tax expense MY 854 178 583 1,615
Interest revenue F B s 432 - 26 458
Interest expense FMERX 656 - 8 664
Additions to property, plantand RE W% BE Kkt
equipment 65,458 - - 65,458
At 31 March 2022
M2022%3A31H
Provision
of property
management Money
and related Properties lending
servicg& investment business Total
S ES
EER o o \
B RS MERE MEFS @it
HKS000  HK$000  HK$O00  HK$000
TET TET TET TET
Reportable segment assets AERHLEE 306,567 31,075 43,010 380,652
Reportable segment liabilites I 2® A HEE 96,274 388 1,071 97,733
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. HEHEH ()

(@) Reportable segments (continued) (@) TTE2HmDIP(E)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (i) TI2H/H LU % F Sk s

profit or loss, assets and liabilities: BEBERBENYE:
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 March BZE3ABLEE FExT FET
Revenue Yz
Reportable segment revenue and ] 2 k5 2 Wk M 4R A
consolidated revenue W = 547,375 524,951
Profit or loss AR E 18
Reportable segment loss A 2W|HEPEE (2,344) (2,263)
Unallocated other income Ao REE MU A 72 30
Gain on bargain purchase ofan ~ —fEE&E A a2 HEBEE
associate W &= 4,786 -
Share of loss of associates DA E QR EE (5,094) (8,133)
Impairment of investments in REtE RRIZIRERIE
associates (1,721) (4,428)
Unallocated corporate expenses RO B (22,316) (9,540)
Consolidated loss hefore tax BREBATGREER (26,617) (24,334)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
At 31 March M3A31H FHET FAETT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets A2 HEE 342,753 380,652
Unallocated cash and cash ROMASRRSFE
equivalents 4,792 7,238
Other unallocated corporate assets H R D BB ¥ EE 18,449 9,895
Consolidated total assets REEELE 365,994 397,785
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities AEZHoHasE 83,721 97,733
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ao EERE 3,967 1,663
Consolidated total liabilities e BERTE 87,688 99,396

Annual Report 2022/23
2022/23F &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. 2 EER (E)
(b) Geographical information (b) HEER
Revenue Non-current assets
g FREBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022

2023 F 2022 5 2023 2022 5
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FTHERT TAETT

Hong Kong e 514,661 487,621 101,141 78,811
The PRC aa 32,714 37,330 63,800 82,865

547,375 524,951 164,941 161,676

(c) Information about major customers c) FRXEEFMESR

An analysis of the Group's revenue from major services AREERE FERBWED DT
is set out in note 7 above. No customer accounted for R EXHIEET7 - BZ= 2023 F K
10 percent or more of the total revenue for the years 20223 A31HILEFE #HER

ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. FAE U 10% 3 A £ o

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. ME KR

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FHTT
Interest expenses on bank borrowings R 77& & F| 8 52 60 74
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 535 590
595 664

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

12. FREE

AREBFARETIENE THIEAB

The Group’s loss for the year is arrived at after charging:

R
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Staff costs (including directors’ BTIWA(BREESHM) -
remuneration):
— Salaries, wages and allowances —¥4% « TE N&ERE 454,483 417,847
— Employee share-based compensation — &7 82 Eh5t&1 4 AR5 1
benefits of Share Award Scheme HiEEMESET 8,976 2,519
— Retirement benefits scheme —IRIREFFT 8 3K
contributions 12,092 12,068
475,551 432,434
Auditors’ remuneration % SR B & 1,300 750
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- BENEETE
equipment 7,235 10,600
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 3,788 4,648
Fair value loss on investment properties & & M8 A R EEIE 100 -
Amortisation of intangible assets | A EEH 36 157
Expenses related to short-term lease MHEERBEZHAX 103 46
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

13. DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EERAUEREEH A L E M
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments () EERSREEAEHMH

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZ2023F3A31ALEE
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to retirement

Fees henefits scheme Total
e -
REER BIK

e HaERN RN oy

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TERT TER TET TER

Executive directors: HITES -
Huang Liming (Chairman) — &2 (F /) 240 - 12 252
Ho Ying Choi o] j& B - 5,726 18 5,744
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix FTRIE - 720 18 738
Independent non-executive ¥ 3EETT
directors: 5=
Lam Kai Yeung RUERS 120 - - 120
Lo Chi Ho, Richard EER 120 - - 120
Lin Dongming MR (i) 120 - - 120
600 6,446 48 7,094

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@)

(continued)

Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

(@)

13. EER ANV RS H A L Z M
(&)

EEREREEABTM (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE202243A31BILFE
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to retirement
Fees benefits scheme Total
e 2H RIR
we REMEN FEMEK CH
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
g3 TAT TAT FHET TAT
Executive directors: HITES -
Huang Liming (Chairman) — &% (£/E) 240 - 12 252
Ho Ying Choi o] & A - 4,448 18 4,466
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix TRIE - 720 18 738
Independent non-executive ¥ 3EETT
directors: 5%
Tso Siu Lun, Alan ¥R (i) 20 - - 20
Lam Kai Yeung %A 120 - - 120
Lo Chi Ho, Richard BER 120 - - 120
Lin Dongming HRER B (ii) 100 - - 100
600 5,168 48 5,816
Notes: e

(i) Mr. Tso Siu Lun, Alan has resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 June

2021.

(i)

Mr. Lin Dongming was appointed as an independent non-

executive director of the Company with effect from 1 June

2021.

() EHERELEBREARABEILIER
TEE 2021 F6 A1 HEAER -

MR L EER T ARNRTBTIE
HITEE 520216 A1 A
R o

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EERTAN RS HF A L HH
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (continued) (&)
(b) Five highest paid individual emoluments (b) BEuRSH AL HMN
One (2022: one) of the five highest paid individuals of AEEN A &ZERHFALTEE—
the Group was the director whose emolument is set out % (2022F : —®)EF - HEF
in the above. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the B S IB I  E3 » Bl = 20234 3
remaining four (2022: four) employees’ emoluments of A31BIEFE & T4 (2022
the Group were as follows: F R AEEEENFT NN
T~
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Basic salaries and allowances HEA % KER 7,184 4,953
Discretionary bonus IBIE4T 4,316 2,249
Retirement benefit scheme RREHN IR
contributions 54 36
11,554 7,238
The emoluments fell within the following bands: FHMNFTINEE
Number of individuals
A
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 fF
Emolument band: FMEE :
Nil - HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /& Jt—1,500,000 /& JT 2 1
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 /& T —4,500,000 /& 7T 2 1
4 4
(c) During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group () FA AEEBEBERTMESL
to any of the directors or the highest paid individuals as e ATAE - EAE M
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as BARKE S INR & 125 ok BEEE
compensation for loss of office. In addition, none of the HE I MEEENREDS
directors waived any emoluments during the reporting IR Fr B (2022 4F : £8) -

period (2022: Nil).

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14, FRBHEAX

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, Hong Kong
Profit Tax is calculated under two-tier profit tax system under
first HK$2 millions of estimated assessable profits is taxed at
a rate of 8.25% and remaining estimated assessable profits
is taxed at 16.5%. The Group should elect one of the Hong
Kong subsidiaries to apply the two-tier profit tax rate.

PRC corporate income tax is calculated at a rate of 25%
unless otherwise specified, on the estimated assessable
profits arising from the operation of the PRC subsidiaries.

B E2023F K 20223 A31 R IFE
€ BEFESHRERRFGHETEE
HIEFTE - & 200 8B aT EARN %
F328.25% KB R BF - ek T hET
JiE R A i A BI3E 16.5% HY i KA FR o
AEBEEEEED —HEEHBEAR
JE PR AR AR R 1S B A R o

RRBEPEIN  PEEEMEHR
P EM B AR EEMEL TR
AR IR TR R 25% 51 5

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEAT IR — BB MG
— Provision for the year —F N 731 1,681
— One-off deduction —— KRR (30) (70)
701 1,611
Current tax — the PRC BN EAFR I8 — R &
— Provision for the year —FNREE 196 243
Deferred tax (note 25) EIERIE (M1 77 25) 1,250 (239)
2,147 1,615
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits
Tax rate is as follows:

14. RSB (&)

ﬁﬁ ST S BRI AT E B AR BT
SHHENEBYEROT -

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT

Loss before tax BRETAIEE (26,617) (24,334)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong Profits tax 12 & B RS L 8.25% 1 E K

rate of 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) I8 (2022 % : 8.25%) - 165
Tax calculated at Hong Kong Profits tax X BB SRR 16.5% T E 1

rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) FiI8 (20224 : 16.5%) (4,392) (4,345)
Effect of different tax calculation basis ¥R BB TR HERA T E

for the PRC (1,349) (350)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable 78 % i W A HY T 765 52 &

(Note a) (Bista) (2,879) (3,952)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR ARG 2

deductible (Note b) (K713 b) 8,252 10,167
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ WEM R IBEEBNHIETE 2,545 —~
One-off deduction — R R (30) (70)
Income tax expense FriSHiF 2 2,147 1,615
Notes: Kt -
(@) Income that is non-taxable mainly include non-taxable government (a) HERBMBAETEBREDERRBTMH

subsidies (net of other expenses paid to incorporate owners), interest
income and gain on bargain purchases.

(b)  Expenses that are not tax deductible mainly include directors’salaries,
rent, share of loss of associates, legal and profession fees and other
expenses for the Company and subsidiaries which no assessable
income was generated during the year.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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15.

16.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$28,802,000
(2022: loss of approximately HK$25,949,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,128,986,665 (2022: 1,048,846,890) in issue during the
year.

Diluted earnings per share

No diluted loss per share are presented as the Company did
not have any dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
March 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report
(2022: Nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a
monthly maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per
employee and vest fully with employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

15.

16.

17.

BREE
BREXER

RKARHEBEAEBEERELREBRET
BARRIEEABEEANAEBREY
28,802,000/ 7T (20224 : EHE 4
25,949,000 7T) K FNBE BT LR
AR HntE S 15 81 1,128,986,665 A% (2022
1 1,048,846,800 %) 5t & o

BREFRF

HZE2023F3 A31HIEFE  BRA
NEYEEMRTEINECET LR
f - B 2 5| B IR S o

HZE2022F3A31HILFE -FAE
E B A R EEE

Hﬁ /%\

HZE2023F3 A3l BILFEMES
SERBRMNETMAKE - RSB
RUREEEAREHBENEZZIR
RHEAR] AR B (20224 : £) -

RAKE RS

AEERBEEBRIIEATE R EME
FIRFEEENEEREBRILAS
REEFTE ([BEEE]) - A%
BE BB SR REH & R
TES% R (BUEIBAZEMHR
£HS1,50087T) - BEFRZA T
miEL AN TE2REESMA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ - BENRE
Landand  Leasehold Furniture and Office Motor ~ Plantand  Construction
buildings  improvement fiture  equipment vehicle ~ machinery in progress Total
thk  HENE BRR NE BER

g7 3 %E R nE BE  EEIR it
HK$000  HKFOO0 — HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TEL TR TRn  TER  TET  TEn  TER  TEn

CoST 72
At T April 2021 R2021E4 A1 9513 22,481 5212 7,051 1,770 151 18750 64,928
Additions hE h2,664 607 1,649 1625 600 107 8221 65473
Disposal = - (9,885) - - (604) (52) - (1054])
Exchange realignment 5 B% 7% - 28 Iy 2 9 894 1,771
At 31 March 2022 and RA2EIA3IAR

1 April 2022 N2F4R1H 62,973 13,203 6,889 8,118 1,768 215 21,865 121,631
Additions hE 957 2,889 3,919 3,093 - 6 5,843 16,707
Disposal e - (601) (614) (2,118) (31) - - (3,964)
Transfer from construction i B T RE&

progress - - 18,638 - - - - (18638) -
Transfer to investment BRERENE

property B (9,937) - - - - - - (9,937)
Exchange realignment [ 5 R (3,937) - (119) (83) 0] (21 (2,122) (6,286)
At 31 March 2023 R2A23E3A31A 50,056 34,129 10,075 9,010 1,133 200 12,948 118,151
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION R &R/

AND IMPAIRMENT ‘
At 1 April 2021 R221F4 A1 1228 7734 1414 4466 1,770 67 - 16,679
Provided during the year W& 1561 5,158 2,046 1,294 476 65 - 10,600
Disposal \ £ o - (9,883) - - (480) (43) - (10,406)
Impairment loss recognised in I ERTERNFHESE

profit or loss ) - - - - - - 7,049 7,049
Exchange realignment Sk 19 - 30 3 2 6 107 199
At 31 March 2022 and RA2EIA3AR

1 April 2022 00254418 2,808 3,009 3,490 5,195 1,768 95 1,156 24,121
Poided durngtheyear  ERERE 238 2716 1473 - 5 N P
Dispsdl e I s N 1 ) - - (A%
Transfer from construction i B2 T RE&

progress _ - 1,156 - - - - (7,156) -
Transfer to investment BRERENE

property o (2,163) - - - - - - (2,163)
Imparment loss recognised in B R R R E S

profit or loss 814 - - - - - - 814
Exchange realignment B R (86) (535) (118) (82) @ (12) - (837)
At 31 March 2023 RA023%3A318 3,761 11,745 3,360 4,468 1,733 139 - 25,206
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 March 2023 RA23E3A31A 46,295 22,384 6,715 4542 - 61 12,948 92,945
At 31 March 2022 RA2E3A31A 60,165 10,194 339 2923 - 120 20,709 97,510
At 31 March 2023, the land and buildings with net carrying 15/\\\2_023 F3H318 - EE@/%TEZT%E
amount of approximately HK$Nil (2022: approximately 7L (20224 : #97,978,000 7 7L) H)
HK$7,978,000) was pledged to secure bank facilities granted T REFEMFER - UBERTA
to the Group. SENRITHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAETT
At 1 April R4A1H 30,300 30,300
Transfer from property, plant and HEEWE BENEE
equipment 10,200 -
Fair value loss on investment properties %&£ 8 A D EEIE (100) -
At 31 March M3 A31H 40,400 30,300
Investment properties were revalued at 31 March 2023 REMERBLEEGHEMTEHIT
and 2022 on the open market value basis by reference to CEFHEERBERARZERUY
market evidence of recent transactions for similar properties XL R S MISRBREARMER
by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory HEFN 2023 F K 2022 F3 A31 HE °
Limited, an independent professional valuer.
At 31 March 2023, the investment properties with net MR2023F3 A31H ' RE FE
carrying amount of HK$40,400,000 (2022: HK$30,300,000) A40,400,0008 T (2022 4F
were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group. 30,300,000/ 7T) #)3% & ¥ % 2 E K

o UBBRTFARENRITRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. ML EE
Customer Computer
contracts softwares Total
EFEXN el a5t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FHET
CoST SRS
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4H1H 2,164 6,857 9,021
Exchange realignment ME 5 98 B - 13 13
At 31 March 2022 and R2022F3 A31 B &
1 April 2022 20224 A 1H 2,164 6,870 9,034
Exchange realignment ME 5 38 B - (25) (25)
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3 A31 H 2,164 6,845 9,009

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 2 5t# 85

At 1 April 2021 R2021F4H1H 2,045 6,614 8,659
Amortisation for the year F N5 117 40 157
Exchange realignment bE 5 FE & 2 1 3
At 31 March 2022 and R2022F3 A31 H &

1 April 2022 2022F 4 A1H 2,164 6,655 8,819
Amortisation for the year F N - 36 36
Exchange realignment PE 5 B - (8) (8)
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3 H31H 2,164 6,683 8,847
CARRYING AMOUNT: BREIME :

At 31 March 2023 R2023F3 H31H - 162 162
At 31 March 2022 R20224F3 H31H - 215 215

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. FREEE
2023 2022
2023 & 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
Disclosures of lease-related items: HEEBREENEE THERT FETT
Right-of-use assets CREEE
— Land and buildings —tTHRETF 9,010 8,900
— Motor vehicles —AE 897 986
— Office equipment — PN RAE - 29
9,907 9,915
The maturity analysis, based on BIEAMBERERE
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s ZAEEHEEEZ
lease liabilities is as follows: A STWT
— Less than 1 year —LR1E 4,491 3,526
— Between 1 and 2 years —1ZE2F 7 4,144 3,007
— Between 2 and 5 years —2E5F ZfH 2,106 4,342
10,741 10,875
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FFAEEENER
— Land and buildings — T RIEF 3,309 4,144
— Motor vehicles —AE 450 475
— Office equipment YN 29 29
3,788 4,648
Lease interests HMEHN L 535 590
Expenses related to short-term leases B AERENRX 103 46
Total cash outflow for leases REERLING 4,435 5110
Additions to right-of-use assets RNREFHEREE 3,825 1,263

The Group leases various land and buildings, motor vehicles
and office equipment. Lease agreements are typically made
for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

AEBHEETLHREF  AER
MRS - HEHZE —RAETHR
(125%) - HEKRKIRIB L EERER
KB EZRARGHR RGNS - HER
&I EEIMERREREEEET —
ERLERAERAS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

22. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set out

22. B4 E
ARREEMBARZFHERIMT :

below:
Place of incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of ownership interest
Name registration/operation  paid-up capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
HmEL/ BRTR
£ B/ EERE  HERA AAREEREAERNE L TEER
2023 2022
2023 2022F
Kong Shum Union Property Management  British Virgin Islands ~ US$11 97% indirect 100% indirect  Investment holding
Group Limited (“KSG")
BRBANEEREEERAA(KSG)) EBRLES I 97% R 100% f#% RERK
Kong Shum Union Property Management  Hong Kong HK$22,000,000 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
Company Limited (“KSU") management
Services
BRBENFERERAR ((BRHE)) BA 22,000,000 7 100% i 100% RUNEERRS
K-King Cleaning Services Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of cleaning
(“K-King") services
ESERRBEERAR ((HS)) i 1007 100% fi# 100% i B RRH
Q&V Security Company Limited (“Q&V")  Hong Kong HK$2,100,000 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of security
services
ERTHERAN(ER]) i 2,100,000/ 100% i 100% fE % AR R
Yorkshire Property Management Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
(“YSL") management
services
NRENZERRBERAAIYSL) FA 1,000,000/ 1t 100% % 100% % RENFERRY
More Rise Investment Limited (“MRIL") ~ Hong Kong HK$2 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Properties investment
RAREBRAR (IMRILL) A 2B 100% i 100% fE% NERE
Fortune Trend Investment Limited (“FTIL") Hong Kong HK$2 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect ~ Properties investment
AAREBRAR ([FTIL)) B 2B 100% F% 100% f#% NERE
Lucky Stone Investments Limited (“LSI")  British Virgin Islands ~ US$1 100% direct 100% direct Investment holding
Lucky Stone Investments Limited ([LSI]) EBREZEE IE 100% E# 100% B REER

Lucky Stone Property Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100
Lucky Stone Property Investment Limited ~ &8 1003
Lucky Stone Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$100
Lucky Stone Finance Limited 55 1007

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

22. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and

Percentage of ownership interest

22. B AR (&)

Name registration/operation  paid-up capital attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
HmEL/ BRIR
28 B/ gBuE  HRRX ARAEEEEARENEIL FEXH
2023 2022
20235 2022
One Direction Property Management Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect ~ Dormant
Company Limited
BENEERERLA b 10,0005 T 100% % 100% F#% RS
Kong Shum Union Property Management  British Virgin Islands ~ US$50,000 100% direct 100% direct Investment holding
(BVI) Limited
BABENFEE (RBARRES) HBRLES 50,000% 7T 100% E % 100% Ef RERR
BRAT]
Happy Living Networks Technology Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$50,000 100% direct 100% direct Investment holding
HERRERMERA A RERNES 50,000% 7T 100% B 100% E AR
Happy Living Network Technology Hong Kong HK$1.00 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
AR R (BR) BRAA BB 1007 100% F#% 100% % REER
Shi Shi Property (Cayman) Limited Cayman US$50,000 100% direct 100% direct Investment holding
BENE (H2)BRATA i3 50,000% 7 100% £ 100% Ef REER
Shi Shi Future Property Service Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ US$50,000 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Investment holding
BREARDERBERAA EBRUEE 50,000% 7T 100% F% 100% fe RERR
Shi Shi Property Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Investment holding
HENEERAT Bk 10,0007 100% 100% B REBR
HERETNERBEERA PRC HK$30,000,000" 100% indirect  100% indirect  Provision of property
(DEmEE])° management and
consultancy services
MENEENEREERAF G 30,000,000 100% 100% Bk REDEERRAM
(DEEtEE])? %
BREEREMERAR? PRC RMB50,000,0002  100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
management
Services
KRBERINERAR® G AR 50,000,000 72 100% 100% Bk REDEEERS
TRERREERERARC PRC RMB50,000,000°  100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
management
services
TRERREEEERAR e AR 50,000,003 100% % 100% f% RENEERRE

Annual Report 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

22. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 22. ffEB AR (&)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of ownership interest
Name registration/operation  paid-up capital attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
HmEL/ BRIR
28 BR/EEHE  BERE ARAEEEEARENEIL FEXH
2023 2022
2023%F 2022

Shishi Health Management (Zibo) Co., Ltd. ' PRC RMB10,000,000* 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
management
services

RERREEOSE) FRARY t AR 10,000,000 7T 100% % 100% fE% RENEERRE

FIREENERBERAR PRC RMB30,000,000°  100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
management
services

FRERNEREERARC t AR 30,000,000 755 100% & 100% F#% RENEERRE

BEMEREERAR° PRC RMB1,000,000 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
management
services

BENZREERAR° e ARH1,000,00070  100% & 100% F# RENFEBRE

\IREEMERKERAFL PRC RMB6,000,000 100% indirect  100% indirect  Provision of property
management
services

WEREENERBERARC i ARH6,000,00070  100% % 100% f# RENEEERE

BRNERS (BR) BB AR PRC RMBS5,000,0006 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
management
Services

RENERSE (BE)ERARY e ARH5,000,00070¢ 100% &% 100% f#% RENZERRE

BRMERS (LB BRARY PRC RMBS5,000,0007 100% indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
management
Services

BEWERS CEE) RRATYC e AR%5,000000707 100% 100% Bk REDEEERS

BEWERS (ER)ERAFYC PRC RMB5,000,0008  100%indirect ~ 100% indirect  Provision of property
management
services

REMERS (BR) ERAAY e ARH5,000,00070¢ 100% % 100% f% RENEERRE

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202343531 H1-F/E

22. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(1)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

9)

(10)

The registered capital of 1§ 1% £ /& is HK$30,000,000, of which
approximately HK$3,259,000 has been paid up as at 31 March 2023
and 2022.

The registered capital of BFEFA84& AT AR A 7] is RMB50,000,000,
of which RMB43,000,000 and RMB41,000,000 has been paid up as
at 31 March 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The registered capital of t R REEEEER 2 A is
RMB50,000,000, of which RMB3,650,000 and RMB3,250,000 has
been paid up as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

The registered capital of R 2 & B 12 (K 18) AR A @Al (formerly
known as 18 & BF B ([ R E 12 AR 2 7)) is RMB10,000,000, of
which RMB3,400,000 and RMB3,000,000 has been paid up as at 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

The registered capital of t 5 s #) 3£ AR 75 B BR 2 & has not been
paid up as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

The registered capital of BRI X R (B &) BR QA is
RMB5,000,000, of which RMB500,000 has been paid up as at 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

The registered capital of BB ZE R CS1E) R A is
RMB5,000,000, of which RMB300,000 has been paid up as at 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

The registered capital of B ¥R OER) AR QA is
RMB5,000,000, which has not been paid up as at 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2022.

The subsidiaries are wholly foreign-owned enterprises incorporated in
the PRC.

The subsidiaries are sino-foreign equity joint ventures incorporated in
the PRC.

22. M~ "] (4&)
Htat -

() JaiEHAE Z 51 & 2 30,000,000
JT » B A #)3,259,000 % 7T 58 2023 FF [
20223 A31ABEHR °

(2 BEAKETERARZEMER
B AR 50,000,0007 0 Eh AR
43,000,0007T } A E # 41,000,000 7T 2
B 2023 F K 2022 F3 31 HE AR ©

Q) LRHREEEEARAAZEME
N A AR ED0,000,0007T - EFR AR
# 3,650,000 7T K2 A KR ¥ 3,250,000 7T 7
202343 A31H k202243 A31HE
B -

4 KREFRERCEB)BRIFGIER
EERKNEREEGRAA) 2HME
N A AR ®10,000,0007 © i AR
3,400,000 7T X A & # 3,000,000 7T 7
202343 A31H k202263 A31HE
B -

(5 ARERVERBERARZZAMER
202343 A31H k202243 A31H
AR B o

(6) BEMERE(HESR)BRQFZEME
KA ANRS5,000,0007T - AR AR
500,000 7T % 2023 % 3 A 31 H [ 2022 5
3A3IHEHRE -

(7) BEMEREOCEE) BRLF ZEME
R AR 5,000,000 Hf AR
300,000 70 74 2023 3 A 31 H & 2022 F
3A3IEEHR -

@ EEMERY(EE) BARARZEMRE
A ANR¥5,000,0007T © ER 20234 3
A31HR202243 A31HMALR ¢

9 ZEWBRBRNDEEMKZINING
BEME-

(10) %EFME A B RR A BEEM KA I
BERE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

23. GOODWILL 23. B8
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
COST KA
At 1 April and 31 March M4A1BX3HA31H 3,232 3,232
IMPAIRMENTS: A :
At beginning of the reporting period ¥R BfA) 2,132 -
Impairment loss BB E B - 2,132
At end of the reporting period REREHR 2,132 2,132
CARRYING AMOUNTS AREE
At 1 April and 31 March R4HA1BHK3A31H 1,100 1,100

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

XA EREERNRBERIEE
B ERZETAANRSESE
BUu(CReELEM]) - BENKE
BEofkwT :

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT T

Provision of property management REMEETIERS

services

YSL YSL 785 785
Shi Shi Property (Cayman) Limited R (FE) BRAR 315 315
1,100 1,100

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill
Provision of property management services

Goodwill of HK$785,000 and intangible assets (customer
contracts) of approximately HK$2,054,000 was acquired
through the business combination of Yorkshire Property
Management Limited (“YSL”) on 30 June 2016. Goodwill
of approximately HK$2,447,000 and intangible assets of
approximately HK$94,000 was acquired through acquisition
of Shi Shi Property (Cayman) Limited (“Shi Shi Property
Cayman”) on 29 March 2019. These goodwill and intangible
assets belong to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) of
provision of property management services. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment. The recoverable amounts of
the CGU are determined on the basis of their value in use
using discounted cash flow method.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are determined on
the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period.
The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of
the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGU
operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for
the next five years. The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on the financial
budgets approved by the management covering a 5 year
period. Key assumptions used by the management in the
value in use calculations of the cash-generating unit include
budgeted gross profit margin. The pre-tax discount rate used
for estimating the value in use for YSL is 19.00% (2022:
19.00%), and 27.96% (2022: 22.30%) for Shi Shi Property
Cayman Limited.

23. @& (&)

R E R
RBARYEEEZRE

EE785,0008 TN EFEE (BF
A #)) #12,054,0008 T T iBE B AR
EMEETERKAERAR(TYSL]) R
2016 6 A30H 2 EKAHMEEA °
BB H)2447,0008 T R B EEX
94,0004 7T J5iE @ 1 20196 3 A 29
AR R (F2) AR AR ([
BMERS ) MBA ZEEERE
FEEBNIREMEEERE 2B
EAEMN((REELEM]) - BRE
FHeHmEETRENR - ReE
A Bz AU el & B8 TR e ARRIRIR
ERELTEEFREBEECEEERE -

ReELBUMRIRE ST RMR
RESREZIANEEREEETE -/
BB REENEZREZEHARLIR
RRER BEENEREAGE -
AEBRAARERE AT I5HE SR
REENFERRSELEEMFTER
RET AT RIAfAETREIR K - /R
DR EEBNRERBEHAR
MERFHEEERRBEE - BE
ENERIWATIABEED RE 5
LRMNBHAEE -

AEBREMB S REFE B NIE&K
THESESHENRRAFTFUHESE
AE - HEEEMNAIKRESEEIRE
EEMANATFHUBEEREN
BEREBUAFEHEEFEAE
HETFT BEEENRBREELEMNFER
BEFENATZEBRBIEBEESE
FIE-YSLEKRYE (FHE)BERA
ARAEMET R EAEMOBATELIR X
2B 419.00% (20224 : 19.00%) &
27.96% (2022 F : 22.30%) °
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23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Provision of property management services (continued)

The assumptions have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations in respect of
the property management market in the Hong Kong and the
PRC.

The key parameters are revenue, gross profit margin,
administrative and operating expenses, and discount rate.

To ascertain the impact on the recoverable amount of the
CGUs upon deviation from its estimate, a sensitivity analysis
has been performed by taking into account the factor of
fluctuation in the gross profit margin and operating and
administrative expenses, which the directors assume would
be the most important factors to affect the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs.

For YSL, the impact of adverse changes in the above factors
(i.,e. 10% decrease in profit margin and 10% increase in
operating and administrative expenses) on the recoverable
amounts of Yorkshire would be decrease by approximately
HK$1,795,000 and HK$2,025,000 and as at 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2022, respectively. In the base case
scenario, the recoverable amount would exceed the carrying
amount of the CGU by approximately HK$2,971,000 and
HK$1,459,000 as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022,
respectively.

For Shi Shi Property Cayman, the impact of adverse changes
in the above factors (i.e. 7% decrease in profit margin and
7% increase in operating and administrative expenses) on
the recoverable amounts of Shi Shi Property Cayman would
be decrease of the recoverable amount by approximately
HK$4,074,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$5,273,000,
for 10% decrease in profit margin and 10% increase in
operating and administrative expenses). In the base case
scenario, the recoverable amount would exceed the carrying
amount of the CGU by approximately HK$4,029,000 as at 31
March 2023 (2022: the carrying amount would exceed the
recoverable amount by approximately HK$2,132,000). No
impairment loss on goodwill was recorded for the year ended
31 March 2023 (Goodwill impairment of approximately
HK$2,132,000 was recorded in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2022).

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

23. @& (&)

AR ERH (&)
ERYFEERE (&)

EHEBRRERBEBERANEERY
REBRTENEEETSNOHEM
BE -

EBLBAKE  EFE  FRREE
TSI ER

SEERBEE G HRSELEMA
WEeBEOFE SBEBFTREMNE
AR & RITHFA N E R REL
BREDN > ERESHREZAEREL
ERVERSELEUNT KO SR
MREBRE -

FYSLME @ Lt A=/ FEE) (B
E FE A 10% VA 2 48 % R 17 BB 52
HIN10%) 4= E A AT KB 2 5
FEER2023F3 A31 B k2022 F
3A318 % 5k 4 491,795,000 7% 7T
2,025,000/ 7T ° IRIEEANEHIIF
5 PR2023F3 A31 8 M202243
A318  AJlRE&EEDFIBBERS
B4 B BREE 42,971,000 7T &
1,459,000/ 7T °

MEERYERSMS  LHRZEMHR
FlEs) (BIEFRD 7R UREE &
THREXEMT%) R ERS
ATk El BT E AN E £ R
202343 A 31 B i 4> 494,074,000
7T (2022 5 : 5,273,00078 7T © E 7
D 10% VA R 48 & K 77 B SZ 4 N
10%) BIBEEARRFIER - 522023 F
3A318  AlEEEGBBREE
A BRI BRTEE 494,029,000 3 7T (2022
FEREESBBRESEESMATK
B4 58492,132,000/8 7T) - REZE
20233 A31 HIEFE  WEREH
SR EE 1R (Bl = 202243 A31 81t
FRELREEEREL2,132,0008TE
AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Provision of property management services (continued)

The sensitivity analysis would not cause the carrying amount
of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

The management is not currently aware of any other probable
changes that would necessitate changes in its key estimates.

DEPOSITS PLACED FOR LIFE INSURANCE
POLICIES

23. @& (&)

AR ERH (&)
ERYEEEZRTE (F)

BREIM B I G EKRREELEN
MEREEBBE IO SHE -

& 2 IR 3 R A0 £ AT 2 1 ]
e e EES TE

24. MASRBREFANES

2023 2022

2023 2022 FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHETT

Deposits placed for life insurance policies #t A SRB IR EFANIR S 9,340 9,155

The Group can terminate the policies at any time and receive
cash refund based on the cash value of the policies at the
date of withdrawal, which is determined by the upfront
payment plus accumulated interest earned and minus the
expense charged at inception, the accumulated insurance
charge and policy expense charge. A surrender charge would
also be required if the withdrawal is made before the 15th
policy year.

The Group’s deposits placed for life insurance policies were
pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings.

ZRER B Al M) B R AR LR R R BB AR
BERREAZREZRSEEWRER
IR W TIARBIEN FNFAERER 2
REHH B RIEFAL R ER AN Z
MXEM  RARELRREBRAX
MEEE ° MR 15 [EREFE 2 AR
R AINBEEERRTEE -

AEBERERRASRREEFAN
B IMERANEBRITIERNER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised by the Group.

25.

EEBEEE AE

AT RAEEEANEIZRIERAR
EREE-

Fair value
adjustment
arising from
Accelerated  Decelerated tax Provisions husiness
tax depreciation depreciation (note) combination Total
BE ¥BaHE:
MERERE HEHEHE (W7) WNARERE ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THET THT T
At 1 April 2021 R221E4A1H (756) 130 2,600 (40) 1,934
Credit to profit or loss for the IR AR
year
- Origination and reversal of ~ —EHZRBAKE R
temporary differences & 209 - 14 16 239
At 31 March 2022 and R2022E3A318 R
1 April 2022 202F4R18 (547) 130 2,614 (24) 2,173
Charge to profit or loss for the  RER BB HIR
year
- Origination and reversal of ~ —E s ZEHTE R
temporary differences #m (885) - (365) - (1,250)
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H (1,432) 130 2,249 (24) 923

Note: Provisions represent the temporary differences of provision for
certain expenses (including provisions for long service payments,
unrealised annual leaves and bonuses) made in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group which would only be allowed for tax
deduction when these expenses were actually paid.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
(after offset) for consolidated statement of financial position

Wi BERAEESAVBHRRNE TR
BE(BERRERGS  RERFHREE
RAICAT R B R Z5 - HERERX
NZEFRRAEDNR -

AR A MBAOR KM & IELER IR
R (EEER) 2T

purposes:
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIERE (1,456) (571)
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE 2,379 2,744
923 2,173

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7




25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 25. BEBEEE &E& (&)
(continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused RmEBR AEE A ARKHE
tax losses of approximately HK$15,424,000 (2022: HK$Nil) ARENORBARBEBEERD
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax 15,424,000/ 7T (2022 F : EHE L) °
asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses A 2R 2% ) SRR S BT FEOR) - A it
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax ERAFAVEBBRRELEHIEE
losses may be carried forward indefinitely. ZE o BIBE B IR E -
At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount R|MEHRR  KRERELERIBEEE
of temporary differences of approximately HK$3,671,000 RN EZEERERL3,671,0008 T
(2022: HK$2,320,000) for which no deferred tax assets have (20224 : 2,320,000/ 7T) °
been recognised.
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 26. REE&E R APRE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Unlisted investment in Hong Kong REBZIELEMEE
Share of net assets DILEEFE 8,708 4516
Goodwill EES 22,649 22,649
31,357 27,165
Less: impairment loss B REEE (22,649) (20,928)
8,708 6,237
Below is the information of the associates. The associates are WTERBERGZER - ZEBER
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using AIAE R AN R A M RERALR -

the equity method.

Principal place of business/country of % of ownership interests/
Name incorporation Principal activities voting rights held by the Company
BERAREZEE
£ TEEENY ERRIER TEXH BE/ZAERDL
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 2022%F 20235 20225 20235 2022

Dakin Holding Inc. Hong Kong/BVI ~ Hong Kong/BVI  Provision of financial Provision of financial 30%/30% 30%/30%
services in Hong services in Hong

Kong Kong
Dakin Holding Inc. B8/ B/ REBRE REBRE 30%/30% 30%/30%
KERZBE HEBREZEE <SBRE SRS
Sky Asia Construction ~ Hong Kong/ N/A Vessel operation N/A 33%/33% N/A
Engineering Limited Hong Kong
ADRETRE B/ BB Tam MBS Tam 33%/33% TEfA
BERAA]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

26. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)  26. REf& A TIMHRE (&)

Sky Asia Construction

Name Dakin Holding Inc. Engineering Limited
£ Dakin Holding Inc. AEREIRERARA
% of ownership interests/ ~ EAEEEE
voting rights held by the FrEkER,/ Total
Group RRAERDH 30%/30% 33%/33% oy
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 F 20224 2023 F 2022 F 2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT TERT TET TAER FTETL
At 31 March: W3A31H:
Non-current assets ERBEE 19,092 22,333 25419 NATER 44,511 22,333
Current assets MBEE 10,916 24,851 27,105 N/ATEF 38,021 24,851
Non-current liabilities ERBER (8,575) (8,575) (2,527) NATEH (11,102) (8,575)
Current liabilities MEEE (23,418)  (23556)  (23,608) N/AZiEM (47,026)  (23,556)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE) /EEFE (1,985) 15,053 26,389 N/ATiEF 24,404 15,053
Group’s share of netassets AEBEDHEEFE - 4516 8,708 N/ATEH 8,708 4516
Goodwill Bk 22,649 22,649 - NATEA 22,649 22,649
Less: impairment A ORE (22,649)  (20,928) - NATERA (22,649)  (20,928)
Group's share of carrying ~ AEE DR
amount of interests REHE - 6,237 8,708 N/AMNEFA 8,708 6,237
Year ended 31 March: HBZE3A3181
FE
Revenue Wz 6,148 10,420 4,033 NATERA 10,181 10,420
Loss for the year FREE (17,037)  (27,110) (1,751) NATEA (18,788)  (27,110)
Total comprehensive loss 2 E &% (17,037) (27,110 (1,751) NATER (18,788) (27,110
Dividend received from REBERAIN
associate BUERE - - - NATER - -

Shi Shi Services Limited
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27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)  26. REf& A T IRE ()

Impairment review on investment in an associate

R—BBEQATANRENRERTZ

The Directors of the Company has performed impairment RN EE F B ¥ H Dakin Holdings Inc.
review on the investment in Dakin Holdings Inc. Based B 1% & HE 1T R (B & 1% o & 7 Dakin
on performance of Dakin Holdings Inc., impairment of Holdings Inc. 8953k 8 E 2023 F 3 A
approximately HK$1,721,000 was recorded for the year 318 IEFEHEREL1,721,000%
ended 31 March 2023 (for the year ended 31 March 2022: T (B E2022F3A31BILFE : 5t
impairment of approximately HK$4,428,000 on the Group’s REBEREE R RINRERRBBELD
investment in an associate has been recognized). 4,428 0007 7T) °
PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 27. AREIE B3 REMER
RECEIVABLES b1 |
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Trade receivables (Note a) g 5 WA (Kita) 94,637 104,996
Less: Impairment on trade receivables & : & 5 & W Z BRI (E (6,824) (2,230)
87,813 102,766
Loan receivables (Note b) R E K (Hith) - 24,000
Bond receivable (Note c) W E S (Hitc) 4,000 4,000
Prepayments, deposits and other TERFIE - Ze REM
receivables (Note d) U FRIA (At d) 28,487 38,736
120,300 169,502
Less: Prepayments-non-current (Note d) &, : 3£ EhFa - ZIE (K5t d) - (4,500)
Amounts shown as current assets HIVE M EN & EE IR 120,300 165,002
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

27. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note a: The Group does not grant credit terms to its customers (2022:

5 (%)

27. NFRIE  EZREMEBUYR

Wita AEELEANETFPETEEH (2022

Nil).The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the senior
management and directors.

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date,
and net of allowance, is as follows:

FoE) AREBANERFBRBENE
REENEKFTE -REEERES
E e R B A R

ERNEEA BRANGHEEE B LK
HHERE S AT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
1 to 30 days 1230H 38,460 39,913
31 to 60 days 31Z260H 23,763 33,886
61 to 90 days 61Z290H 8,689 9,432
Over 90 days HBiB90 H 16,901 19,535
87,813 102,766

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables: B S REBGIER BB B YR -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
At beginning of the reporting period Rk E ) 2,230 -
Allowance for the year FAESE 4,747 2,197
Exchange difference &N =58 (153) 33
6,824 2,230

As at 31 March 2023, trade receivables of approximately
HK$87,813,000 (2022: HK$102,766,000) were past due but not
impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of customers that have good settlement records with the Group.
Based on past experience, the Directors are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202343531 H1-F/E

27. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note a:

Note b:

(continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit

27. NFRIE  EZREMEBUYR
75 (%)

Hiita -

(%)

AEERBEEEVHREEANEIRZ
B2 TERAEE S REGIAE R 2
B RREITRAREEER - B

losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit EEHEEEE  ESRKFIECRIE
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit HAGERBRBFELRGHAHEHE -8
losses also incorporate forward looking information. BEEBETRSIEEER-
Pass due within ~ Over 30 days  Over 60 days  Over 90 days
30 days past due past due past due Total
BH30RA HHEAIX AHBBEOX BHBBIOX &5t
At 31 March 2023 R202353A31H
Expected loss rate FEHEBL X 0% 0% 0% 29%
Receivables amount (HK$'000) s RIE (FAT) 38,460 23,763 8,689 23,725 94,637
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EEEE (TET) - - - 6,824 6,824
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3A31H
Expected loss rate TEEIEE L & 0% 0% 0% 10%
Receivables amount (HK$'000) JEW TR IE (T8 T) 39,913 33,886 9,432 21,765 104,996
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BiERE(TET) - - - 2,230 2230
Included in trade receivables were amounts of approximately B 5 EWHIEBRED BIR2023F3 A
HK$1,993,000 and HK$1,947,000 due from related parties as at 31 H K%2022F3 A31 HEWREEH ~
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 respectively. FXIE 491,993,000 % 7T K 1,947,000 7%
5o
The money lenders license was granted on 15 June 2017 and Biath - iEABR2017F6 156 B H &

renewed annually. The Group’s latest money lenders license is
valid until 16 June 2023. The Group is in the process of renewing
the money lender license. As at 31 March 2023, the Group has no
loan receivable (2022: Loans of HK$24,000,000 were granted to a
director).

The loan receivable of HK$24 million as at 31 March 2022 was
granted to Mr. Ho Ying Choi (“Mr. Ho"), an executive director
of the Company, for a period of one year commencing from the
date of drawdown on 21 April 2021. The loan was secured by two
residential units and a private car parking space in Hong Kong and
interest bearing at 10% per annum. Mr. Ho has settled HK$3 million
in April 2022.

On 3 May 2022, the Group has conditionally agreed to provide a
loan (the “Loan”) in the principal amount of not more than HK$21
million to Mr. Ho for a period of one year commencing from the
drawdown date of the Loan at the interest rate of 10% per annum.

The Loan was approved at the extraordinary general meeting (the
“EGM”) of the Company held on 9 June 2022 and the HK$21
million loan has been drawn by Mr. Ho.

BEEE -AKEZEHNNEALRRE
RMEAZE 2023456 416 H 1 - ANEE E
EEEREARR - KR 2023F3 A31
A AEEVERKRER(2022F : &
24,000,000 TR T —RESE) -

R2022%43A31H  KRBHITES
A EET A ([ A ]) BIREWER
24008 7T - BIRELZ B20214F 4 A
21 BEET BHI—F - ZEFRABBNW
EFEE Tk —EAFRLARBELMERR X
BEFME10% 5T B o a5 £ B K 2022
F4PBEMN30EETT -

20225 A3H - AEEC A EMAR
BRI ERHATTE AT EIE2100
Rz ER(ER]) - B EFIRRMA
HRAH—F  FREF10% -

BHREN202246 A9 HRTH AR T
BERFHIARE (BRFNAE]) L1t
o RAATEEBRIER2,1008E T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

27. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 27. AFIE - EF R HMEWRR
RECEIVABLES (continued) 15 (&)
Note b: (continued) Biatb - (48)
Mr. Ho has settled the principal and accrued interest of IEEER2022F6 A13HEEAS
approximately HK$21 million on 13 June 2022. Details of this LEFFIEL 210088t - BEZX
transaction are disclosed in the Compan’s announcements dated 3 SZHBEERAAR B A20224F
May 2022, 23 May 2022 and 9 June 2022. 5H38 +2022F5H23H K2022F 6
RoBZ -
For loan receivables, management has taken into accounts the MEKRERMNS - EEECEEBRA
credit assessment on the borrowers and the pledged properties and RIEHRYENEETE URAEE
considered the expected credit loss rate is nil. EBEBLEEAT -
Note c: The bond represented a one-year 12% coupon bond. It is Metc ZEHFABFFEI2H —FHEERE
unsecured and is redeemable in February 2024. % BEEEIL 2024 F2 AR EL o
Note d: Details of the prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as Biitd - TERRIE « R REMBERGIEFIEN
follows: T
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Prepayments FEAF A 2,792 10,682
Deposits e 9,346 8,688
Other receivables (note i) o th pE U RS (K72t 0) 16,349 19,366
28,487 38,736
Less: Prepayments-non-current (note ii) B FER B TR FRIB (Mt i) - (4,500)
Amounts shown as current assets FIVER BN E EEFRIE 28,487 34,236
Notes: Biat -

(i) Other receivables mainly included amounts paid on behalf of
incorporated owners of buildings for property management
and government subsidies receivables.

(i) Prepayments of approximately HK$4,500,000 as at 31
March 2022 classified as non-current assets represented
consideration prepaid for acquisition of 33% equity interests
in an associate. The acquisition was completed on 28 April
2022.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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28.

29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e KRR
For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 28. CEHBITER
2023 2022
2023 5 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THTT
Pledged bank deposits BHEFIRITER - 574

The Group’s pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group as set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. The pledged bank deposits are denominated in
HK$ and are made for varying periods of between one day
and one year depending on the immediate cash requirement
of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term
time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default. The annual interest rate is 0.01% to 0.25% as at
31 March 2022.

REE 2 ERRIRITFRIERE M
BERMERMHFCERTRITZF
R MERAREEERIRITREMEM -
EHERRITFHRAETTEHE - BIRH
—BE—F1F GIFAKEZHE
REeHBRKME - =B BEHERFER
MR B - |RITEBR L E AR EFRF
EEMHYEERLCE  FERIFZ
$R1T - 202253 A 31 AHFHNER
0.01% £0.25% -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERBEEEY
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAETT
Cash on hand FHERE 452 331
Bank balances IRTTHE 78,687 67,365
79,139 67,696

The cash and bank balances are denominated in HK$ and
RMB.

As at 31 March 2023, the bank and cash balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amount to HK$8,950,000
(2022: HK$13,785,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulation.

Be RRITEMRABETRARKE -

MR2023F3 A31H AEBUARE
FHEMIRTT MR 54 A 8,950,000 7
7T (2022 4F : 13,785,000 7T) - AR
B R R INEE 2o BISNE R VA R K
R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. ESRHMEMNRKE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FETT

Trade payables =0 ANE/QL| 2,396 2,521

Building management deposits received 2 WiEFEIRIZ S 4,594 6,192

Accruals and other payables FERTIRE A M H b e B 56,984 62,414

63,974 71,127

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice B S ENFIBIRERHBHNRER DT
date, is as follows: R

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET

1 to 30 days 1£30H 1,219 1,298

31 to 60 days 31%60H 1,113 1,223

61 to 90 days 61E290H - -

Over 90 days HBiB90H 64 -

2,396 2,521

Details of the accruals and other payables are as follows: JEFTIRE R R HM BN FIEFIBNT

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Accrued staff cost and staff benefits JEETIRE TA KM B T&F 29,694 32,562

Accrued expenses FEETIER XX 6,184 4,379

Other payables (note) H b JE S R IB (A7 2E) 21,106 25,473

56,984 62,414

Note: Included in other payable were amount of approximately HK$50,000 Wiat - EAb N FIBBRIER 202363 A31H

and approximately HK$54,000 and due to related parties as at 31 K 202243 A 31 B #YFE{ BEEE 75 518

March 2023 and 31 March 2022 respectively. 53 Bl 450,000 7% 7T K2 49 54,000 A5 7T ©

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. ENEE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: W AERETE B 125 -
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contract liabilities EHaE 2,418 6,227
Contract receivables (included in trade JEW A L E (Gt AE S
receivables) e FRIE) 87,813 102,766
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations RGEEDBERFRERENZE
unsatisfied at end of the year and expected to be recognised WE - WIBFHER A T B ER A
as revenue in: Wz
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
— year ended 31 March 2023 —HE2023F3A31BILFE - 5,314
— year ended 31 March 2024 —HE2024F3A31BIEFE 2,395 913
—year ended 31 March 2025 —HZE 20253 A31BILFE 23 -
2,418 6,227
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: BHBERFANEREE :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
Increased due to operations in the year 4 /A [ ¥ 75 4258 52 A0 6,650 15,274
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue EEA X BEE W (9,983) (12,410)
Exchange realignment bE W A (476) 174
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to BHEEEAEBREBIEFNKE (3
transfer products or services to a customer for which ERERESE) MAEEELIR
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of BYTEPZEME-

consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

32. BANK AND OTHER LOAN

32. RITRHEMBER

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FETT

Bank loans, secured RITER - B - 9,000
Bank overdrafts, secured IRITHEST - B 5,925 -
Other loans (note) HM SR (M) 2,137 -
8,062 9,000

Note: Other loans were unsecured, interest-free and repayable in December

Wia - BB EEA - 8 KA 2024 F

2024, 12 A58 -
The borrowings are repayable as follows: JEEZEEEWT :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
On demand or within one year BREXRFIN—FNA 8,062 9,000
Less: Amount due for settlement within 35 : 7 121 B A 2 8 % 1+ 89
12 months (shown under FIE G AREERE)
current liabilities) (5,925) (9,000)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 B 18 B HA 2 B9 008
12 months 2,137 -
The interest rates per annum at 31 March were as follows: MIA3IAMERNRMT -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
Bank loans, secured IRITER - B N/A 138 F3 3.51%
Bank overdrafts, secured R{TES - B 7.00% N/A 713 B
Other loans HAth & 5% 0.00% N/A 7T~ A

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

32. BANK AND OTHER LOAN (continued)

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, borrowings of the Group
were denominated as follow:

32. RITREMER (&)

R20234F 202243 A31 R - K&
BEERATERIIE

2023 2022

2023 2022 %

HK$’000 HK$'000

FiExT T

HK$ BT 5,925 9,000
RMB AR 2,137 -
8,062 9,000

The Group’s banking facilities were secured by:

(a) Pledge of deposits placed for life insurance (note 24);

(b) Pledge of the Group’s fixed bank deposits (note 28);

(c) Joint and several unlimited personal guarantees by a
director of the Company and a director of a subsidiary
(note 42);

(d) Various counter indemnities for issuance of
performance bonds;

(e) Pledge of investment properties (note 19).

As at 31 March 2023, banking facilities granted to the Group
are approximately HK$48.8 million (2022: approximately
HK$39.0 million).

As at 31 March 2023, approximately HK$17.3 million (2022:
HK$11.0 million) of the banking facilities have been utilised
by the Group.

AEERRITRUE B NSRRI

(a) EHEMASRBREANZS (K
¥24)

(b) EHAEBERTHIETER B
¥ 28) ;

(c) ARA—REBEZLHBAT—F
B E R H R & (8 R £ PR EE E A &
R (MsE42)

(d) MBEHEORBSIELZERT
EIRFE

(e) HEIMLEWE (FFFE19) °

MN2023F3A31H BFAREERIR
TRUE #4,880 8 4 7T (20224 : 49
3,900& & 7T) °

M2023F3A31H  #491,730E % 7T
(20224 : 1,1008 8 7T) MIRITEE
BEAEEFHA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

33. LEASE LIABILITIES

33. HEEE

Minimum lease payments
REHANTR

As at As at
31 March 31 March
2023 2022
2023 F A 2022 F
3A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000

Present value of
minimum lease payments

RERAOARRE
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2023 2022

R2023 E o022 &
3A31H 3A318
HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FAET FTER FAET
Within one year —&ER 4,491 3,526 4,084 3,094
In the second to fifth years, HE_FEZFRF
inclusive (BREEEMT) 6,250 7,349 6,010 7,017
10,741 10,875 10,094 10,111
Less: Future finance charge  J& : KRR E X (647) (765)
Present value of lease HERERE
obligations 10,094 10,110
Less: Amount due for w0 1218 A R EIE
settlement within S HFRIA
12 months GlarEaRE)
(shown under
current liabilities) (4,084) (3,094)
Amount due for settlement 1218 B 18 2| B (S &Y
after 12 months PIB 6,010 7017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. A
Number of
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each shares HK$’000
SREEI B THZER BRHOEE FET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEOCOLB LA E B
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and R2021%F4 418 -
31 March 2023 20223 A31 B &
202343 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SRREEO0.0L B TR EE
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 8 1H 1,026,351,515 10,264
Issuance of award shares (Note) BITRBIR D (A32) 102,635,150 1,026
At 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 7202243 A31 B &
20233 A31H 1,128,986,665 11,290
Note: Biat -

On 11 January 2022, the board approved the grant of award of a total of
102,635,150 awarded shares under the Share Award Plan. Details of such
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements and the
Company’s announcements on 6 August 2021 and 11 January 2022.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back
shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is
calculated as total debts less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital, share premium,
retained profits and other reserves).

MR2022%1 A 118  EFHUERIER G, 22E
FTEIE T4 4 102,635,150 I S2EIRS () H 228 -
FHRFBERERAM B REMFIBDRARA]
AEIA2021 F8 A6 H K& 20221 A11HHMA
ﬁfﬁ °

FEBERERNEBER/REREEFELE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

35. SHARE AWARD SCHEME 35. R0 Bt &l

On 6 August 2021, the Directors approved the adoption of a
share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”).

Purposes of the Share Award Plan

The purpose of the Share Award Plan are to recognise and
reward the contribution of Eligible Participants (as defined
below) to the growth and development of the Group, to give
incentives to Eligible Participants in order to retain them for
the continual operation and development of the Group and
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

Administration

The Share Award Plan shall be subject to the administration
of the board of directors of the Company and the trustee in
accordance with the terms of the Share Award Plan and the
terms of the trust deed. The trustee shall hold the trust fund
in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

Eligibility

Under the rules constituting the Share Award Plan, the
following classes of participants (excluding the excluded
participants) (the “Eligible Participants”) are eligible for
participation in the Share Award Plan:

(@) any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director, and including any person who has entered
into an employment contract with the Group, provided
that the commencement date of his tenure under the
employment contract shall fall on a date before the
Vesting Date and such employment contract shall
remain valid and subsisting up to and including the
vesting date, and provided that such person shall not
be regarded as Eligible Employee if he dies before
the commencement date of this tenure under the
employment contract) of the Company, any subsidiary
or any any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”);

(b) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any
Subsidiary or any Invested Entity;

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

35. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Eligibility (continued)

(c)

(d)

(g)

(h)

any supplier or vendors of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group, and, for
the purposes of the Plan, the Award may be made to
any company wholly-owned by one or more of the above
participants.

Term

Subject to early termination by the Board, the Share Award
Plan shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (10) years
commencing from the adoption date. The total maximum
number of Shares which may be awarded under the Plan
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as
at the adoption date or the date of approval of any refreshed
limit, if any.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

35. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Grant of Award Shares

On 11 January 2022, the board approved the grant of award
of a total of 102,635,150 awarded shares to 10 selected
participants under the Share Award Plan.

Details of Awarded Shares granted by the Company pursuant
to the Share Award Plan during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

35. TR BETE ()

BTRBRH

R2022F 1A 118  EEeiERE
DB T2 A 0B IRFLREERT
£ 4£102,635,150 22BN AR 1D 2 228 -

BZE 20234 202243 A31 B IEFF
ERRNNSL:S i e R e i
BRRmE BT -

At 1 April At 31 March

Grant date Fair value per share (HK$) ~ Vesting date 2022 Granted Vested Forfeited 2023

R2E R2023%

RF¥EH SRAAME (BT BEAH 4R1R ERT E5E Rl 3A3A

11 January 2022 0112 11 January 2023 102,635,150 - 102,635,150 - -
ANEF1A11H ARBE1A11A

At 1 April At 31 March

Grant date Fair value per share (HK$) ~ Vesting date 2021 Granted Vested Forfeited 2022

RA1E RANNE

S aial BRARE(ET) FERH 4A18 BERT E5E E&k  3A31A

11 January 2022 0112 11 January 2023 - 102,635,150 - - 102,635,150
XNE1A11H ABE1A11A

The fair value of the Awarded Shares was calculated
based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the
respective grant date.

The fair value of the Awarded Shares granted was
approximately HK$11,495,000 and the Group recognised
share-based payments expenses of approximately
HK$8,976,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$2,519,000). All awarded shares were vested by the
Selected Participants during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Lapse of Awards and returned shares

In the event that any Selected Participant who is an eligible
employee ceases to be an eligible employee, the Award shall
automatically lapse forthwith and all the Awards Shares and
other distributions attributable thereto shall not vest on the
relevant vesting date but shall become returned shares for
the purposes of the Plan.
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B B AR A5 PR 2 7

BRERONAREBESIRERARTRE
@ T B He Ry r e EF & -

B E2023F3H3IBILFE 2%
T EBN D B R 1B 711,495,000
BT - BARS BRER AR AT EYR
18 [ 32 498,976,000 7% 7T (2022 4F :
2,519,000 7T) * & ZE 20234 3 A 31
BIEFE BF2RECHEBE2HE
Bty o

RBIBRBERRS

HIEFBAERREEZEELEES
BRAERESR RESANKEEX
MNP SRR A A Ko L e B A 0 R
TEREHEEBEMER - RHat
2SR REEERD -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. R H&RERM

OF CASH FLOWS

Change in liabilities arising from financing activities REMETE2EERH
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TREINAEEFAREBEEB 2
arising from financing activities during the year: BES
Bank and Total
other loans liabilities from
excluding Lease financing
bank overdrafts liahilities activities
RITR
Hih &N
(rE#E AEEE
RITEX) HEAE BEHHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHTT
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A 1H 5,354 13,322 18,676
Changes in cash flows REnEH 3,646 (4,474) (828)
Non-cash changes FEEEH
— addition —NE - 1,263 1,263
At 31 March 2022 R20229F3 A31H 9,000 10,111 19,111
Changes in cash flows Rensd (6,863) (3,797) (10,660)
Non-cash changes R H
— addition —NE - 3,825 3,825
— termination —#1E - (45) (45)
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3 H31H 2,137 10,094 12,231
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

37. RESERVES

(@) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

37. #E

(a =£H

AEEFBNBEREE
B85 R H M 2 WS & A RER

EREEHRANZT -

(b) Company (b) AT
The amounts of the Company’s reserves and the KANBREZE2023F3 A31H
movements therein for the year ended 31 March 2023 LtFENREBEREZEHN
are as follows: N
Share-hased
Share  Contributed payment Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
ARG
RORE HARS WMRERE HtRE RHEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TAL TEL TAL TEL
At T April 2021 R2021F4R1H 179,975 4,750 - N (33,464) 151,261
Award shares granted under ~ RIEIR 1) E Bt 2l
share award plan gL e B RH - - 2,519 (1,026) - 1,493
Total comprehensive loss FREEBREE
for the year - - - - (9,295) (9,295)
At 31 March 2022 and Ro02%3A31A R
1 April 2022 NRELRLA 179,975 4,750 2519 (1,026)  (42759) 143,459
Award shares granted under ~ RIEIR1H EE):HEl
share award plan B0 RERH - - 8,976 - - 8,976
Award shares vested ERENRERR 10,469 - (11,495) 1,026 - -
Total comprehensive loss FRZAFELESR
for the year - - - - (21,982) (21,982)
At 31 March 2023 M2023F3A31R 190,444 4,750 - - (64,741) 130,453

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)  Share premium account

(c) FRENMHEERRE

(i)

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

37. RESERVES (continued)

()
(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregated
amounts of issued capital of KSG, KSU, K-King
and Q&V as at 31 March 2013, the date on which
the aggregated issued capital was reallocated to
merger reserve after the Group’s reorganisation for
the purpose of the listing of the Company’s shares
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the unvested Award Shares granted
to Eligible Participants recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-
settled share-based payments in note 3(t)(v) to
the financial statements.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as
a result of the Group reorganisation implemented
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and
represented the excess of the then consolidated
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over the
nominal value of the share capital of the Company
issued in exchange therefore.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 3(d) to the consolidated financial statements.

37. f## (&)

(c)
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

RENEERRE (8)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

38. DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES 38. HERMHE A RS KX

WITHOUT LOSS OF CONTROL

On 20 December 2022, KSG, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, Shi Shi Property Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Mr. Ho Ying
Choi (“Mr. Ho"), the executive Director, entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
pursuant to which Mr. Ho has agreed to subscribe for and
KSG has agreed to allot and issue three shares of KSG (the
“Subscription Shares”) at a consideration of HK$2,658,000.
Completion of the subscription of the Subscription Shares
under the Subscription Agreement has taken place
simultaneously upon signing of the Subscription Agreement
and as a result, KSG is owned by SSPL as to 97% and Mr. Ho
as to 3% respectively.

The effect on the equity attributable to the shareholders
during the reporting period is summarised as follows:

EE G

MR20224 12 A20 8 » KSG (ARRQ A
ME2EWNBAR)  BHEDEAR
RNAl(RRARINEEMBRAR) k#
TEEME A (A E]) FTUR
Bz ((REWZ]) @ Bilt > kL
ERERENKSGE R ER % M 31T
=R KSGRR D ([RERBL - REA
2,658,000/8 7T * IRIERE R RER
BEROENEBREHRERFTK
KA - KSG %2 Bl i SSPL M fa] 4t A HE
B97% 2 3% IS HE ©

HREHERREEERNFZERL
s

HK$'000

FHTT

Consideration received from NCI B FEFE AR i 2 WA 2 R (B 2,658

Recognition of NCI TR I IR = 4,451
Shortfall of consideration received BERBREEN ERERENES

recognised within equity (1,793)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@

(b)

Performance bond and incorporated owners’ fund

Performance bond has been issued by a bank and an
insurance company as the Group maintains certain
incorporated owners’ funds in the form of client
accounts which were held on trust for and on behalf
of the incorporated owners. These client accounts are
not recognised as assets and associated liabilities in
the financial statements of the Group. At the end of
reporting period, the directors of the Company do not
consider it probable that a claim on the performance
bonds will be made against the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, the amount of outstanding
performance bond was approximately HK$27.4 million
(2022: HK$16.4 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of the
bank balances in the client accounts not dealt with
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
is approximately HK$59.1 million (2022: HK$50.8
million).

Legal cases

In carrying out the ordinary course of business,
the Group is subject to the risk of being named as
defendant in legal actions, claims and disputes in
connection with its business activities. The nature of the
legal proceedings initiated against the Group generally
include (i) claims for employees’ compensation by
the Group’s employees; (ii) claims for personal injury
caused by the negligence of the Group and owners’
corporations of the properties by passersby, residents
or other users of the respective properties; (iii) claims
for property damage or economic loss caused by the
negligence of the Group and owners’ corporations of the
properties by residents or other users of the respective
properties; and (iv) claims for property damage caused
by the negligence of individual flat owners by other
residents or users of the respective properties. The
Group maintains insurance cover and, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, based on current
evidence, any such existing claims have no material
financial impact to the Group as at 31 March 2023.

39. FREE

(@

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. EARELE
The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting AREBRFEHARNERALEZEDNT -
period are as follows:
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MERE
— Contracted but not provided for —BEENERERE - 5,438
41. LEASE COMMITMENTS 41. Y EE
Commitments under operating leases REHENE T AL
As lessor EARHFA
The Group leases out certain of its investment property. AEEHHEETREYZE - KNBRE
At the end of reporting period, the future minimum lease AR - P RTBEHAE 4078 T B9 PR IR 2K
payments under non-cancellable leases are receivables as SEBAONHAT -
follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FHTT
Within one year —F R 1,269 1,125
In the second to fifth years, inclusive =~ £ -FEZFRF (BIEEEMFE) 1,097 360
2,366 1,485
Operating lease income represent rentals receivables by the KEMOBRAEREEREIREYE
Group for its investment property. Leases are negotiated for EWHES - HEENDBEME - M
terms of 2 years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms HEMRNHEERAETE  WABEEKIA
and do not include contingent rentals. ME o
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(220239F 3431 H 1 F/&

Related party transactions

In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with its related parties during the year:

(@

42 BB IR S

BBE XS

BRéR A M mREM I T E
BT R 5 MRS AERER
FREEBBTETATRS

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
(i) Interest income from loan to () BY—RES (AEFEE)
a director, Mr. Ho Ying Choi BERZ M EBWA 138 2,262
(i) Other receivable-amount due from (i) £ fth j& Ug Zx 18
a director, Mr. Huang Liming —ER—%ES
(BERRAKE) 2B 32 -
(iii) Other payable-amount due to (iii) E b f& < 5038
a director, Mr. Huang Liming —ERN—%ES
(HZRRFLAE) 2708 961 -
(iv)Emoluments paid to directors (VENEZEEME 7,094 5,816
At 31 March 2023 and 2022, Mr. Ho Ying Choi, a R 20234 {20223 8318 -
director of the Company and Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, AN R E B 0] JE BA 5T A T B IR
a director of KSU, had provided joint and several AESEMEFELEERASEEET
unlimited personal guarantees in favour of banking ETHBRRIERETEERE
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within the Group H A R R B 4 BR =8 & A R (B
(Note 32). F£32) -
Key management personnel remuneration b) TEEEEABSEMH

Members of key management personnel during the
year comprised only of the directors of the company
whose remuneration is set out in note 13.

RFEANTEEREAESKEER
RARARZES  EHMENH
13-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 2202393531 HIFF/E

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

44,

43. KRR BRI &R

THE COMPANY
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B KRR 8 11
Investments in subsidiaries LE M B R A 13,144 13,144
Loan to a subsidiary ERT—HKEB AR 15,000 15,000
28,152 28,155
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other ERIE - me Rk
receivables H ih JE R IB 1,693 356
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W BT B~ B 3018 108,917 142,326
Amount due from a director JEU — B EE A 33 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBESEEY 4,393 6,503
115,036 149,185
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accruals and other payables FEETIR B A & H At JE 1~ 50IE 1,095 1,095
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN NGRS 350 21,496
1,445 22,591
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFHE 113,591 126,594
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #ZEERAEB ARG 141,743 154,749
NET ASSETS EEFRE 141,743 154,749
EQUITY R
Share capital A& AR 11,290 11,290
Reserves 1 130,453 143,459
TOTAL EQUITY A 141,743 154,749

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June

2023.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFMBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of T3 ARNEBRBETRERKRFEE 2 £4E
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from UREERBEHRE  HHEEECTES
the published audited financial statements and reclassified as (& EZIEHRER W BB E W INAEF o

appropriate, is set out below. 5 o
RESULTS E 4
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023F 2022 20216 2020 2019F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TET TAT TAT

Revenue T 547,375 524,951 511,116 487,39 425,661
Cost of services PR A (452,864) (424 665) (402,478) (376,495) (322,013)
Gross profit EX 94,511 100,286 108,638 110,900 103,648
Interest revenue FlE Mz 1,429 458 1,006 568 3,400
Other income and expenses, net  E 4t A K 55 % 58 10,858 3,280 20,519 (1,100) 26,729
Share of (loss)/profit of associates &1 B & /A &
(&518) /&7 (5,094) (8,133) (5,130) (1,320) 5,249

Administrative expenses 118 Ffﬂ EZ (79,243) (70,377) (62,287) (54,358) (52,198)
Other operating expenses f 2 B B Y (41,201) (32,437) (22,377) (19,040 (21,030)
Impairment of investments in ‘éﬁ%"& AR & A

associates RIE (1,721) (4,428) (16,500) - -
Impairment of property, plantand 1%  BE &

equipment RERE (814) (7,049) - - -
Impairment of goodwill BERE - (2,132) - - -
Impairment of trade receivables & 5 W FZE A& (4,747) (2,197) - - -
Listing expenses il b3 - (941) (2,893) (11,367) -
Finance costs BEAKAK (595) (664) (581) (1,018) (565)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBiA (B5R) 8 (26,617) (24,334) 20,395 23,265 65,233
Income tax expense b (2,147) (1,615) (4,541) (9,065) (7,853)
Net (loss)/profit for the year ER(FR)/BRFE (28,764) (25,949) 15,854 14,200 57,380
Other comprehensive (expense)) H2H (Bi%) /

income, net of tax g o MERHIE
Fxchange differences on translation #& /89N ERFE L 2

of foreign operations = (5,379) 2,848 5,183 (4,505) 637
Gain on property revaluation MEERL W5 2,426 - - - -
Gain/(loss) on reclassification of 7 & $5 — R HT B2 A1 65

translation reserve to profitto R B FHEEH B

loss upon deregistration of a ZERzWE/

subsidiary (&#8) - - A3) - -
Gain/(loss) on equity investment Tﬁﬁ/uﬁuﬂ\ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ

at fair value through other HSZ 5 RIERE 2

comprehensive income ki (E18) - - - - 10
Other comprehensive (expense)) FREM2E (%),

income for the year, netoftax W5 @ HBRTHIE (2,953) 2,848 5,180 (4,505) 647
Total comprehensive (expenses) FR2H (%),

income for the year Wi (31,7117) (23,101) 21,034 9,695 58,027

Annual Report 2022/23
2022/23F &



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMBHE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 F 2022 20214 20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET AT TET
Total assets EERE 365,994 397,785 422 644 393,590 378,716
Total liabilities BERS (87,688) (99,396) (103,673) (94,768) (89,589)
Net assets BERE 278,306 298,389 318,971 298,822 289,127

Equity attributable to owners NNGE TSN T

of the Company B 273,817 298,389 318,971 297,961 288,226
Non-controlling interests FERER 4,489 - - 861 901
278,306 298,389 318,971 298,822 289,127

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR A5 PR 2 7
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